

Fakulta zemědělskáJihočeská univerzitaa technologickáv Českých BudějovicíchFaculty of AgricultureUniversity of South Bohemiaand Technologyin České Budějovice

# UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH BOHEMIA IN ČESKÉ BUDĚJOVICE FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

Department of Genetics and Biotechnology

# **Doctoral Thesis**

Enhanced production of daunomycin in Streptomyces coeruleorubidus

Author:

Supervisor:

Baveesh Pudhuvai, Msc. prof. Ing. Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D.

> České Budějovice 2024

# Declaration

I declare that I am the author of the thesis entitled "Enhanced production of daunomycin in *Streptomyces coeruleorubidus*" and that I used only sources and literature displayed in the list of references in its preparation.

In České Budějovice on .....

#### Acknowledgement:

I sincerely acknowledge Doc. Ing. Vladimir Matha, Prof. Vladislav Čurn, Karel Benes, Dr. Andrea Bohata (Vice-Dean, FZT), and Dr. Petr Bartos (Dean, FZT) for their immense support during the PhD work duration. All thanks to the almighty for helping to carry out this work successfully. This thesis were supported by Grant Agency of University of South Bohemia, project GAJU 080/2022/Z and project OncoRa s.r.o.

## Abstract

Daunorubicin (DNR) is an anthracycline antibiotic originating from soil-dwelling actinobacteria extensively used to treat malignant tumors. Over the decades, extensive attempts were made to enhance the production of anthracyclines by introducing genetic modifications and mutations in combination with media optimisation, but the target production levels remain comparatively low. Developing an appropriate culture medium to maximise the yield of DNR and preventing auto-toxicity for the producing organism remains a challenge. Our prospective review sheds light on a method involving perturbation that enhances the precursors to regulate PKS II biosynthesis, enhancing cells' capacity to increase secondary metabolite production. The suggested method also entails the preparation of culture media for the cultivation of Streptomyces sp. and enhanced yield of DNR and making it inactive with iron or its reduced forms following efflux from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by oleic acid or lipid micelle layers in the culture media, finally resulting in the generated inactive DNR and the DNR-iron-oil complex. This idea has the potential to protect the producer organism from autotoxicity and prevent the inhibition of metabolite production. By developing a specialized cultivation medium that integrates olive pomace oil and iron, this research successfully induces an autonomous resistance mechanism through biogenic nanoparticle formation (ADBN). The approach of substituting sugar with oil in culture media has a dual role where it promotes the Streptomyces growth by utilizing lipids as an energy source and encapsulating the generated DNR-iron complex in the medium. The amphiphilic properties of olive pomace oil not only serve as a carbon source but also facilitate the stabilization of nanoparticles, thereby enhancing the efficacy of the synthesis process due to its rich phenolic content, which promotes crucial redox reactions. The optimization of the medium composition through empirical methods resulted in a marked increase in daunomycin production, achieving yields between 5.5 and 6.0 g/L, which demonstrates a significant advancement relative to prior methodologies. This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibiotic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the production of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes. Such explorations may not only refine microbial production systems for daunomycin but also broaden the potential application of similar strategies for the synthesis of other therapeutically important compounds.

We anticipate that our work help researchers working with secondary metabolites production and decipher a methodology that would enhance DNR yield and facilitate the extraction of the resulting DNR by lowering costs in large-scale fermentation.

**Keywords**: Streptomyces, daunomycin, autotoxicity, enhanced production, iron-lipid interaction

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract4				
1. Introduction	8			
2. Literature Review	10			
2.1. Anthracyclines	10			
2.2. The Anthracyline Producers	11			
2.3. Daunorubicin/Daunomycin	12			
2.4. Biosynthesis of DNR in Streptomyces	13			
2.4.1. Biosynthetic Gene Clusters (BGCs)	13			
2.4.2. Gene regulation in DNR/DOX biosynthesis	15			
2.5. Mode of Action of DNR/DOX	16			
2.5.1. DNA intercalation	16			
2.5.2. Topoisomerase II (Topo II) poisoning	17			
2.5.3. Formation of DNA adducts	17			
2.6. Self-Resistance in non-target species/microbial factories				
2.6.1. Resistance genes				
2.6.2. Efflux pumps	19			
2.6.3. ABC efflux pumps	19			
2.6.4. Inactivation of drug by enzymatic reaction				
2.7. Interaction of DNR/DOX with iron	21			
2.8. Interaction of DNR/DOX with oil	21			
2.9. Culture Media for metabolites production in <i>Streptomyces</i> sp				
2.9.1. Carbon source	23			
2.9.2. Nitrogen source	24			
2.9.3. Phosphorus source	24			
2.9.4. Other elements	25			

	2.10.	Engineering culture media – in Prospect for improved production. 2	25
	2.10.1	. Perturbation of metabolite biosynthesis in Streptomyces sp	26
	2.10.2	. Media construction for three-way interaction (DOX/DNR-iron	n-
	oligol	ipid) 26	
3.	Ain	ns and Hypothesis	28
4.	Ma	terial and Methods2	29
	4.1.	Bacterial Strain	29
	4.2.	Triclosan-Induced Mutation	29
	4.3.	Olive Pomace Oil-Resistant Strain Development	29
	4.4.	Protoplast Formation	29
	4.5.	Optimization of the Production Medium	30
	4.6.	Effect of Carbon and Nitrogen Sources on Daunomycin Production 3	30
	4.7.	Effects of Iron on Daunomycin Production	31
	4.8.	Monitoring of daunomycin production	31
	4.9.	Changes in Media Color and Physical Parameters	31
	4.10.	Sediment friability	31
	4.11.	Measurement of pH, O <sub>2</sub> , and Eh During Fermentation	32
	4.12.	Methods for Observing Morphological Changes During Fermentation	n
		32	
	4.13.	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)	33
	4.14.	Extraction Procedures	34
	4.15.	HPLC Sample Preparation	34
	4.16.	Chromatography Conditions	34
5.	Res	sults and Discussion	36
6.	Ov	erview of the Obtained Results	16
7.	Co	nclusion	)8
8.	Ref	<b>Perences</b>	)0

## **1. Introduction**

Daunomycin, an anthracycline antibiotic originally isolated from the bacterium *Streptomyces peucetius*, plays a pivotal role in treating various cancers, particularly leukemia. Its therapeutic efficacy is primarily attributed to its ability to intercalate into DNA, disrupting essential replication and transcription processes in rapidly dividing cells. Additionally, daunomycin serves as a precursor for synthesising more advanced anthracyclines (Thomas 1990). However, its clinical utility is often compromised by inherent cytotoxic effects (Thirumaran et al. 2007), including toxicity to the microbial strains used for its production, posing significant challenges for industrial-scale synthesis (Srinivasan et al. 2010; Vasanthakumar et al. 2013).

A critical aspect governing daunomycin's biological activity is its interaction with iron, particularly through the Fenton reaction. This process illustrates how iron can catalyze the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from hydrogen peroxide, leading to oxidative stress and cellular damage (Taatjes et al. 1997). While iron is vital for numerous physiological functions, excessive concentrations can exacerbate oxidative effects. The therapeutic use of iron chelators to mitigate daunomycin toxicity (Kaiserová et al. 2007) underscores the need for a deeper understanding of the interplay between these two elements, as it significantly influences the compound's pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy in fermentation contexts.

While most research has traditionally focused on the toxicological effects of daunomycin in eukaryotic models, its implications for prokaryotic organisms remain only partially explored nowadays (Cai et al. 2023). Investigations have largely centered on the biosynthesis of daunomycin and the molecular mechanisms of resistance, particularly involving efflux pumps (Malla et al. 2010; Yuan et al. 2011).

This study focuses on the development of a cultivation medium specifically designed to induce auto-resistance through Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation (ADBN). Utilizing a fermentation medium enriched with olive pomace oil and iron, this research aims to explore the inherent affinity of daunomycin for both iron and oil. Our strategy leverages the combination of olive pomace oil and bacteria to facilitate the formation of iron nanoparticles (NPs) (Afonso et al. 2024).

Furthermore, it seeks to bridge the existing knowledge gap by investigating the effects of daunomycin on eukaryotic cells in conjunction with the underexplored data from prokaryotic organisms, especially those involved in the production of daunomycin. This dual approach aims to enhance our understanding of daunomycin's mechanisms of action and its potential applications in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic systems.

## 2. Literature Review

#### 2.1. Anthracyclines

Anthracyclines are chemical compounds derived from soil-dwelling gram-positive actinobacteria that have been used in antibiotics and as anticancer medication agents (Dinis et al. 2023). They are a class of chemotherapeutic drugs that have been widely utilized to treat leukaemia and cancer in adults and paediatrics since their discovery in *Streptomyces peucetius* in the 1960s (Weiss 1992; Shapiro and Recht 2001; Minotti et al. 2004; McGowan et al. 2017; Murabito et al. 2023).

Cancer refers to a group of diseases characterized by the uncontrolled proliferation and spread of abnormal cells, varying in sizes and types, responsible for nearly 10 million deaths globally in 2020 (Fischer 2020; Sung et al. 2021; Kaur et al. 2022). The most prevalent types of cancer include carcinomas, lymphomas, sarcoma, leukaemia and melanoma, which are incurred by tobacco use, chemical and pollutant exposure, infectious agents, viruses, radiations, ageing and inherited genetic abnormalities (Wu et al. 2018; Kaur et al. 2022). Despite the fact that chemotherapy is incapable of effectively eliminating all types of cancer in a short duration, it remains an extremely viable treatment option, particularly for cancers complicated by metastasis (Behranvand et al. 2022).

Chemotherapy drugs cause accelerated senescence in tumour cells via inducing apoptosis, DNA alkylation and damage, autophagy, activating MAPK (mitogenactivated proteins kinases), promoting antimetabolites, inhibiting topoisomerases, and other mechanisms that result in cell death or cell cycle arrest (Bagnyukova et al. 2010; Sui et al. 2013; Demaria et al. 2017; Xiao et al. 2017; Behranvand et al. 2022). The class of Anthracyclines and their derivatives, including doxorubicin, epirubicin, daunorubicin, and idarubicin, are the most potent anticancer drugs ever discovered, having the ability to alter mitochondrial dynamics by intercalating with DNA helix and cause cytotoxicity. Anthracyclines exert their cytotoxic effects primarily through their interaction with DNA. By intercalating into DNA strands, they inhibit proper DNA replication and transcription, inducing double-strand breaks and impairing DNA repair mechanisms. Additionally, anthracyclines generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) through redox cycling, further contributing to DNA damage and apoptosis (Dinis et al. 2023).

The anthracyclines are tetracyclic aromatic polyketides that are produced by the PKS II (polyketide synthase type II) pathway and are structurally composed of an anthraquinone (aglycone) moiety and an amino sugar (carbohydrate unit) at the C<sub>7</sub> or  $C_{10}$  or at both positions. The absence of sugar at  $C_{10}$  is substituted by a carbo-methoxyl group or a hydroxyl group through processes like glycolisation and hydroxylation (Fujiwara et al. 1985; Hortobágyi 1997; Dinis et al. 2023). The term "Anthracyclines" was introduced to denote the colour (red to yellow-red optical dyes) of the chemical derivatives 7,8,9,10-tetrahydro-5,12-naphtacenoquinones (Brockmann and Brockmann Jr. 1963; Metsä-Ketelä et al. 2008). In the 1970s, chemists were driven to create anthracycline derivatives with reduced toxicity because even small structural modifications might significantly affect the bioactivity of the anthracyclines (Hortobágyi 1997). The interest and progress in synthesis pathway engineering (synthetic and semi-synthetic via site-directed mutations, gene alterations) of anthracyclines and their analogues were carried out after the 1990s due to their exciting catalysing properties (Metsä-Ketelä et al. 2008).

#### 2.2. The Anthracyline Producers

The anthracycline compounds occurring in nature are the secondary metabolites produced by the Actinobacteria, especially in the genus Streptomyces (Ait et al. 2015). Streptomycetes are gram-positive bacteria, thriving in aquatic and terrestrial habitats and known for their capacity to synthesize a variety of secondary metabolites such as antibiotics, enzymes, and pigments (Fenical and Jensen 2006; Sarkar and Suthindhiran 2022). They possess a lifecycle similar to filamentous fungi, reproduce through sporulation, and exhibit siderophore activity (breakdown of macromolecules in the environment). The common metabolites produced by nearly all *Streptomyces* sp. are siderophore desferrioxamine (iron chelator), geosmin (earthy smell organic compound), streptothricin (antibiotic) and streptomycin (antibiotic) (Zhu et al. 2014; Martín-Sánchez et al. 2019). The organisms contain a multitude of biosynthetic gene clusters (BCGs) and transcription units in their genome, which are responsible for the production of secondary metabolites according to the cues in their natural habitat or environment (Zhu et al. 2014). Approximately 90% of the know antibiotics are obtained from the organism of the genus Streptomyces. To date, more than 500 naturally occurring anthracyclines have been isolated from *Streptomyces* sp., which are widely considered medically important (Elshahawi et al. 2015; Hulst et al. 2022).

*Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* is a potentially important streptomyces bacteria that employs the synthesis of antifungal, antibacterial, immunosuppressive, and antitumor compounds such as Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin (Kandula and Terli 2013; Bundale et al. 2015; Li and Zhang 2021). This proliferative ability for synthesizing such metabolites can be altered by influencing variables such as nitrogen and carbon sources, culturing conditions such as temperature, pH, and incubation period, which can play a critical role in the economic dynamics involved in secondary metabolite production. Despite the fact that the mutagenesis method is the earliest option, it remains one of the most effective methods for producing high-yield strains in experimental models. The use of physical and chemical mutations in the *Streptomyces* species has been reported to have the enhanced production of secondary metabolites, especially anthracyclines (Oki et al.; Blumauerova et al. 1978; Zhang et al. 2018).

#### 2.3. Daunorubicin/Daunomycin

Daunorubicin, also called Daunomycin, is an anthracycline antibiotic that was first discovered in 1964 from *Streptomyces peucetius and* is extensively employed in treating malignant tumours, ovarian cancer, breast cancer and AML (acute myeloid leukaemia) (Arcamone et al. 1964; Drevin et al. 2022; Bayles et al. 2023). Despite the demonstrated cardiotoxicity of daunomycin in Guinea pigs, rats, and humans (Ainger et al. 1976; Bossa et al. 1977; von Hoff et al. 1977), the cumulatively reduced dosages administered during chemotherapy allows the mitigation of this cardiovascular risks (Swain et al. 2003; Hegazy et al. 2023). It was approved in 1974 as an anti-cancer drug worldwide for commercial use.

The daunomycin (DNR) and doxorubicin (DOX) share tetracyclic alycone and daunosamine sugar moieties. The only difference between DNR and DOX is that the side chain of DOX terminates with primary alcohol and DNR with a methyl group (Minotti et al. 2004). However, the clinical use of DOX and DNR was hampered due to their increased concerns and deaths due to cardiotoxicity and the development of resistance in tumour cells (Minotti et al. 2004; van der Zanden et al. 2021). The quest to find a better alternative with reduced toxicity has led to thousands of analogues with many substitution reactions in the anthraquinone moiety (tetracyclic structure) (Minotti et al. 2004). Out of which currently, six semi-synthetic derivatives, including DOX, idarubicin, epirubicin, pirarubicin and valurubicin, are under clinical use.

#### 2.4. Biosynthesis of DNR in Streptomyces

The production of secondary metabolites occurs through two phases: trophophase (normal growth phase), followed by idiophase (capacity to produce metabolites), where, at times, both phases can be regulated, overlapped and changed with the alterations in media and growth conditions. The enhancement in the secondary metabolite production can be possible with the development of resistance in the cells as the produced compounds are autotoxic. But in the course of any selection event over the past decades, focusing on improved resistance did not impact or lead to enhanced production. This led to the works on biosynthetic gene cluster alterations and expression enhancement of activator genes, transcription factors and increased mutations in promotor genes (Ohnuki et al. 1985; Minotti et al. 2004).

### 2.4.1. Biosynthetic Gene Clusters (BGCs)

The importance and biosynthesis of Daunorubicin and its gene clusters have been characterized by two BGCs in different strains (Grimm et al. 1994; Dickens et al. 1995). The majority of BGCs share homologous genes encoding monofunctional enzymes for the assembly of aglycone units, and the BGC for DNR (daunorubicin) and DOX (doxorubicin) was sequenced from the *Streptomyces peuctius* ATCC 27952 (Parajuli et al. 2004). They identified a 40kb sequence encoding the BGC for DNR, DOX consisting of 37 ORFs (open-reading frames). The distinctive characteristics among the BCGs include a high abundance of glycosyl transferases, gene sets involved in deoxysugar production and a repertoire of tailoring genes for secondary metabolite. The DNR/DXR biosynthesis is completed in three steps: (A) Formation of Aglycone ( $\epsilon$ -rhodomycinone), (B) Formation of an active sugar moiety (thymidine diphosphate daunosamine), (C) Glycosylation of  $\epsilon$ -rhodomycinone and post polyketide modifications (decarboxylation, methylation and hydroxylation) (Grimm et al. 1994; Hutchinson 1997).

#### (A) Formation of Aglycone (ε-rhodomycinone)

The biosynthesis of DNR starts with the formation of aglycone  $\varepsilon$ -rhodomycinone, which is the important intermediate, synthesised by the PKS-II synthase by the genes *dpsA*, *dpsB*, *dpsC*, *dpsD*, *dpsE*, *dpsF*, *dpsG* and *dpsY*. The nine Malonyl-CoA units with a propionyl CoA starter unit undergo serial condensations to form a 21-carbon

decaketide, where the multiple reactions are facilitated through the polyketide synthase enzymes. The enzymes are produced by the genes dpsA (3-oxoacyl ACP synthase), dpsB & dpsC (ketosynthases), dpsD (acyltransferase) and dpsG (acyl carrier protein) to form a decaketide compound (Shrestha et al. 2019). The dpsE (ketoreductase) carries out the ketoreduction of the decaketide, followed by an aldol condensation and ring cyclization (3 steps) through catalyzing enzymes produced by dpsF, dpsY and forms a 12-deoxy alkanoic acid (Wohlert et al. 2001). The intermediate undergoes a dnrG (monooxygenase) mediated reaction, which adds a keto group to form alkalonic acid and is further transformed to aklaviketone by dnrC (alkanoic acid-S-adenosyl-1methionine methyl ester transferase) a homodimeric protein (Grimm et al. 1994; Madduri and Hutchinson 1995). The formed aklaviketone intermediate undergoes cyclization by dnrD (alkanoic acid methyl ester cyclase) to form a 7-oxo moiety, which is further reduced to a hydroxy group of aglycone  $\varepsilon$ -rhodomycinone by dnrH(aklaviketone reductase) and dnrF (hydroxylase) (Madduri and Hutchinson 1995).

# (B) Formation of an active sugar moiety (thymidine diphosphate daunosamine)

The biosynthesis of dTDP-L-Daunosamine is initiated from D-glucose-1-phosphate, which is carried out by the BGC, including seven genes *dnmL*, *dnmM*, *dnmU*, *dnmT*, *dnmJ* and *dnmV* (Shrestha et al. 2019). The *dnmL* (transferase) and *dnmM* (dehydratase) catalyse the reaction to generate the intermediate TKDG (thymidine diphosphate-4-6-deoxy-D-glucose). The epimerase produced by *dnmU* converts TKDG to TKLG (thymidine diphosphate-4-6-deoxy-L-glucose) through epimerization (Gallo et al. 1996). The *dnmT* (hydratase) and *dnmJ* (aminotransferase) facilitate the addition of a keto and an amino group at the C-3 position of the TKLG intermediate. The *dnmV* (ketoreductase) reduces the ketone to the hydroxyl group at the C-4 position to produce dTDP-L-Daunosamine (Otten et al. 1997).

#### (C) Tailoring reactions

The  $\varepsilon$ -rhodomycinone undergoes glycosylation with dTDP-L-Daunosamine in the presence of enzyme from *dnrS/dnrQ* to generate Rhodomycin D. The *dnrP* (esterase) converts Rhodomycin D to 13-deoxy-carminomycine, which undergoes an *O*-methylation by *dnrK* (methyltransferase) to generate 13-deoxy-daunorubicin (Furuya

and Richard Hutchinson 1998). The intermediate undergoes a C-13 oxidation by *DoxA* (cytochrome P450 enzyme) in two steps to produce 13-dihydrodaunorubicin and DNR (daunorubicin)(Dickens et al. 1997). Daunorubicin is hydroxylated later at the C-14 position through *DoxA* to form DOX (Doxorubicin) (Walczak et al. 1999; Shrestha et al. 2019).

Since their discovery, the DNR and DOX have been extensively employed for treating solid tumours but have faced significant drawdown due to their toxic properties. Anthracyclines enter cells through cation transport and passive diffusion, eventually leading to alterations in the proteasome and nucleosome (Mattioli et al. 2023).

#### 2.4.2. Gene regulation in DNR/DOX biosynthesis

The BGC responsible for the biosynthesis of polyketide and sugar moieties in DNR/DOX also includes the regulatory genes for the initiation, regulation and termination of the entire synthesis pathway. The production pathway is regulated by the genes including *dnrO*, *dnrN* and *dnrI*, the transcription factors, where *dnrO* holds a significant importance in initiating the pathway. The *dnrO* produces a DNA helix binding domain, which is a key transcriptional regulator that activates the *dnrN* transcriptional activator, which finally leads to the activation of *dnrI*. The *dnrI* encoding enzyme binds to several polyketide synthases and facilitates the activation of efflux regulatory genes and initiation of DNR biosynthesis. The BGC also includes a transcriptional repressor *drrD/dnrW*, which promotes the transcriptional control by coherent feed-forward loop, self-resistance and feedback regulation (Vasanthakumar et al. 2013; Shrestha et al. 2019). The *drrD/dnrW* regulates the master transcription factor *dnrI*, which is crucial for the DNR/DOX biosynthesis. Deleting *dauW* (ortholog of *drrD/dnrW* in *S. ceoruleorubidus*) has increased the production of DNR by 8 folds (Yuan et al. 2011).

The maintenance of the produced DNR requires regulation inside the producing organism as the compound exhibits toxicity by intercalating with cellular DNA and eventually leading to cell death. The regulation of the lethal concentrations of produced DNR inside the cell is conferred by the *drrAB* locus, which includes the drrA and drrB proteins necessary for the efflux of the finished product (Guilfoile and Hutchinson 1991; Vasanthakumar et al. 2013). The expression and function of drrA and drrB are interdependent on each other at an ATP-driven pump, where drrA is a

peripheral membrane protein acting as an energy-transducing unit inside the cell when bound to the ATP in a DOX-dependent manner and drrB is the internal protein with hydrophobicity and helps in the efflux of produced DNR/DOX (Kaur 1997; Kaur et al. 2005). A mutant strain without the *drrAB* has exhibited a decline in DNR production and resulted in cell death, and overexpression of *drrAB* has resulted in the overproduction of DNR and promoted self-resistance (Li et al. 2014). Thus, the selfresistance genes also have an indirect effect on the biosynthetic pathway in DNR/DOX production (Srinivasan et al. 2010). Another resistance gene is *drrC*, which functions in the presence of ATP and DNR by binding to the DNR intercalated DNA and propelling it outside of the cell. This self-resistance gene maintains cell viability and regulates the lethal concentrations of DNR in a dependent manner, which relies on *dnrN* and *dnrI* in the biosynthetic pathway (Furuya and Richard Hutchinson 1998).

The entire pathway and its regulation decide the fate of DNR/DOX quantity production in *Streptomyces* sp. Thus, over the past decades, researchers have considered engineering the genes involved in the biosynthesis of aglycone, sugar moiety, tailoring reactions, transcriptional factors, transcriptional repressor and self-resistance to improve DNR/DOX production at an industrial level for commercial uses in cancer medication. The present techniques of modifying genes to enhance the production of DNR/DOX are not effective due to the complex cellular enzymatic reactions involved. These approaches have yet to provide a clear understanding of the entire mechanism and also could not participate in significant improvement of the DOX production.

#### 2.5. Mode of Action of DNR/DOX

Since their discovery, the DNR and DOX have been extensively employed for treating solid tumours but have faced significant drawdown due to their toxic properties. Anthracyclines enter cells through cation transport and passive diffusion, eventually leading to alterations in the proteasome and nucleosome (Mattioli et al. 2023).

#### 2.5.1. DNA intercalation

Anthracyclines exhibit a strong affinity for DNA by inserting their aglycone moieties between the base pairs, causing the separation of the existing base pairs, and positioning their sugar components in the minor groove of the DNA (Comings and Drets 1976). DNR and DOX have a preferential ability to bind to DNA at GC base pairs of both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA by establishing hydrogen bonding between the hydroxyl group on the C-9 position at aglycone moiety and N2, N3 of guanine (Chaires et al. 1990; Nunn et al. 1991; Ashley and Poulton 2009). This inhibits cellular DNA transcription, replication, recombination and repair, which creates torsional stress. The torsional stress alters the structure (disassociation of H2A/H2B dimers from histone core) and dynamics of nucleosomes (Gupta et al. 2009; Martins-Teixeira and Carvalho 2020). The histone eviction caused by DOX/DNR (in H3 due to rich GC base pairs) majorly due to the sugar moiety binding to DNA critically causes chromatin damage, which leads to epigenomic aberrations and transcriptional alterations (Pang et al. 2015; Mattioli et al. 2023).

#### 2.5.2. Topoisomerase II (Topo II) poisoning

The Topoisomerase II (Topo II) induces double-stranded breaks (DSBs), releases torsional stress and re-ligates the DNA breaks, ensuring the proper DNA transcription, replication and repair (Nitiss 2009). Anthracyline interacts with the Topo II enzyme to form an anthracycline-topoisomerase-DNA quarternary complex. It induces irreversible DNA damage by preventing the regeneration of phosphodiester bonds between the DNA strands (Mattioli et al. 2023). DNR/DOX intercalates the Topo II DNA with their cyclohexane ring A in aglycone moiety and 4-methoxy group in sugar moiety. The changes in the functionality of Topo II to a DNA nuclease generate genomic instability, activation of DNA damage response and TP53 pathways, eventually leading to cell death (van der Zanden et al. 2021). In mammals, the Topo II enzyme is distinguished into isoforms Topo II $\alpha$  (generate replication forks during mitosis in actively diving cells) and Topo II $\beta$  (expressed in most cell types devoid proliferation status), where the DOX interacts with Topo II $\beta$  in cardiomyocytes and lead to cardiotoxicity (Lyu et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2012).

#### 2.5.3. Formation of DNA adducts

Anthracyclines form DNA adducts between the two strands through covalent and hydrogen bonds with aglycone and sugar moieties, respectively. The DOX-DNA covalent bond in the cancerous cell is facilitated by the cellular formaldehyde, produced due to free radicle reactions with polyamines and lipids is responsible for the block in transcription, DSBs and replication (Kato et al. 2001). *In vitro* studies using

DOX by pre-activated formaldehyde resulted in the formation of transcriptional blocks through the formation of inter-strand adduct (G-DOX-G cross-linking), inhibiting the transcription process (Cullinane and Phillips 1992). The treatment of mice cancer cell lines with DOX leads to the disruption of the replication process and cell cycle arrest through the blocks in [8H]-thymidine (Bilardi et al. 2012; Forrest et al. 2012). The investigations involving DOX and DOX-formaldehyde conjugate on colorectal cancer cell lines for DNA repair mechanisms resulted in DNA adduct-induced damage. The studies also prove the damage (apoptosis) caused by DOX-DNA adducts is independent and does not rely on the Topo II activity (Swift et al. 2006; Spencer et al. 2008; Barthel et al. 2016).

#### 2.6. Self-Resistance in non-target species/microbial factories

The microbial cell factories of antibiotics, anthracyclines, and related cytotoxic compounds like filamentous *Actinobacteria* and *Streptomyces* are programmed to deal with the cytotoxic compounds made by them (Hopwood 2007; Julian and Dorothy 2010). These resistance mechanisms include the expression of resistance genes, efflux systems to pump out anthracyclines, the inactivation of anthracyclines through enzymatic modifications and interaction with other metal elements.

#### 2.6.1. Resistance genes

The microbial cell factories of antibiotics, anthracyclines, and related cytotoxic compounds like filamentous *Actinobacteria* and *Streptomyces* are programmed to deal with the cytotoxic compounds made by them (Hopwood 2007; Julian and Dorothy 2010). The self-resistance developed by the bacteria through the expression of resistance genes is a prerequisite to its survival against the produced toxic (DNA intercalating majorly) compounds. Similar to the antibiotic pathway-synthesising genes on BGCs, the resistance genes are also encoded in the BGCs, which initiates the process of self-resistance through time-space co-ordinated expression or intermediate-dependent (compound produced) expression (Mak et al. 2014). The resistance mechanisms are variable according to BGCs or product type, which include target protection, compound inactivation, modification, sequestration and efflux.

In *Streptomyces peucetius*, the genes encoding resistance for DNR/DOX are *drrA*, *drrB*, and *drrC* unravelled when expressed in *E. coli* and *S. lividans*. The *drrA* and *drrB* proteins act as drug-efflux complexes produced during the idiophase,

whereas the drrC is transcribed earlier and facilitates the efflux through drug binding (Guilfoile and Hutchinson 1991; Lomovskaya et al. 1996; Kaur 1997). A reducing the DOX to detoxification strategy of *Streptomyces* by 7deoxydoxorubicinolone deglycosylation NADH: via using ubiquinone oxidoreductases was reported (Westman et al. 2012). Developing and employing natural microbiome inhibitors against toxicity for drug delivery in oncological medicine would result in reduced side effects of the anthracyclines.

#### 2.6.2. Efflux pumps

Efflux pumps play a pivotal role in conferring multidrug resistance in bacteria by facilitating the expulsion of toxic compounds either produced by the organism or acquired from the external environment (Webber and Piddock 2003). Efflux pumps are the key components of the cell membrane that regulate the internal cellular concentrations of toxic chemicals and elements (metal ions) through extrusion and also inhibit the re-entry of compounds to evade toxicity (Piddock 2006; Bazzi et al. 2020). The efflux pumps utilize energy by hydrolysing the ATP and can use the electrochemical or ionic gradient inside the bacterial cells to efflux the toxic compounds. The efflux systems found in bacterial cells are categorised into six families: ABC (ATP-binding cassette), MATE (multidrug and toxic compound extrusion), PACE (proteo-bacterial antimicrobial compound efflux), MFS (major facilitator superfamily), SMR (small multidrug resistance family) and RND (resistance nodulation cell division) (Du et al. 2018). These efflux pumps comprise transmembrane protein helices facilitating the translocation of produced secondary metabolites outside the producer organisms (Gaurav et al. 2023). However, despite their varied structural differences, substrate redundancy is prevalent across all the efflux pump families. The DOX/DNR is extruded out by the AbeM efflux pump of the MATE family (using antiporters H<sup>+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup>) in *Acinetobacter baumannii*, whereas the ABC pumps (generally hydrolyse ATP) perform the extrusion in *Streptomyces* sp. (Abdi et al. 2020; Zack et al. 2024).

#### 2.6.3. ABC efflux pumps

The ABC (ATP-binding cassette) pumps constitute the most prominent protein families and are widely present in all living organisms, facilitating the import and export of chemical substances based on their structural architecture and folding (Thomas and Tampé 2024). The ABC efflux pumps in bacteria use the energy by hydrolysing ATP and translocating various chemical compounds like sterols, secondary metabolites and lipids across the membrane through 12 transmembrane domains (TMDs) and two nucleotide-binding domains (NBDs) (Jacek et al. 2007; Li et al. 2014). The TBDs aid in substrate binding, whereas the NBDs carry the translocation of compounds hydrolysing ATP. The detailed mechanism and structural diversity of ABC pumps and their activity depending on the arrangement of helices, loops and protein domains are reviewed in Thomas and Tampé (2024). The drrAB transporter system encodes for the efflux of DNR/DOX in S. peucetius, where drrA (peripheral membrane protein) binds to ATP and drrB (hydrophobic membrane protein) enables the translocation acting as resistance mechanism. The subcloning of these drrAB genes in E. coli resulted in similar expression (Kaur and Russell 1998). Several follow up studies conferred the resistance mechanism of drrAB transporter system and the co-dependence of both proteins in efflux activity (Méndez and Salas 2001; Li et al. 2013). A recent study by Dong et al. (2024) conducted on ABC transporter in Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus yielded significant findings, indicating that the drrAB genes of the DNR BGC facilitate the efflux of excess DNR/DOX within the cell. Additionally, the two-component ABC transporters, encoded by drrAB2 and drrAB3 and situated outside the cluster, regulated by the TetR family regulator DrrR1, were identified as playing a complementary role in the efflux of daunorubicin in S. coeruleorubidus in response to the intracellular accumulation of daunorubicin (Dong et al. 2024).

#### 2.6.4. Inactivation of drug by enzymatic reaction

Resistance mechanisms to evade autotoxicity in microorganisms also include inactivating or modifying the produced metabolites or antibiotics through enzyme activity. The  $\beta$ -lactamases inhibit the production of penicillin derivatives and cephalosporins as a resistance mechanism (Essack 2001; Bush 2013). Likewise, chloramphenicol undergoes modification by acetylation, *O*-phosphorylation of erythromycin, acetyl, and phosphor transferases modify the amino-glycoside antibiotics (kanamycin, gentamycin, streptomycin) as a resistance mechanism (O'Hara et al. 1989; Murray and Shaw 1997). The activation of repressor gene *dnrH* in *S. peucetius* carries out the glycosylation reaction of the daunosamine sugar to baumycin-like glycosides, thereby preventing the formation of DNR/DOX (Scotti and Hutchinson 1996). Similarly, the *doxA* gene encoding the cytochrome P450 oxidase, crucial for three oxidation steps in DNR/DOX development, gets downregulated by the excess concentration of produced daunorubicin inside the *Streptomyces* sp. (Dickens et al. 1997; Walczak et al. 1999). A detoxification strategy of *Streptomyces* by reducing the DOX to 7-deoxydoxorubicinolone via deglycosylation using NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductases was reported (Westman et al. 2012). Thus, employing the activation of products through enzymes aids in the inhibition of the intercalation of DNA and evades autotoxicity in the producer organisms.

#### 2.7. Interaction of DNR/DOX with iron

Daunomycin is the chelator of iron, where ionic forms of iron ( $Fe^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$ ) bind to specific functional groups of anthraquinone moiety and form stable complexes (Zweier et al. 1986). The quinone group at position 5 and hydroxy group at position 6 on the aglycone part of DNR acts as the binding sites for iron by donating electrons. The DNR also has a side chain with hydroxyl groups which can donate lone pair of electrons and bind to iron (Zweier et al. 1986). Both ferrous (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) and ferric (Fe<sup>3+</sup>) forms of iron bind to daunomycin, where  $Fe^{2+}$  is highly reactive and readily participate in redox cycling and alter between ionic states and Fe<sup>3+</sup> is less reactive and form stable complexes (Fiallo and Garnier-Suillerot 1986; Fiallo et al. 1993). This stabilization activity can be employed for the therapeutic purposes. The first tri-ferric doxorubicin compound, named Quelamycin, a metallic derivative of the Adriamycin prepared was through chelation in the presence of Fe (III) (Gosálvez et al. 1978). The compound has been reported to be highly stable in phase I clinical trials and P 388 leukaemia cells, where the cytosolic components do not degrade the compound, and it also inhibits the free flow of electrons from NADH to oxygen molecules in cells (Cortés-Funes et al. 1980; Beraldo et al. 1985; Fiallo and Garnier-Suillerot 1986). The bond strength of the iron-DNR complex is high and the chelation activity can be reversible or disassociated in high acidic pH (lower) conditions and in presence of iron binding compounds like transferrin, ferritin.

#### 2.8. Interaction of DNR/DOX with oil

The anthracycline compounds daunorubicin and idarubicin are lipophilic and their interaction mechanisms with the lipids are studied using various experiments (Ribeiro

et al. 2013; Alves et al. 2017; Matyszewska 2020). Oils and the oleic acid being nonpolar, bind to the hydrophobic regions on the anthraquinone moiety, which is often used in therapeutic formulation. The liposome-associated doxorubicin was reported to have reduced systemic and cardiotoxicity in clinical trials for humans and mice (Gabizon et al. 1986, 1989; Amselem et al. 1992). The daunorubicin is encapsulated by the liposomes (phospholipid vesicles) and exploited for drug delivery mechanism (Juliano and Stamp 1978; Mussi et al. 2014).

#### 2.9. Culture Media for metabolites production in *Streptomyces* sp.

The production of antibiotics at a large scale is a combinatorial effect which relies upon the (Rodrigues da Silva et al. 2021) strain efficiency, ability to utilise the available nutrients, physical conditions and productivity of the metabolites. The primary nutrients like carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus, along with minor mineral elements, remain the major constituents of the culturing media responsible for the growth and production of necessary chemical compounds in Streptomyces sp. The carbon serves as a prominent energy source, nitrogen is responsible for cell growth and metabolism, and phosphates assist in the production of the metabolites (Rokem et al. 2007). To date, many investigations over the decades have concentrated on improving secondary metabolites using strain engineering via genetic alterations. However, the culmination of improved levels of metabolite production through extensive genetic research remains unpromising due to the intricate metabolic mechanisms involved as reviewed in the biosynthesis and gene regulation sections. Additional investigations employing the modifications in media have the potential to result in more streamlined and economical techniques for manufacturing daunomycin and other crucial antibiotics in Streptomyces.

The DNR/DOX compounds are produced in the late growth phase through a multitude of enzymatic reactions by the *Streptomyces* strains, utilizing nutrients (Sánchez et al. 2010). The host cells synthesizing the secondary metabolites in nature ( $\mu$ g/L) are not sufficient to achieve the harvest at the desired quantities (g/L) on an industrial fermentation scale (Bilyk and Luzhetskyy 2016). So, the efficient native strains are screened and improved through metabolic engineering (contemporary), mutations (traditional) and selections. However, the highest yields are achieved through the combination of several approaches in strain development, suitable culture media composition and well-optimised fermentation conditions. The complete

genomic sequencing of the model actinomycete *Streptomyces coelicolor* revealed the presence of multiple genes in the *Streptomyces* species' genome that can break down complex carbohydrates and proteins (Bentley et al. 2002). This facilitates in utilising various carbon and nitrogen sources to optimise culture media. The production of metabolites is also linked to factors like nutrients available in culture media and fermentation conditions (temperature, light, oxygen and pH) (Sánchez et al. 2010; Bilyk and Luzhetskyy 2016). The optimisation of media and the source of nutrients remained a major variable factor in the growth of strains and the production of metabolites for several decades.

#### 2.9.1. Carbon source

Glucose or sugars are the most often utilized carbon sources in industrial fermentation due to their low cost and high availability, even though they inhibit secondary metabolite synthesis (Rokem et al. 2007; Ruiz et al. 2010; Hulst et al. 2022). The carbon source serves as the vital controlling agent for secondary metabolite production in *Streptomyces*, as transcriptional activation or carbon catabolite repression (CCR) is dependent on the source and concentration of carbon (Hodgson 2000; Rokem et al. 2007; Ruiz et al. 2010). Carbon from sugars like glucose, maltose, glycerol, sucrose, mannose, and xylose has been reported to interfere with the production of more than 30 types of secondary metabolites (mostly antibiotics) in *Streptomyces* sp. (Ruiz et al. 2010; Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2017). The synthesis of Doxorubicin in *S. peucetius* has been impeded by the utilization of glucose and galactose as the carbon source in the culture medium (Escalante et al. 1999). Sugar carbon in the media at an industrial level leads to an increase in acidification and triggers feedback inhibition through produced intermediates.

The erythromycin yield in *Saccharopolyspora erythraea* at the industrial level using oil and soy flour has been improved to 3.5g/L compared to the dextrin control (Hamedi et al. 2004). Clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces clavuligerus* has been improved using olive oil as a sole carbon source (Efthimiou et al. 2008). Employing soybean oil as a source of carbon has enhanced the production of FK506 (tacrolimus) - an immunosuppressant polyketide by 88.8% in *Streptomyces tsukubaensis* (Wang et al. 2017). Enhanced production of DOX (1100mg/L) was achieved by mutation treatment (UV and ART-plasma) and soybean oil as a carbon source in *Streptomyces peucetius* SIPI-11 (Wang et al. 2018). Increased levels of

salinomycin production and improved TAG (triacylglycerol) metabolism were observed in *Streptomyces albus* ZD11 using soybean oil as a carbon source in culture media (Han et al. 2020). Oil utilisation has also benefited from imparting the activity as an antifoam at the industrial scale of fermentation. The breakdown of oils supports the activity of malonyl Co-A and Acetyl Co-A, which are essential for the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. Thus, employing an oil-based carbon source instead of sugar in combination with optimised fermentation conditions and selection would enhance DNR/DOX production.

#### 2.9.2. Nitrogen source

The source and concentration of nitrogen in the media also remain a vital factor for secondary metabolite production. Nitrogen in the form of ammonia is mostly preferred by microorganisms, and the genera *Streptomyces* naturally possess a constant nitrogen acquisition and metabolism to ensure their survival (Tiffert et al. 2011; Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2017). *Streptomyces* assimilate ammonia through glutamate dehydrogenase in ammonia-rich conditions and glutamine synthetase pathways in ammonia-deficient conditions (Rokem et al. 2007). The influence of various regulatory mechanisms of nitrogen in *Streptomyces* has been clearly reviewed in (Krysenko 2023). The forms or sources of nitrogen, like ammonium, nitrate, amino acids, and polyamines, have an impact on the production of secondary metabolites in *Streptomyces* (Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2017; Krysenko 2023). Specific concentrations of various nitrogen sources can be used to quantify the yield of different actinobacterial compounds in *Streptomyces* according to their industrial relevance.

#### 2.9.3. Phosphorus source

Phosphorus, in the form of inorganic phosphate, is the crucial element acting as the building blocks for nucleotides, proteins, and several regulatory signalling cascades (van Wezel and McDowall 2011). The concentration of phosphate in cells significantly impacts the production of secondary metabolites in *Streptomyces* and related actinobacteria (Barreiro and Martínez-Castro 2019). Increased concentrations of phosphates in media (>10mM) have resulted in decreased yields of antibiotic production, whereas the lower concentration (<0.1mM) has positively increased the secondary metabolite production, implying the significance of phosphates on biosynthetic pathways (Martín 2004; Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2018). The limited

availability of phosphate results in nutritional stress and initiates the secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways. In phosphate-rich conditions, the *Streptomyces* convert phosphate to polyphosphate and accumulate, which aids in cellular metabolism. The regulation of phosphate in *Streptomyces* is carried out through a two-component mechanism, PhoR-PhoP, clearly reviewed elsewhere (Allenby et al. 2012; Martín and Liras 2020).

#### 2.9.4. Other elements

A well-established culture media including all these macro components together with the essential microelements like Fe, Ca, Zn, S, etc, results in the enhancement of secondary metabolites yield. The use of rare earth elements in the culture medium for *Streptomyces* sp. is reported to activate the BCG's cluster for secondary metabolite production (Hosaka et al. 2009). Tanaka et al. (2010) used scandium and lanthanum in medium for the cultivation of *Streptomyces coelicolor* and reported the increase of 2.5 to 12 folds expression of genes belonging to secondary metabolite-biosynthetic gene clusters. Optimization and standardization of culture media considering pH, combinations of nutrients, agitation, temperature, had resulted in enhanced production of daunomycin in *Streptomyces* sp. (Bundale et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2018).

**2.10.** Engineering culture media – in Prospect for improved production. Over the past decades, genetic alterations have been frequently used to enhance the production of metabolites in *Streptomyces*, improving regulatory gene expression, modifying resistance, developing efflux mechanisms, and possible combinations with strain development. However, modifications to the culture media can also potentially improve production yields. A considerable amount of research is lacking in this area, but strategies employed for other polyketide synthesis in *Streptomyces* relevant to daunomycin can provide promising insights into the enhancement of production devoid of complex and expensive gene editing methods.

The prominent effect of DOX/DNR is its autotoxicity by intercalating with the DNA in the producers when the concentration increases. The prospective idea of this project is to prepare culture media for cultivating *Streptomyces* sp. based on binding of daunomycin with iron or reduced forms of iron after effluxed from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by the oleic acid or lipid micelle layers present in the culture medium converting the produced DNR/DOX to inactive forms

and settled with DNR-iron-oil complex. Therefore, this hypothesis can safeguard the producer strain from toxicity and avoid the inhibition of metabolite production.

#### 2.10.1. Perturbation of metabolite biosynthesis in Streptomyces sp.

The over expression of regulatory genes in BGCs and downregulation of repression genes and factor always remained as prominent approaches in the metabolic engineering of Streptomyces for metabolite production (Méndez and Salas 2005; Shrestha et al. 2019; Hulst et al. 2022). On the contrary, the availability of biosynthetic precursors also serves as a key factor that are generated primarily by carbon catabolism in the organisms (Nielsen 1998; Tanaka et al. 2017). Perturbation is the supply of precursors for modulating the biosynthesis to improve the ability of cells in enhancing the secondary metabolite production. The ARCs (antibiotic remodelling compounds) screened from Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2) are known to stimulate the metabolite production acting as precursors (Olano et al. 2008). The ARC2 similar to the antimicrobial compound triclosan, has reported to partially inhibit the fatty acid synthesis and utilize the acetyl CoA for polyketide biosynthesis and improved the actinorhodin yield in S. coelicolor (Olano et al. 2008; Craney et al. 2012). The overproduction of metabolites like oligomycin, salinomycin, erythromycin and actinorhodin have been reported by the using the triclosan as an elicitor of polyketide biosynthesis in *Streptomyces* sp. (Norimasa et al. 2003; Yukinori et al. 2013; Tanaka et al. 2017). The aim of this discussion is to propose an equivalent approach for the strains of Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus to enhance daunorubicin production capacity, rather than adhering to usual genetic engineering methods.

**2.10.2.** Media construction for three-way interaction (DOX/DNR-iron-oligolipid) The achievement of the prospective three-way interaction from the can be achieved from distinctive methods under a single hood with critical optimization of conditions like pH, temperature, pressure, incubation time and initial components like natural chelators, metal salts and nutrient sources. The biosynthesis of FeO particles from their salts like FeCl<sub>3</sub> using phytoextracts are being employed in nanoparticles synthesis over decades (Singh et al. 2018; Pudhuvai et al. 2024). The phytic acid present in plants, cereals, and legumes has a tremendous metal chelation potential (Graf and Eaton 1990). The phytate-metal complex is stable and cannot be liberated in wide pH ranges. Phytates from soybean or soy-derived products have high iron binding ability, which is considered a major drawback in diet and nutrition (Hurrell et al. 1992; Gupta et al. 2015). Thus, utilizing soybean phytates in the culture medium facilitates iron binding and chelation.

As discussed in the above carbon sources section, the oil source of carbon in the culture media for *Streptomyces* describes its prominence in the improved production in several instances, including erythromycin (Hamedi et al. 2004), clavulanic acid (Efthimiou et al. 2008), doxorubicin (Wang et al. 2018), salinomycin (Han et al. 2020) and josamycin (Eiki et al. 1988). Employing crude oils, including the raw plant parts with phytic acid contents, will deliver the nutrient carbon source and act as a reducing agent for iron in the media. Crude oils of soybean and pomace have enhanced clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces*, which is also a waste-to-value strategy (Efthimiou et al. 2008; Young et al. 2020). The crude plant oil substrate used for the cultivation media form micelles due to elevated temperature and pressure during autoclaving and encapsulate the FeO particles. After inoculation of the perturbated *Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* culture to the cultivation media, the production of daunorubicin takes place and is effluxed out into cultivation media.

Considering the lipophilic nature of daunorubicin, the produced, effluxed DOX/DNR into the medium can interact with the oligolipid surface layer with FeO particles from the oil-based medium (Alves et al. 2017). The interaction between anthracycline and metal ions, especially iron, has the potential to form complexes demonstrate high stability constants in the medium (Seke et al. 2019). The produced and effluxed DOX/DNR by the *Streptomyces* strain interacts directly with the FeO-micelle to form a DOX-Fe-micelle complex (Calendi et al. 1965; Cortés-Funes et al. 1980; Xu et al. 2005). Thus, capturing the produced metabolite in an inactive form helps avoid toxicity to the producer organism.

Streptomycetes are also well-known for their metal resistance, which involves their intricate intracellular iron homeostasis mechanisms (Yaqing et al. 2018). As a defensive strategy, the reduced iron entering the cells is segregated and secreted into the external environment through ABC pumps. Streptomyces' defensive strategy of effluxing the excess DNR/DOX re-initiates the production of new DNR/DOX molecules inside the cells, resulting in improved productivity. Therefore, the enhancement of the daunomycin production in *Streptomyces* using this media construction approach can be established with reduced costs and negligible metabolic engineering of strains.

# 3. Aims and Hypothesis

The main aim of thesis was to develop a daunomycin-producing strain and optimise an efficient medium to enhance the DNR production, reduce costs and simplify downstream processing. Studies were focused on:

- Isolation and cultivation of the *Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* strain and optimisation of its growth on R2A (Reasoner's 2A agar), PDA, and M2 (Melanocyte growth media).
- Strain identification using 16S RNA.
- Performing protoplast fusion with the wild strain of *S. ceoruleorubidus* by triclosan treatment to achieve a high DNR-producing strain.
- Screening and selecting strains by regulatory genes *dnrN*, *dnrO*, and dnrI, daunomycin resistance genes *drrA*, *drrB*, and *drrC*.
- Observational recording of the strain morphology of the improved strains for sporulation behaviour and homogenous growth.
- Testing various C (sugar, oils) and N sources individually or in combination, including different mineral supplements, e.g., rare earth elements, copper, zinc, vitamins, antibiotics, etc., for enhanced DNR production.
- Optimization of the culture media to encapsulate the DNR together with reduced iron as complex with oil and make it inactive.

The dissertation hypothesis was (a) whether a specific iron-containing medium would lead to the formation of daunomycin-iron complexes that could reduce the solubility and bioavailability of daunomycin and (b) whether this approach would lead to reduced toxic impacts during fermentation while simultaneously increasing the yield of the target metabolite and overall production efficiency, all while minimizing the ecological footprint of the process.

## 4. Material and Methods

#### 4.1. Bacterial Strain

The original bacterial strain *S. coeruleorubidus* was isolated from mosquito larvae collected from the Vltava River pool during Spring 2019. Identification was confirmed through morphological assessments, phenotypic characterization, and genomic sequencing. PCR amplification revealed the presence of daunomycin resistance genes *drrA*, *drrB*, and *drrC*, which are significant for potential applications in developing antimicrobial media.

#### 4.2. Triclosan-Induced Mutation

To enhance the production of daunomycin, triclosan was employed to induce mutations in *S. coeruleorubidus* due to its known effect on lipid synthesis, especially on enoyl-acyl carrier protein reductase a key enzyme involved in fatty acid synthesis (McMurry et al. 1998). Solid Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA) medium was prepared, to which triclosan was added aseptically at final concentrations of 0.1, 0.5, 1, and 10  $\mu$ M. Subcultures were maintained for ten passages to stabilize the mutant strains, which were subsequently evaluated for increased productivity on both standard and modified media.

#### 4.3. Olive Pomace Oil-Resistant Strain Development

To develop a strain capable of growth on olive pomace oil, ultraviolet (UV) irradiation was employed, following methods described by (Hopwood and Wright 1979; 1981). The strains were exposed to UV light at a dose rate of approximately 10 W/m<sup>2</sup> for about 30 minutes and subsequently cultivated in solid and liquid media containing 10% olive pomace oil as the sole carbon source.

#### 4.4. Protoplast Formation

Protoplasts of *S. coeruleorubidus* were prepared using a modified method adapted from Okanishi et al. (1974) and Hopwood and Wright (1978). Briefly, spores were inoculated in Yeast Extract-Malt Extract (YEME) medium supplemented with 0.5% glycine and 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O, followed by incubation at 28°C and 220 RPM for 48 hours. Protoplasts were generated from two distinct strains: one resistant to triclosan and another capable of growing on olive pomace oil. The cultures were centrifuged at 4000 RPM for 10 minutes and washed with a 10.3% sucrose solution. The cell pellet was treated with Medium P (Hopwood and Wright, 1978) for washing, then resuspended in a lysozyme solution (2 mg/ml) for cell wall disruption. After lysis, protoplasts were washed and resuspended in a 40% PEG 4000 solution. Darkening of the agar around colonies was used as a selective criterium.

#### 4.5. Optimization of the Production Medium

The cultivation process was maintained at a speed of 220 RPM (with a shaker arm length of 25 mm) and a temperature of 28 °C. The culture was deemed ready for inoculation after 36 to 40 hours ( $\pm$ 2 hours) in a basal medium composed of the following ingredients (g/l): 30 g of soy flour, 5 g of starch, 5 g of glucose, 5 g of yeast extract, 1 g of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, and 1 g of NaCl. The pH was adjusted to 7.0 using either 2 M NaOH or 2 M HCl.

The production medium was inoculated with 2.5 ml of the actively grown culture from the vegetative medium (constituting a 5% inoculum) into 50 ml of the production medium, also contained in a 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask. The culture was incubated at 28 °C with agitation at 220 RPM. The composition of the production was as follows (g/L): 10 g of bakery yeast, 20 g of soy flour, 100 g of pomace olive oil, 5 g of yeast extract, 5 g of glycerol, 2 g of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1 g of magnesium sulfate heptahydrate, 3 g of calcium carbonate, and 3.6 g of ferrous sulfate heptahydrate. The pH of the medium was adjusted to a range of 5.9 to 6.1 using 2 M NaOH or 2 M HCl.

#### 4.6. Effect of Carbon and Nitrogen Sources on Daunomycin Production

The influence of various carbon sources on daunomycin metabolite production was evaluated by substituting starch in the production medium with alternatives such as soybean oil, refined rapeseed oil, crude rapeseed oil, virgin olive oil, pomace olive oil, mineral oil, and crude cannabis oil. Similarly, the impact of different nitrogen sources was assessed by replacing soy flour in the production medium with casein, yeast extracts, defatted soy flour, soy grits, peptones, ammonium sulfate, and potassium nitrate. Following the incubation period, the impact of carbon and nitrogen sources on daunomycin production was analyzed by HPLC.

#### 4.7. Effects of Iron on Daunomycin Production

To investigate the effects of minerals on daunomycin production, the medium containing optimized carbon and nitrogen sources was supplemented with various iron sources, including FeCl<sub>3</sub>, FeSO<sub>4</sub>, and Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>. These were added at final concentrations of up to 1.44 g per liter of Fe<sup>2+</sup> and 2.79 g per liter of Fe<sup>3+</sup>, which corresponded to the following additions: 2.1 g/L of FeCl<sub>3</sub>; 3.6 to 7.2 g/L of FeSO<sub>4</sub>; and 5.2 to 10 g/L of Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>.

#### 4.8. Monitoring of daunomycin production

Samples were collected from the flasks at 120, 168, 216, and 264 hours, with the possibility of extending to 312 hours. For each sampling point, 1 ml of homogeneous medium was extracted from each flask. The samples were processed according to a rapid isolation protocol using oxalic acid and daunomycin concentration measured by HPLC.

#### 4.9. Changes in Media Color and Physical Parameters

Media color and physical parameters were assessed at 24-hour intervals throughout the cultivation period, beginning at 24 hours and continuing up to 264 hours. At each designated time point, a sample of the cultivated media was visually inspected to determine its color and observed physical parameters, such as the formation of precipitate. This information was recorded using subjective visual assessment. Specific colors observed—such as yellow, green, gray, and black—were noted, along with any relevant changes in intensity or hue. This consistent monitoring allowed for the documentation of color transitions and physical parameters of the culture over time.

#### 4.10. Sediment friability

To evaluate the friability of the sediment, samples were dispersed in water containing 0.1% SDS as a surfactant at a temperature of 20°C. Control samples were left untreated, while the examined samples were mixed using a mixer at 5-minute intervals. The characterization of the samples included an analysis of particle size distribution, which was determined using laser diffraction with a Mastersizer 2000 equipped with a Hydro 2000G dispersion unit (Malvern Instruments, UK). The mean particle size relative to volume was chosen as the primary criterion for particle size assessment. To

ensure the accuracy and reliability of the results, two parallel measurements were conducted.

#### 4.11. Measurement of pH, O<sub>2</sub>, and Eh During Fermentation

To monitor the fermentation process, pH, dissolved oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>), and redox potential (Eh) were measured at regular intervals throughout the cultivation period.

**pH Measurement:** The pH of the fermentation media was measured using a calibrated pH meter with a glass electrode. At each sampling interval (e.g., every 24 hours), a small volume of the media was taken aseptically and transferred to a clean, appropriate container. The pH probe was immersed in the sample, and the reading was recorded after stabilization. The pH meter was calibrated before measurements using standard buffer solutions at pH 4.00 and 7.00 to ensure accuracy.

**Dissolved Oxygen Measurement:** Dissolved oxygen levels were assessed using a portable dissolved oxygen meter equipped with an appropriate probe. Samples were taken at the same intervals as pH measurements. The probe was inserted into the sample, allowing for direct measurement of O<sub>2</sub> concentration. The oxygen sensor was calibrated beforehand according to the manufacturer's instructions, ensuring accurate readings throughout the fermentation process.

**Redox Potential Measurement:** The redox potential (Eh) was measured using a portable redox meter with a suitable combination electrode. Similar to the previous measurements, samples were taken at regular intervals. The redox electrode was placed in the sample, and stabilization was allowed before recording the Eh value. Calibration of the redox meter was performed using standard reference solutions to ensure reliable measurements.

All measurements were conducted under controlled conditions to minimize the impact of external factors, and each parameter was recorded systematically to analyze the fermentation dynamics over time.

## 4.12. Methods for Observing Morphological Changes During Fermentation

**Optical Microscopy:** To observe morphological changes in the fermentation medium, samples were taken at designated intervals throughout the fermentation period. Each sample was placed on a clean glass slide and covered with a coverslip. The slides were examined under an optical microscope Nikon Eclipse Ni-E at varying magnifications

(e.g., 100x, 400x) to assess cell morphology, size, and aggregation. Digital images were captured for further analysis and comparison over time.

**Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM):** For surface morphology analysis, samples were prepared for scanning electron microscopy. Initially, samples were fixed in an appropriate fixative and then dehydrated through a series of graded alcohol solutions. The samples were mounted onto conductive stubs and coated with a thin layer of gold-palladium to enhance conductivity. The SEM JSM-7401F was calibrated, and samples were examined under high vacuum conditions. Secondary electron imaging was used to visualize the surface features of the cells, and images were captured for analysis of morphological changes during fermentation.

**Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM):** For detailed structural analysis, samples were prepared for transmission electron microscopy following standard fixation and embedding protocols. Initially, samples were fixed in a solution of 2.5% glutaraldehyde buffered with phosphate buffer for 2 hours at 4°C. Following fixation, the samples were washed in phosphate buffer and post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 hour. Then, samples were dehydrated through a graded ethanol series (30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, and 100%) and embedded in an epoxy resin. Thin sections (approximately 70 nm) were cut using an ultramicrotome and placed on copper grids. The grids were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate to enhance contrast. Finally, sections were examined using a transmission electron microscope JEM-1400 Jeol at an appropriate accelerating voltage, with images captured for analysis of cellular structures and morphological features.

#### 4.13. Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) was performed using SDS-PAGE (Laemmli) and native PAGE techniques, following Davis's procedures. SDS-PAGE was utilized to determine protein molecular weights and to cut out specific bands for subsequent analysis by TOF MALDI mass spectrometry. The SDS gel was stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue, while in the native PAGE, proteins of interest were naturally labeled with daunomycin. This approach allowed proteins to maintain their native conformations, specifically for identifying daunomycin-pigmented proteins.

#### 4.14. Extraction Procedures

Two primary methods can be employed for extraction: oxalic acid and phosphoric acid. The oxalic acid method is suitable for monitoring the cultivation process due to its low volume requirement, albeit it does not capture the full extent of daunomycin production. In contrast, the phosphoric acid method is more reliable and reproducible, effectively disrupting the iron-daunomycin complex. For oxalic acid extraction, transfer 400 µl of the sample to a 2 ml tube, acidify with 180 µl of 1M oxalic acid, and vortex thoroughly. Add 2 x 600 µl of acetone, vortex again, and then add 300 µl of distilled water. Mix well and centrifuge at 14,000–15,000 RPM for 6 minutes, then take 400 µl of the supernatant for HPLC analysis. For phosphoric acid extraction, shake the culture and take 10 ml, transferring it to a 50 ml Falcon tube. Add 40 ml of 0.1M H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (1:4 dilution) and mix thoroughly. Measure the pH, which should be between 1.8 and 1.9, before heating the sample in a 50°C water bath for 30 minutes, mixing periodically. After heating, check that the pH remains between 1.4 and 1.8; if it exceeds 2, yield may be compromised. Take a 400 µl sample and transfer it to a 2 ml tube, then centrifuge the Falcon tube for 6-7 minutes at 4000-4700 RPM. Discard the supernatant and resuspend the sediment (approximately 5 ml) in 40 ml of 0.05M H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (changing the dilution ratio to 1:8), mixing until homogeneous. Measure the pH again, ensuring it is  $\leq 1.7$ , then heat the resuspended sample for another 30 minutes at 50°C, mixing periodically. Following this step, the pH should not fall below 1.3; take a final 400 µl sample for further analysis.

#### 4.15. HPLC Sample Preparation

The HPLC sample preparation procedure is identical for both oxalic and phosphoric acid samples. Begin by transferring 400  $\mu$ l of the acidified sample into a 2 ml tube. Next, add 180  $\mu$ l of 1M oxalic acid and vortex the mixture thoroughly. Subsequently, add 1200  $\mu$ l of acetone and vortex again, followed by the addition of 300  $\mu$ l of distilled water and another vortex to ensure homogeneity. After mixing, spin the tube in a centrifuge at 15,000 RPM for 6 minutes. Finally, take 400  $\mu$ l of the supernatant to serve as the HPLC sample.

#### 4.16. Chromatography Conditions

The analysis utilizes a ProntoSIL C18AQ column (150 x 4.6 mm, 5  $\mu$ m) maintained at ambient temperature, with a flow rate of 1 ml/min and UV/Vis detection at a
wavelength of 254 nm. The mobile phase consists of two components: Mobile Phase A (MPA) containing H<sub>2</sub>O at pH 2.7 (adjusted with H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) and 1 g/L of SDS, and Mobile Phase B (MPB) comprising acetonitrile, in an isocratic flow ratio of 50:50 (A:B). The retention time for daunorubicin is approximately 7 minutes, and the total analysis length is 25 minutes.

# 5. Results and Discussion

## **Optimization of the Production Medium**

The original strain showed considerable variability in mycelium, colony, and spore morphology, with dwarfed spore chains formed by rudimentary spines or smooth spores, as noted by Blumauerová et al. (1978). In contrast, the producing strain Ret2210, developed through a process of repeated protoplast fusion involving triclosan-resistant strains and those capable of utilizing olive pomace oil, supplemented by an adaptive laboratory evolution technique, demonstrated significant morphological homogeneity. In the optimization process, the daunomycin production of the initial strain in a sugar-based medium was approximately 2.0 g/L. After establishing stable production, we replaced the strain with a new fusant specifically developed for oil-based media. Various ingredients were tested in the sugar medium to assess their influence on production and evaluated using High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC).

### Substitution of Glucose with Oils

The addition of pomace olive oil, rapeseed oil, and soybean oil to the sugar medium resulted in a 20 % decrease in production compared to the sugar-only medium. Similarly, Perlman and Wagman (1952) reported that the glucose utilization rate was significantly higher than the soybean oil utilization rate and streptomycin production was lower when cultured on lipid medium. To optimize oil concentration, supplementation with yeast was necessary, with yeast quality significantly affecting the yield. The source and quality of oil profoundly influenced both media parameters and daunomycin output. Notably, rapeseed oil led to significant declines in production despite its fatty acid composition being similar to that of olive oil. In addition, cannabis oil produced under 5 % of the yield compared to the pomace oil medium. Fresh pomace oil, rich in these compounds, provides antioxidant benefits that mitigate oxidative stress (Čepo et al. 2018), particularly important for sensitive strains during cultivation. Incorporating olive pomace oil as a carbon source is a novel approach, serving as an alternative carbon source and offering potential antioxidant properties that mitigate oxidative stress from high iron concentrations. This dual functionality promotes nutrient supply and stress alleviation, a combination rarely observed in standard growth media. Our experiments indicated that chemical changes over time in the same oil sample, represented by specific measurements, can significantly influence oil quality and media output. Media containing trivalent iron (Tsylents et al. 2024) demonstrated increased sensitivity to variations in oil source and quality.

## Influence of Soy Source on Daunomycin Production

Soy grits may preserve more intact proteins and fibers from whole soybeans compared to the highly processed soy flour, significantly impacting metabolic pathways. As a potential source of phytic acid, soy grits can chelate excess iron (Zhang et al. 2014), reducing its bioavailability and minimizing toxicity (Cruz et al. 2020; Malik et al. 2022). This characteristic is particularly beneficial for maintaining stable growth environments for sensitive strains, an aspect often overlooked in standard cultivation protocols. Additionally, glycinins—an important component of soy proteins—are known to play a role in iron metabolism (Lynch et al. 1994). In contrast, replacing soy grits with a high-fat soy source has been shown to result in significant decreases in both media parameters and daunomycin production.

## **Influence of Iron on Production**

Adding iron to the sugar medium caused a pronounced rust coloration after autoclaving, indicating the conversion of iron to its oxide form, which did not enhance daunomycin production. However, supplementing the original medium with yeast led to iron stabilization and increased production levels upon the addition of pomace olive oil, maintaining an olive-green-grey hue post-autoclaving. Incorporating both bivalent (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) and trivalent (Fe<sup>3+</sup>) iron sulfates—spontaneously formed during autoclaving—was critical for managing iron concentration. While many formulations typically use only one form of iron, providing both allows for better control over iron bioavailability and uptake, potentially enhancing metabolic processes without toxicity (Mancy et al. 1975).

## **Optimal Composition for Daunomycin Production**

The optimal composition for sustained daunomycin production, identified through empirical methods, was determined to be as follows (g/L): 100 g pomace oil, 5.6 g FeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10 g yeast, 20 g soy grits, 5 g yeast extract, 5 g glycerol, 2 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 3 g

CaCO<sub>3</sub>, and 1 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>, with the pH adjusted to 6.0. Under these conditions, cultivation of the original strain achieved stable production levels of 3.0 to 3.5 g/L. The newly developed fusion strain was subsequently tested in this optimized medium, yielding daunomycin production levels of 5.5 to 6.0 g/L post-optimization. To demonstrate the independent repeatability of production, 11 cultivations were conducted by different team members, confirming consistent daunomycin production in the developed medium.

Time of cultivation [h]	N [samples]	Production [mg/L]		рН	
Time of cultivation [n]		Average	SD	Average	SD
120	11	1389.0	350.7	6.40	0.17
168	11	3070.2	724.6	6.62	0.13
216	11	4728.2	726.1	6.72	0.10
264	11	5466.4	681.4	7.24	0.41

Table 1. Production of daunomycin in optimized medium

## **Monitoring of Daunomycin Production**

Different approaches were employed to monitor and characterize daunomycin production in the newly developed medium, including assessments of media physical parameters, process monitoring, and ultrastructural morphology of the daunomycincontaining particles and producing microorganisms.

## **Changes in Media Color and Physical Parameters**

A non-sterile medium that starts off as a specific colour—such as light brown—may experience alterations upon autoclaving owing to Maillard reactions or the breakdown of certain compounds. This initial transformation sets the stage for how microbial metabolism can further impact the visual characteristics of the medium. As the cultivation progresses, the medium transitions from a grey-olive green to a dark grey hue, indicative of the accumulation of metabolic byproducts produced by *Streptomyces* species. The 24 hours post-inoculation, it darkens to a deeper grey, continuing to evolve in color over time. By 48 hours post-inoculation, the color shifts further to dark grey, with visible green oily droplets emerging. Black particles, remnants of soy grits bound to iron, become apparent. The oil within the medium is not fully dispersed, creating bubbles along the sides of the flask. At approximately 72 hours after inoculation, the medium transforms into a dark grey-black colour. A layer of oil forms

on the surface, which may take on a slight orange hue as microorganisms begin to produce daunomycin in significant amounts. During the cultivation period (ranging from 72 to 264 hours), the medium undergoes notable changes in color: it transitions to a complete brown-red-black hue, and the number of visible particles at the bottom of the tilted flask increases. The oil becomes fully dispersed in the medium, exhibiting a significant orange color, indicative of daunomycin presence. When the flask is left undisturbed, a slight but discernible orange layer containing daunomycin may form at the top of the medium due to the oil. The initial color of the medium post-autoclaving, characterized by an olive grey/green hue, suggests the presence of oxidized compounds and iron in solution ( $Fe^{3+}$ ), indicating that iron is in an oxidized state. This coloration is often indicative of specific iron compounds and potentially other components within the complex medium. Additionally, the olive or grey tint may arise from supplementary elements such as phytates from soy flour or phenolic compounds found in olive pomace oil, which contribute to this initial hue. As the substrate is utilized and the culture transitions into a more reduced state during cultivation, the medium darkens significantly. This color change correlates with increased anaerobic or reducing conditions, likely due to reduction processes facilitated by the metabolic activities of strain. The darkening indicates the formation of reduced iron species ( $Fe^{2+}$ ) as Fe<sup>3+</sup> is reduced during microbial respiration and other metabolic processes. Moreover, the accumulation of other metabolites or degradation products from microbial growth may further contribute to the overall darkening. At the peak of daunomycin production, the medium exhibits a complete black coloration, signifying a substantial shift in the chemical composition. This extensive reduction of ferric iron to ferrous iron, along with the production of complex organic molecules such as daunomycin and possibly other metabolites, results in this dark appearance. The black color may also indicate the formation of complex compounds, either through the aggregation of iron with organic matter or through the precipitation of iron complexes, particularly in systems where high concentrations of organic acids and phenolic compounds are present. The changes in color of the culture medium correlate closely with the redox potential (Eh) and the microbiological activity of strain. The darkening indicates the reduction of oxidized iron species and possibly the production of additional organic compounds (e.g., daunomycin and other metabolites), which uniquely alter the optical properties of the medium. The presence of black, hard precipitates at the end of fermentation mixed with inactive daunomycin that can be liberated by strong acid calls for a deeper exploration of the chemical interactions occurring during the fermentation of *Streptomyces coeruleorubidus*. Here are some potential explanations for this phenomenon, implications for your process, and suggestions for further exploration.

## **Chemical Nature of formed Precipitate Complexes**

The black precipitate is likely composed of complexed iron ( $Fe^{2+}$  or  $Fe^{3+}$ ) in conjunction with organic matter produced during the fermentation process, including metabolites such as daunomycin. Precipitation occurs when iron ions interact with specific organic compounds or when pH levels shift due to microbial metabolism. Often, phenolic compounds and other secondary metabolites can bind with iron, resulting in the formation of insoluble complexes that aggregate into larger precipitates.

## **Inactive Daunomycin**

The inactivity of the daunomycin in the precipitate could be due to its binding to iron or other components. When daunomycin complexes with iron or other molecules, it may lose its bioactivity (Abdella and Fisher 1985). This situation can arise due to structural changes in the drug or steric hindrance (Matzanke et al. 1992). The black precipitate likely represents a combination of iron-daunomycin complexes and other organic materials. The binding of daunomycin may render it unavailable in its active form.

## Measurement of pH, DO, and Eh During Fermentation

To confirm the hypothesis that color changes in the culture medium result from alterations in redox potential (Eh) and iron reduction during fermentation, we conducted precise measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), and Eh throughout the fermentation process. The results presented aim to elucidate how these parameters interact and influence one another, thus providing insights into the biochemical processes during microbial growth. However, our results indicated that pH and DO were inadequate metrics for this purpose. While pH experienced minimal fluctuations, DO levels significantly declined within the first 24 hours, ultimately dropping to near-zero values. In contrast, the measurement of redox potential emerged as a highly

informative parameter. Our findings revealed a marked increase in Eh immediately after autoclaving, likely due to the oxidation of organic compounds and trivalent iron  $(Fe^{3+})$  present in the medium. This observation suggests that redox potential is a more reliable indicator for monitoring fermentation processes and understanding the biochemical changes linked to color variations in the culture medium. Notably, we found an inverse relationship between Eh values and daunomycin production: as Eh decreased during fermentation, daunomycin production correspondingly increased. This correlation underscores the potential for utilizing redox potential as a tool to optimize conditions for enhanced secondary metabolite production.

## Sediment friability

According to the proposed idea, sediment may consist of aggregates formed from smaller particles containing daunomycin and iron. To validate this hypothesis, we assessed the sediment's friability using a Malvern 2000 particle size analyzer. When the sediment was mixed with 0.1% SDS in water, the aggregates initiated a time-dependent disaggregation process characterized by an increase in the number of smaller, free particles. These particles seem to undergo spontaneous aggregation throughout the fermentation process. This phenomenon may be partially explained by changes in the consistency of the growth medium, as well as a potential increase in precipitate formation during fermentation. The interaction between these factors likely facilitates the aggregation process, forming the observed sediment. The data obtained significantly enhance our understanding of the nature of the sediments. To further clarify the formation and morphology of the sediment-forming particles, it was crucial to observe their morphology during the aggregation process.

## **Observation of Morphological Changes During Fermentation**

The morphological diversity observed during the fermentation process highlights various particle sizes and structures formed throughout synthesis. The medium contains a multitude of particles exhibiting different shapes and sizes, ranging from nanoparticles to more organized structures, which likely correspond to different stages of fermentation and detoxification. The presence of nanoparticles indicates successful iron reduction and the formation of stable iron-containing particles (Afonso et al. 2024). These nanoparticles are characterized by their small size, which contributes to unique properties, including increased surface area and potential bio-reactivity. Micro-

sized particles, ranging from approximately 3 to 5 microns, likely represent intermediate structures developed during fermentation. These particles are composed of membrane-bound, optically dense materials, which may indicate the aggregation of nanoparticles, and are covered by a shell formed by dark oval structures. Moreover, the identification of larger sediment pieces, greater than 100 microns, suggests the aggregation of smaller particles, potentially facilitated by interactions with extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) produced during microbial growth or the settling of heavier complexes that form throughout the fermentation process. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) analysis of the native samples reveals that these large particles are covered by a layer of inorganic material, identified by X-ray Diffraction (XRD) analysis as gypsum. This inorganic surface layer may stabilize the particles and prevent the release of daunomycin into the medium. Exposure particles to hydrogen peroxide resulted in the bleaching of darker pigmentation, liberating reddish vesicles. Extended exposure led to an increase in the number of vesicles formed. High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis of the collected vesicles confirmed the presence of daunomycin. The release of pigmented vesicles or vacuoles suggests that daunomycin is likely localized within membrane-bound structures inside the larger particles rather than existing in a freely accessible form. This finding implies that the optically dense structures identified by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) may serve as reservoirs for daunomycin, effectively isolating it from the surrounding environment. The presence of iron in the particles was proven by a combination of SEM and EDS.

# Detection and identification of proteins in the daunomycin-iron-organic matter complex

To determine the daunomycin binding or transporting protein homogenate from the washed sediment was prepared in a sample buffer and analyzed on 10% gel. The proteins involved in daunomycin interaction were stained directly by a metabolite and control visually. Samples for SDS-PAGE were prepared in a reducing buffer, boiled, and separated on a 10% gel, followed by staining with Coomassie Blue. After destaining, the visible proteins were excised and analyzed by TOF MALDI to determine the proteins present in the complex. Only results with more than three matches and greater than 20% sequence coverage were considered positive. Under conditions characterised by high iron content and chemical stress, two distinct groups

of proteins exhibit critical functional similarities in managing oxidative stress and enhancing cellular resilience.

GroupOne:	Group Two:
<ul> <li>Bacterioferritin</li> <li>Catalase</li> <li>Oxidoreductase</li> <li>Glycinin G1</li> <li>Glycinin G4</li> <li>β-Conglycinin</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Chemical-damaging agent resistance protein C</li> <li>Major outer membrane lipoprotein</li> <li>Xanthine dehydrogenase</li> <li>Molybdopterin dehydrogenase</li> <li>Aklanon acid methyl ester cyclase (Dau D)</li> <li>Superoxide dismutase</li> <li>Nickel-containing superoxide dismutase</li> <li>Glutamate-binding protein</li> </ul>

 Table 2. Proteins detected in daunomycin-iron-protein particles.

In a high iron content medium, proteins such as bacterioferritin (Rivera 2017), catalase, (Mahaseth and Kuzminov 2016; Kim et al. 2021), oxidoreductase (Toone 2006; Sirivech et al. 1977; Martelin et al. 2002), glycinin G1, glycinin G4, and  $\beta$ conglycinin exhibit functional similarities that are crucial for managing iron homeostasis and mitigating oxidative stress related to elevated iron levels (Schnepf 1984; Lynch et al. 1994; Yang et al. 2021). Bacterioferritin plays a vital role in sequestering excess iron to prevent toxicity by storing it in a biologically accessible form while facilitating its release when needed for cellular processes (Rivera 2017). Catalase is essential in protecting cells from oxidative damage that can arise from increased iron, particularly by catalyzing the formation of reactive oxygen species, including hydrogen peroxide. Oxidoreductases contribute to redox balance in the presence of high iron by facilitating necessary metabolic reactions and detoxifying harmful compounds. Additionally, storage proteins like glycinin G1, G4, and βconglycinin provide essential amino acids and may participate in cellular stress responses, modulating protein synthesis and repair processes in response to elevated iron levels (Kim et al. 2011). Together, these proteins work synergistically to maintain iron homeostasis, protect against oxidative stress, and support overall metabolic functions, reinforcing resilience in high iron environments.

Although not quantified, phytic acid, which is present in soy grits (Deak and Johnson 2007), serves as a multifunctional component in high iron content systems. It supports iron chelation, acts as an antioxidant, regulates mineral absorption, and may

influence cellular signaling and gene expression. Its presence can synergize with the aforementioned proteins, bolstering iron homeostasis and enhancing the organism's overall resilience under stress conditions (Aguree et al. 2020; Minihane and Rimbach 2002).

The second group of proteins—including chemical-damaging agent resistance protein C, major outer membrane lipoprotein, xanthine dehydrogenase (YagS FADbinding subunit), molybdopterin dehydrogenase, aklanonic acid methyl ester cyclase (Dau D), putative flavoprotein, superoxide dismutase, nickel-containing superoxide dismutase, and glutamate-binding protein—exhibits notable functional similarities related to stress response. Specifically, these proteins contribute to the organism's ability to withstand chemical toxicity and oxidative stress. The chemical-damaging agent resistance protein C provides protection against harmful compounds, while the major outer membrane lipoprotein helps maintain membrane integrity under stress (Cascales et al. 2002). Xanthine dehydrogenase (Ohe and Watanabe 1979) and molybdopterin dehydrogenase (Leimkühler and Iobbi-Nivol 2016) are critical for redox balance, managing reactive oxygen species. Although the aklanonic acid methyl ester cyclase is primarily associated with secondary metabolite biosynthesis of anthracyclines (Kantola et al. 2000), it also participates in metabolic pathways essential for stress resilience. Additionally, superoxide dismutase and nickelcontaining superoxide dismutase directly combat oxidative damage, converting harmful superoxide radicals into less toxic molecules (Youn et al. 1996). Finally, glutamate-binding protein belongs to ABC transporters and may support cellular homeostasis indirectly under stress conditions (Le Maréchal et al.2013). Collectively, these proteins enhance the strain's survival and adaptability amidst chemical stresses, underscoring their importance in the strain's metabolic and stress response networks. It is of the utmost importance to highlight the unique origin of the Streptomyces strain employed in this study, which was isolated from mosquito larvae. This research not only delineates a novel cultivation process for the production of daunomycin but also illuminates the significant potential of insect-derived microorganisms as valuable assets in pharmaceutical research. Insects, representing one of the most diverse taxa on the planet, are hosts to a vast array of microorganisms, which may yield a wealth of bioactive compounds relevant to drug development. Recent studies have increasingly recognized these insect-associated bacteria as promising sources for pharmaceutically active substances (Chevrette et al. 2019; Van Moll et al. 2021; De Smet et al. 2021; Diarra et al. 2024).

The metabolic diversity inherent in these insect-associated microbes, cultivated over millions of years of co-evolution with their hosts, presents a significant opportunity for advancing drug discovery, particularly in the context of rising antimicrobial resistance and the emergence of novel diseases (Dettner 2011; Bode 2011). It is therefore evident that the exploration of this hitherto underutilized microbial reservoir has the potential to pave the way for the identification of innovative therapeutic agents, thereby making a significant contribution to the ongoing efforts in pharmaceutical research and development.

# 6. Overview of the Obtained Results

The results achieved during the dissertation were prepared in two manuscripts:

Pudhuvai B., Beneš K., Čurn V., Bohata A., Lencova J., Vrzalova R., Barta J. and Mat'ha V.: Enhancement of Daunomycin Production in Streptomyces sp. By Counteracting Autotoxicity – A Prospective. Microorganisms (submitted to edition).

This review is focused on the issue of daunorubicin (DNR) and the possibility of increasing the production of this metabolite using a specific culture medium. Our prospective review sheds light on a method involving perturbation that enhances the precursors to regulate PKS II biosynthesis, enhancing cells' capacity to increase secondary metabolite production. The suggested method also entails the preparation of culture media for the cultivation of *Streptomyces* sp. and enhanced yield of DNR and making it inactive with iron or its reduced forms following efflux from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by oleic acid or lipid micelle layers in the culture media, finally resulting in the generated inactive DNR and the DNR-iron-oil complex. This idea has the potential to protect the producer organism from autotoxicity and prevent the inhibition of metabolite production. The approach of substituting sugar with oil in culture media has dual role where in promotes the Streptomyces growth by utilizing lipids as an energy source and encapsulating the generated DNR-iron complex in the medium. In this review, we discussed aspects like anthracycline producers, biosynthesis pathways and gene regulation, side effects of DNR, mechanism for autotoxicity evasion and culture media components for enhancement of DNR production in Streptomyces sp. We anticipate that our work help researchers working with secondary metabolites production and decipher a methodology that would enhance DNR yield and facilitate the extraction of the resulting DNR by lowering costs in large-scale fermentation.

# Beneš K., Pudhuvai B., Čurn V., Motis J., Rost M., Michalcova Z., Vilcinskas A. and Mat'ha V.: Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation in Daunomycin Producing Streptomyces. Microorganisms (submitted to edition).

This study focuses on the development of a cultivation medium specifically designed to induce auto-resistance through Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation. Utilizing a fermentation medium enriched with olive pomace oil and iron, this research aims to explore the inherent affinity of daunomycin for both iron and oil. Our strategy leverages the combination of olive pomace oil and bacteria to facilitate the formation of iron nanoparticles (NPs). Furthermore, it seeks to bridge the existing knowledge gap by investigating the effects of daunomycin on eukaryotic cells in conjunction with the underexplored data from prokaryotic organisms, especially those involved in the production of daunomycin. This dual approach aims to enhance our understanding of daunomycin's mechanisms of action and its potential applications in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic systems. By systematically optimizing iron levels, we aim to facilitate the formation of daunomycin-iron complexes that can reduce the solubility and bioavailability of daunomycin. This transformation not only alleviates its cytotoxic effects on microbial production strains but also has the added ecological benefit of producing daunomycin as an insoluble precipitate. This precipitate can be easily separated from the cultivation medium by filtration or centrifugation, concentrated into a smaller volume, and extracted using phosphoric acid, followed by a final extraction of the dissolved daunomycin using significantly reduced volumes of organic solvents. Thus, this approach targets the reduction of toxic impacts during fermentation while enhancing compound yield and overall production efficiency, all while minimizing the environmental footprint of the proces. This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibiotic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the production of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes.

Pudhuvai B., Beneš K., Čurn V., Bohata A., Lencova J., Vrzalova R., Barta J. and Mat'ha V.: Enhancement of Daunomycin Production in Streptomyces sp. By Counteracting Autotoxicity – A Prospective. Microorganisms (submitted to edition).



Review



1

2

3

4

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

# Enhancement of Daunomycin Production in Streptomyces sp. By Counteracting Autotoxicity – A Prospective

Baveesh Pudhuvai<sup>1,\*</sup>, Karel Beneš<sup>2</sup>, Vladislav Čurn<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Bohata<sup>3,\*</sup>, Jana Lencova<sup>3</sup>, Radka Vrzalova<sup>3</sup>, Jan Barta<sup>3</sup> and Vladimir Matha <sup>2,3</sup>

	<sup>1</sup> Department of Genetics and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Studentská 1668, 370 05, České Budějovice, Czech Republic. nudhunaihanesh@omail.com.curn@ft.iu.cr	6 7 8
	<sup>2</sup> VUAB Pharma A.S. Nemanicka 2722, 37001 České Buděiovice. Czech Republic.	9
	benes.karel@hotmail.com; vladimir.matha@seznam.cz	10
	<sup>3</sup> Department of Plant Production, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in	11
	České Budějovice, Studentská 1668, 370 05, České Budějovice, Czech Republic.	12
	bohata@fzt.jcu.cz; lencova@fzt.jcu.cz; r.vrzalova@seznam.cz; barta@fzt.jcu.cz	13
	* Commendation Brook Brokhami (BB) and hand hand hand a stall on the 100000000	14
	Andrea Bohata (AB), bohata@fzt.jcu.cz; Tel.: +420-773099921	15
	Abstract: Daunorubicin (DNR) is an anthracycline antibiotic originating from soil-dwelling actino-	17
	bacteria extensively used to treat malignant tumors. Over the decades, extensive attempts were	18
	made to enhance the production of anthracyclines by introducing genetic modifications and muta-	19
	tions in combination with media optimisation, but the target production levels remain compara-	20
	tively low. Developing an appropriate culture medium to maximise the yield of DNR and prevent-	21
	ing autotoxicity for the producing organism remains a challenge. Our prospective review sheds	22
	light on a method involving perturbation that enhances the precursors to regulate PKS II biosynthe-	23
	sis, enhancing cells' capacity to increase secondary metabolite production. The suggested method	24
	also entails the preparation of culture media for the cultivation of Streptomyces sp. and enhanced	25
	yield of DNR and making it inactive with iron or its reduced forms following efflux from the pro-	26
	ducer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by oleic acid or lipid micelle layers in the	27
	culture media, finally resulting in the generated inactive DNR and the DNR-iron-oil complex. This	28
	idea has the potential to protect the producer organism from autotoxicity and prevent the inhibition	29
	of metabolite production. The approach of substituting sugar with oil in culture media has dual role	30
	where in promotes the Streptomyces growth by utilizing lipids as an energy source and encapsulat-	31
	ing the generated DNR-iron complex in the medium. In this review, we discussed aspects like an-	32
<b>Citation</b> : To be added by editorial	thracycline producers, biosynthesis pathways and gene regulation, side effects of DNR, mechanism	33
staff during moduction.	for autotoxicity evasion and culture media components for enhancement of DNR production in	34
	Streptomuces sp. We anticipate that our work help researchers working with secondary metabolites	35
Academic Editor: Firstname Last-	production and decipher a methodology that would enhance DNR yield and facilitate the extraction	36
name	of the resulting DNR by lowering costs in large-scale fermentation.	37
Received: date	or all rounding of the providing core at mige state femiliarity	57

Keywords: Daunomycin; Anthracyclines; Streptomyces; Efflux; Autotoxicity; Enhancement, Oilbased medium

#### 1. Introduction

Copyright: © 2024 by the authors. Submitted for possible open access publication under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/license s/by/4.0/).

Received: date Revised: date

Accepted: date

Published: date

۲ <u>\_</u>

name

Anthracyclines are a class of chemotherapeutic compounds derived from soil-dwell-42 ing gram-positive actinobacteria that have been used as anticancer medication agents [1]. 43They have been widely utilized to treat leukemia and cancer in adults and paediatrics since their discovery in *Streptomyces peucetius* in the 1960s [2–6]. The term "Anthracy-44 45

Microorganisms 2024, 12, x. https://doi.org/10.3390/xxxxx

www.mdpi.com/journal/microorganisms

38

39

40

clines" was introduced to denote the colour (red to yellow-red op-tical dyes) of the chem-46ical derivatives 7,8,9,10-tetrahydro-5,12-naphtacenoquinones [7,8]. The anthracyclines are47tetracyclic aromatic polyketides that are produced by the PKS II (polyketide synthase type48II) pathway and are structurally composed of an anthraquinone (aglycone) moiety and an49amino sugar (carbohydrate unit) at the C7 or C10 or at both positions. The absence of50sugar at C10 is substituted by a carbo-methoxy or hydroxyl group through processes like51glycosylation and hydroxylation [1,9,10].52

Daunorubicin (DNR), also called daunomycin, is an anthracycline antibiotic that has 53 been extensively employed in treating malignant tumours, ovarian cancer, breast cancer 54and AML (acute myeloid leukemia) since its discovery in 1964 from Streptomyces peucetius 55 [11-13]. DNR was initially derived, successfully isolated from Streptomyces peucetius sp. 56 (strain FI 1762-B-101) and found to possess antitumor activities. During the same period, 57 French researchers isolated a similar substance from Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus, naming 58 it rubidomycin [14]. The successful characterization of the compound and clinal use case 59 has led to the development of several hundreds of anthracycline analogues through syn-60 thetic chemistry and modified bacteria [15]. The latter research in 1969 on a mutant of S. 61 peucetius has led to the identification and isolation of a homologue (related compound) 62 named Doxorubicin (DOX) with better efficiency in solid tumours [16]. The DNR and 63 DOX share tetracyclic aglycone and daunosamine sugar moieties but differ in their side 64 chains, where DOX terminates with primary alcohol and DNR with a methyl group, as 65 shown in Figure 1. 66



Figure 1. Structure of daunorubicin (DNR) and doxorubicin (DOX) with the aglycone sugar moieties 68

The clinical use of DOX and DNR was hampered due to their increased concerns and 69 deaths due to cardiotoxicity and the development of resistance in tumour cells [5,15]. De-70 spite the demonstrated toxicity of daunomycin in Guinea pigs, rats, and humans [17-19], 71 the cumulatively reduced dosages administered during chemotherapy allow the mitiga-72 tion of these risks [20,21]. A minor structural modification of anthracyclines significantly 73 affected the bioactivity, which had driven chemists in the 1970s to synthesise anthracy-74 cline derivatives with reduced toxicity [10]. The interest and progress in synthesis path-75 way engineering (synthetic and semi-synthetic via site-directed mutations and gene alter-76 ations) of anthracyclines and their analogues were carried out after the 1990s due to their 77 exciting catalysing properties [8]. The quest to find a better alternative with reduced tox-78 icity has led to the development of thousands of analogues with many substitution reac-79 tions in the anthraquinone moiety (tetracyclic structure) [5]. Out of which currently, six 80 semi-synthetic derivatives, including DOX, idarubicin, epirubicin, pirarubicin and val-81 rubicin, are under clinical use. The class of anthracyclines and their derivatives, including 82 doxorubicin, epirubicin, daunorubicin, and idarubicin, are the most potent anticancer 83 drugs ever discovered, having the ability to alter mitochondrial dynamics by intercalating 84 with DNA helix and cause cytotoxicity. These drugs cause accelerated senescence in tu-85 mour cells via inducing apoptosis, DNA alkylation and damage, autophagy, activating 86

MAPK (mitogen-activated proteins kinases), promoting antimetabolites, inhibiting topoisomerases, and other mechanisms that result in cell death or cell cycle arrest [22–26].

Over the past decades, numerous efforts have been made to generate anthracyclines 89 through multiple initiatives, which have led to the creation of several strains with genetic 90 modifications, mutations, and changes to culture conditions and media. Nevertheless, de-91 spite the accomplishment of numerous intricate investigations and genetic modifications, 92 the desired output production numbers by fermentation have still to be attained. Engi-93 neering of suitable culture media in a way to sufficiently achieve the enhanced production 94 of DNR/DOX and make them inactive to evade the self-toxicity to the producer organism 95 still remains void. The alteration of strain for enhanced production and culture media, 96 conditions in order to entrap the produced DNR/DOX compounds in media and turning 97 them non-toxic for the producer proves as an ideal strategy. Taking into account the com-98 plex gene functions and metabolic intricacies in the PKS-II pathway, the alterations to-99 wards the efflux systems, metabolic pathway inducers, and interaction of DNR/DOX with 100 other elements and substances should be considered to design a hypothetical culture me-101 dia and conditions. 102

In this review, we have discussed several aspects of the production of DNR/DOX by *Streptomyces*, their activity, biosynthesis, gene regulation, toxicity, and how the culture media could be designed for production enhancement based on the interaction of daunomycin with iron and oil and self-resistance property of bacteria. Our prospective idea of strain development and culture media optimisation would benefit the investigators in the microbiology, bioprocessing, therapeutic and industrial biotechnology fields to enhance production with reduced expenses at a commercial level. 110

#### 2. The Anthracycline Producers

The anthracycline compounds occurring in nature are the secondary metabolites pro-112 duced by the Actinobacteria, especially in the genus Streptomyces [27]. Streptomycetes are 113 gram-positive bacteria, thriving in aquatic and terrestrial habitats, possessing a lifecycle 114 similar to filamentous fungi, reproduce through sporulation, and exhibit siderophore ac-115 tivity (breakdown of macromolecules in the environment) and are known for their capac-116 ity to synthesize a variety of secondary metabolites such as antibiotics, enzymes, and pig-117 ments [28,29]. The common metabolites produced by nearly all Streptomyces sp. are sider-118 ophore desferrioxamine (iron chelator), geosmin (earthy smell organic compound), strep-119 tothricin (antibiotic) and streptomycin (antibiotic) [30,31]. The organisms contain a multi-120 tude of biosynthetic gene clusters (BCGs) and transcription units in their genome, which 121 are responsible for the production of secondary metabolites according to the cues in their 122 natural habitat or environment [31]. Approximately 90% of the know antibiotics are ob-123 tained from the organism of the genus Streptomyces. To date, more than 500 naturally oc-124 curring anthracyclines have been isolated from Streptomyces sp., which are widely consid-125 ered medically important [32,33]. Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus is a potentially important 126 Streptomyces bacteria that employs the synthesis of antifungal, antibacterial, immunosup-127 pressive, and antitumor compounds such as doxorubicin and daunorubicin [34-36]. This 128 proliferative ability for synthesizing such metabolites can be altered by influencing varia-129 bles such as nitrogen and carbon sources and culturing conditions such as temperature, 130 pH, and incubation period, which can play a critical role in the economic dynamics in-131 volved in secondary metabolite production. Although the mutagenesis method is the ear-132 liest option, it remains one of the most effective methods for producing high-yield strains 133 in experimental models. The use of physical and chemical mutations in the Streptomyces 134 species has been reported to have enhanced the production of secondary metabolites, es-135 pecially anthracyclines [37-39]. 136

#### 3. Synthesis of Daunomycin

The production of secondary metabolites occurs through two phases: trophophase 138 (normal growth phase), followed by idiophase (capacity to produce metabolites), where, 139

87

111

at times, both phases can be regulated, overlapped and changed with the alterations in 140 media and growth conditions [5]. Enhancing secondary metabolite production can be possible with the development of resistance in the cells as the produced compounds are autotoxic. But in the course of any selection event over the past decades, focusing on improved resistance did not impact or lead to enhanced production. This led to the works on biosynthetic gene cluster alterations and expression enhancement of activator genes transcription factors and increased mutations in promotor genes [5,40]. 140

#### 3.1. Biosynthetic Gene Clusters (BGCs)

147

160

The importance and biosynthesis of daunorubicin and its gene clusters have been 148 characterized by two BGCs in different strains [41,42]. The majority of BGCs share homol-149 ogous genes encoding monofunctional enzymes for the assembly of aglycone units, and 150 the BGC for DNR (daunorubicin) and DOX (doxorubicin) was sequenced in Streptomyces 151 peuctius ATCC 27952, and a 40kb sequence encoding the BGC for DNR, DOX consisting 152 of 37 ORFs (open-reading frames) was identified [43]. The distinctive characteristics 153 among the BCGs include a high abundance of glycosyl transferases, gene sets involved in 154 deoxysugar production and a repertoire of tailoring genes for secondary metabolite. The 155 DNR/DXR biosynthesis is completed in four steps: (A) formation of aglycone (ε-rhodomy-156 cinone), (B) formation of an active sugar moiety (thymidine diphosphate daunosamine), 157 (C) glycosylation of ε-rhodomycinone and (D) post polyketide modifications (decarboxy-158 lation, methylation and hydroxylation) [41,44]. 159

#### 3.1.1. Formation of ε-rhodomycinone

The biosynthesis of DNR starts with the formation of aglycone ε-rhodomycinone, 161 which is the important intermediate, synthesised by the PKS-II synthase by the genes 162 dpsA, dpsB, dpsC, dpsD, dpsE, dpsF, dpsG and dpsY. The nine malonyl-CoA units with a 163 propionyl CoA starter unit undergo serial condensations to form a 21-carbon decaketide, 164 where the multiple reactions are facilitated through the polyketide synthase enzymes. The 165 enzymes are produced by the genes dpsA (3-oxoacyl ACP synthase), dpsB & dpsC (keto-166 synthases), dpsD (acyltransferase) and dpsG (acyl carrier protein) to form a decaketide 167 compound [45]. The *dvsE* (ketoreductase) carries out the ketoreduction of the decaketide. 168 followed by an aldol condensation and ring cyclization (3 steps) through catalyzing en-169 zymes produced by dpsF, dpsY and forms a 12-deoxy alkanoic acid [46]. The intermediate 170 undergoes a dnrG (monooxygenase) mediated reaction, which adds a keto group to form 171 alkalonic acid and is further transformed to aklaviketone by dnrC (alkanoic acid-S-adeno-172 syl-1-methionine methyl ester transferase)- a homodimeric protein [41,47]. The formed 173 aklaviketone intermediate undergoes cyclization by dnrD (alkanoic acid methyl ester 174 cyclase) to form a 7-oxo moiety, which is further reduced to a hydroxy group of aglycone 175 ε-rhodomycinone by dnrH (aklaviketone reductase) and dnrF (hydroxylase) [47]. The bio-176 synthesis of aglycone  $\epsilon$ -rhodomycinone, including the genes involved, is shown in the 177 figure (2A). 178



179 180

184

Figure 2. Biosynthesis pathway and involved genes of daunorubicin (DNR) and doxorubicin (DOX)181in Streptomyces with A) the aglycone moiety synthesis, B) the sugar moiety, and C) the glycosylation182and post-modification steps in DNR/DOX synthesis.183

#### 3.1.2. Formation of a sugar moiety (Thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine)

The biosynthesis of dTDP-L-Daunosamine is initiated from D-glucose-1-phosphate, which is carried out by the BGC, including seven genes *dnmL*, *dnmM*, *dnmU*, *dnmT*, *dnmJ* and *dnmV* [45]. The *dnmL* (transferase) and *dnmM* (dehydratase) catalyse the reaction to generate the intermediate TKDG (thymidine diphosphate-4-6-deoxy-D-glucose). The epimerase produced by *dnmU* converts TKDG to TKLG (thymidine diphosphate-4-6-deoxy-188

5 of 28

L-glucose) through epimerization [48]. The *dnmT* (hydratase) and *dnmJ* (aminotransferase) facilitate the addition of a keto and an amino group at the C-3 position of the TKLG 191 intermediate. The *dnmV* (ketoreductase) reduces the ketone to the hydroxyl group at the C-4 position to produce dTDP-L-Daunosamine [49]. The biosynthesis of an active sugar 193 moiety (Thymidine diphosphate-L-daunosamine), including the genes involved, is shown in figure **(2B)**. 195

#### 3.1.3. Tailoring reactions/modifications in DNR/DOX biosynthesis

The ε-rhodomycinone undergoes glycosylation with dTDP-L-Daunosamine in the 198 presence of enzyme from dnrS/dnrQ to generate rhodomycin D. The dnrP (esterase) con-199 verts rhodomycin D to 13-deoxy-carminomycine, which undergoes an O-methylation by 200 dnrK (methyltransferase) to generate 13-deoxy-daunorubicin [50]. The intermediate un-201 dergoes C-13 oxidation by DoxA (cytochrome P450 enzyme) in two steps to produce 13-202 dihydro daunorubicin and DNR (daunorubicin)[51]. Daunorubicin is hydroxylated later 203 at the C-14 position through DoxA to form DOX (Doxorubicin)[45,52]. The biosynthesis of 204 DNR and DOX, including the genes involved, is shown in figure (2C). 205

#### 3.2. Gene regulation in DNR/DOX biosynthesis

The BGC responsible for the biosynthesis of polyketide and sugar moieties in 207 DNR/DOX also includes the regulatory genes for the initiation, regulation and termina-208 tion of the entire synthesis pathway. The production pathway is regulated by the genes 209 including dnrO, dnrN and dnrI, the transcription factors, where dnrO holds a significant 210 importance in initiating the pathway. The dnrO produces a DNA helix binding domain, 211 which is a key transcriptional regulator that activates the *dnrN* transcriptional activator, 212 which finally leads to the activation of *dnrI*. The *dnrI* encoding enzyme binds to several 213 polyketide synthases and facilitates the activation of efflux regulatory genes and initiation 214 of DNR biosynthesis. The BGC also includes a transcriptional repressor drrD/dnrW, which 215 promotes transcriptional control by coherent feed-forward loop, self-resistance and feed- $21\epsilon$ back regulation [45,53]. The drrD/dnrW regulates the master transcription factor dnrI, 217 which is crucial for the DNR/DOX biosynthesis. Deleting dauW(ortholog of drrD/dnrW in 218 S. ceoruleorubidus) has increased the production of DNR by 8 folds [54]. 219

The maintenance of the produced DNR requires regulation inside the producer or-220 ganism as the compound exhibits toxicity by intercalating with cellular DNA and eventu-221 ally leading to cell death. The regulation of the lethal concentrations of produced DNR 222 inside the cell is conferred by the drrAB locus - includes the drrA and drrB proteins nec-223 essary for the efflux of the finished product [53,55]. The expression and function of drrA 224 and drrB are interdependent on each other at an ATP-driven pump, where DrrA is a pe-225 ripheral membrane protein acting as an energy-transducing unit inside the cell when 226 bound to the ATP in a DOX-dependent manner and drrB is the internal protein with hy-227 drophobicity and helps in the efflux of produced DNR/DOX [56,57]. A mutant strain with-228 out the drrAB has exhibited a decline in DNR production and resulted in cell death, and 229 overexpression of drrAB has resulted in the overproduction of DNR and promoted self-230 resistance [58]. Thus, the self-resistance genes also have an indirect effect on the biosyn-231 thetic pathway in DNR/DOX production [59]. Another resistance gene is drrC, which func-232 tions in the presence of ATP and DNR by binding to the DNR intercalated DNA and pro-233 pelling it outside of the cell. This self-resistance gene maintains cell viability and regulates 234 the lethal concentrations of DNR in a dependent manner, which relies on dnrN and dnrI 235 in the biosynthetic pathway [50]. 236

The entire pathway and its regulation decide the fate of DNR/DOX quantity production in *Streptomyces sp.* Thus, over the past decades, researchers have considered engineering the genes involved in the biosynthesis of aglycone, sugar moiety, tailoring reactions, transcriptional factors, transcriptional repressor and self-resistance to improve DNR/DOX production at an industrial level for commercial uses in cancer medication. The present 241

196

197

7 of 28

techniques of modifying genes to enhance the production of DNR/DOX are not effective 242 due to the complex cellular enzymatic reactions involved. These approaches have not pro-243 vided a clear understanding of the entire mechanism and also could not participate in 244 significant improvement of DOX production. 245

#### 4. Daunomycin Mode of Action

Since their discovery, the DNR and DOX have been extensively employed for treat-247 ing solid tumours but have faced significant drawdown due to their toxic properties. An-248 thracyclines enter cells through cation transport and passive diffusion, eventually leading 249 to alterations in the proteasome and nucleosome [60]. 250

#### 4.1. DNA intercalation

Anthracyclines exhibit a strong affinity for DNA by inserting their aglycone moieties 252 between the base pairs, causing the separation of the existing base pairs, and positioning 253 their sugar components in the minor groove of the DNA [61]. DNR and DOX have a pref-254 erential ability to bind to DNA at GC base pairs of both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA 255 by establishing hydrogen bonding between the hydroxyl group on the C-9 position at 256 aglycone moiety and N2, N3 of guanine[62-64]. This inhibits cellular DNA transcription, 257 replication, recombination and repair, which creates torsional stress. The torsional stress 258 alters the structure (disassociation of H2A/H2B dimers from histone core) and dynamics 259 of nucleosomes [65,66]. The histone eviction caused by DOX/DNR (in H3 due to rich GC 260 base pairs) majorly due to the sugar moiety binding to DNA critically causes chromatin 261 damage, which leads to epigenomic aberrations and transcriptional alterations [60,67]. 262

#### 4.2. Topoisomerase II (Topo II) poisoning

The Topoisomerase II (Topo II) induces double-stranded breaks (DSBs), releases tor-264 sional stress and re-ligates the DNA breaks, ensuring the proper DNA transcription, rep-265 lication and repair [68]. Anthracyline interacts with the Topo II enzyme to form an an-266 thracycline-topoisomerase-DNA quarternary complex. It induces irreversible DNA dam-267 age by preventing the regeneration of phosphodiester bonds between the DNA strands 268 [60]. DNR/DOX intercalates the Topo II DNA with their cyclohexane ring A in aglycone 269 moiety and 4-methoxy group in sugar moiety. The changes in the functionality of Topo II 270 to a DNA nuclease generate genomic instability, activation of DNA damage response and 271 TP53 pathways, eventually leading to cell death [15]. In mammals, the Topo II enzyme is 272 distinguished into isoforms Topo IIa (generate replication forks during mitosis in actively 273 diving cells) and Topo IIB (expressed in most cell types devoid proliferation status), where 274 the DOX interacts with Topo IIB in cardiomyocytes and lead to cardiotoxicity [69,70]. 275

#### 4.3. Formation of DNA adducts

Anthracyclines form DNA adducts between the two strands through covalent and 277 hydrogen bonds with aglycone and sugar moieties, respectively. The DOX-DNA covalent 278 bond in the cancerous cell is facilitated by the cellular formaldehyde, produced due to free 279 radicle reactions with polyamines and lipids is responsible for the block in transcription, 280 DSBs and replication [71]. In-vitro studies using DOX by pre-activated formaldehyde re-281 sulted in the formation of transcriptional blocks through the formation of inter-strand ad-282 duct (G-DOX-G cross-linking), inhibiting the transcription process [72]. The treatment of 283 mice cancer cell lines with DOX leads to the disruption of the replication process and cell 284 cycle arrest through the blocks in [8H]-thymidine [73,74]. The investigations involving 285 DOX and DOX-formaldehyde conjugate on colorectal cancer cell lines for DNA repair 286 mechanisms resulted in DNA adduct-induced damage. The studies also prove the dam-287 age (apoptosis) caused by DOX-DNA adducts is independent and does not rely on the 288 Topo II activity [75-77]. 289

246

251

263

#### 5. Side effects of DNR/DOX

Over the past five decades, DNR/DOX has been significant in cancer treatment; how-291 ever, its application is associated with adverse effects predominantly affecting the bone 292 marrow and cardiac muscle, resulting in bone marrow suppression and cardiotoxicity 293 [15]. Despite efficiently targeting tumour cells, their associated side effects on healthy cells 294 during treatment adversely affect their functionality. The associated effects include acute 295 and reversible chemotherapy-related symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, sto-296 matitis, mucositis, alopecia, gastrointestinal problems, rash, and bone marrow suppres-297 sion [60]. The long-term effects include cardiotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, gonadotoxicity, and 298 several therapy-related malignancies, which impact the patient's quality of life and se-299 verely limit the usage of anthracyclines. Factors like dosage, treatment length, and the 300 patient's individual risk factors determine the possibility of developing anthracycline-re-301 lated adverse effects. 302

#### 5.1.Cardiotoxicty

Cardiotoxicity is a well-documented adverse effect of anthracycline chemotherapy. 304 It encompasses both acute and chronic detrimental impacts on the heart, ranging from 305 myocardial changes, impaired contraction ability, cardiomyopathy, arrhythmias and 306 heart failure necessitating heart transplantation [78,79]. The mechanisms involving the 307 DNR/DOX-induced cardiotoxicity are due to the inhibition of Topoisomerase [80], mito-308 chondrial dysfunction (membrane permeability and transcription enzymes) [81,82], iron 309 ion metabolism, imbalance in calcium homeostasis in cardiac muscles [83], oxidative 310 stress and ROS generation [84], loss of ATP production and cell apoptotic pathways 311 [85,86]. The molecular mechanisms explaining the detailed functioning effects of individ-312 ual DNR/DOX-induced pathways regarding mitochondrial activity and apoptosis were 313 explained here [82,87]. 314

The enzymatic pathways leading to free radical formation in cells are mediated by 315 mitochondria, which hold abundant quantities of phospholipid in their internal mem-316 branes called cardiolipin. DNR/DOX has a high affinity for cardiolipin, which makes its 317 penetration inside the mitochondrial membranes easier [88]. The mitochondrial numbers 318 in cardiomyocytes are typically higher compared to other cellular organelles. Under nor-319 mal conditions, cardiomyocytes hold negligible amounts of active free iron, and most iron 320 is bound to cellular proteins. The DOX/DNR also possess a strong affinity for iron and 321 disrupts the Iron haemostasis in the cells through a redox reaction, reducing the cellular 322 iron and cyclically forming the DOX-Fe complexes between Fe2+ and Fe3+[89]. 323

The derivatives of DNR/DOX can chelate iron from cellular iron-sulfur clusters of cytoplasmic iron regulatory protein 1(IRP-1), making it inactive and diminishing the synthesis of ferritin (iron storage protein). The inactive IRP-1 leads to clevated levels of free intracellular iron [5]. The daunomycin under abundant iron conditions leads to increased cellular ROS (reactive oxygen species) and induces oxidative stress in cardiomyocytes [82,90].

The anthraquinone moiety in anthracyclines can be reduced by NADPH (nicotina-<br/>mide adenine dinucleotide phosphate dehydrogenase) to semiquinone radicals, which331further undergo an oxidation reaction to generate anthraquinone radicals and superoxide<br/>anions (O<sup>2</sup>). The enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD) converts O<sup>2</sup> to hydrogen peroxide<br/>(H2O2). The accumulated H2O2 undergoes the Fenton reaction and produces toxic hy-<br/>droxyl (-OH) radicals, increasing intracellular ROS levels and oxidative stress, leading to<br/>ardiac impairment [91].330

The prevention of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity involves the co-administration of cardio-protectant compounds like dexrazoxane, neuregulin,  $\beta$ -blockers (carvedilol & nebivolol), aldosterone antagonists, atorvastatin, angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), ascorbic acid, and sodium-glucose transport protein-2 inhibitors (SGLT-2) [92,93]. The natural or herbal-derived compounds like polyphenols, alkaloids, saponins, terpenoids 341

## 6

290

and various polysaccharides, along with their positive impacts in model studies for evad-<br/>ing anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity, have been reviewed in detail here [93]. The iron<br/>chelator dexrazoxane reduces anthracycline-dependent ROS generation, oxidative stress,<br/>and DNA double-strand breaks. It has significant clinical efficacy, decreasing cardiae tox-<br/>icity without reducing anthracycline activity or enhancing secondary malignancies. Dex-<br/>razoxane is the only FDA and EMA-approved cardioprotective treatment for anthracy-<br/>cline cardioprotection.342

The early mechanisms of using Fe-(HDOX/HDNR)3 complex compared to the parent 349 compound have higher antitumour activity in P 388 leukaemia cells with reduced cardio-350 toxicity [94]. Unlike its parent compound, the tri-ferric DNR does not catalyse the elec-351 tron's free flow from the NADH to molecular oxygen, thereby reducing the superoxide 352 formation in cells by about 65% [94]. The in-vitro results obtained were in accordance with 353 the Quelamycin [Fe-(HDNR)3], phase I clinical trials [94,95]. Thus, employing the an-354 thracycline drug delivery using the Fe-anthracyline compounds would result in effective 355 antitumour activity with reduced cardiotoxicity. 356

#### 5.2. Redox mechanisms and Oxidative stress

357

367

Anthracyclines cause apoptosis in cells through alteration of the iron-dependent lipid 358 peroxidation. The iron levels increase in the cells through interaction with iron regulation 359 proteins (IRP1,2). The process is mediated by glutathione peroxidase 4 (GP4), where DOX-360 Fe2+ and DOX-Fe3+ adducts are formed and cause the accumulation of lipid-based reactive 361 oxygen species (ROS) [96]. The DOX downregulates the GP4 activity and interacts with 362 genomic and mitochondrial DNA, accumulating iron-DOX adducts and inhibiting the 363 ABCB8 efflux transporter pump. The inhibition or downregulation of the ABCB8 efflux 364 transporter increases DOX-induced toxicity, ROS levels, and cardiomyocyte apoptosis 365 [97]. 366

#### 5.3. ROS alleviation and mitochondrial dysfunction

Cardiomyocytes have a substantially greater number of mitochondria than regular 368 cells to obtain more energy (ATP) for the contraction function. The DOX accumulation in 369 mitochondria is significantly higher than in the cytosol, which causes DOX-induced mi-370 tochondrial impairment increase in ROS in cells [98]. An increase in ROS, a peculiar an-371 thracycline toxicity condition, leads to deformity in cell organelles and membranes and 372 induces cell death. In H9C2 cardiac cells, the DOX-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, 373 together with ROS production and cytochrome C release, activated the Capsase -3 and 374 initiated cell death [99]. DOX stimulates the generation of superoxide anions in Ehrlich 375 cancer cells in a dose-dependent manner. The cyclic process is mediated by NADPH: cy-376 tochrome P-450 reductase, which includes the transfer of electrons from NADPH to DOX 377 to convert to semi-quinone (DOX-SQ), eventually forming an O2 molecule, superoxide an-378 ion (O2) and a DOX molecule. The superoxide dismutase (SOD) converts superoxide an-379 ion to hydrogen peroxide (H2O2), which then undergoes the Fenton reaction to produce 380 hydroxyl radicals [100]. A similar investigation revealed the production of reactive species 381 through the interference of DOX with the iNOS enzyme (nitric oxide cofactor), leading to 382 reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and causing cell death [101]. The DOX alters the ROS pro-383 duction process through interferences in the electron transport system [100.102]. DOX ex-384 hibits a high affinity towards cardiolipin in the mitochondrial membrane, transforming 385 the cardiolipin's attachment ability for cytochrome c and other mitochondrial pro-386 teins and altering the normal function [103]. The DOX can impart irregularities in the mi-387 tochondrial function by creating imbalances in regular fusion and fission, causing mitoph-388 agy and mitochondrial fragmentation. 389

5.4. Lipid dysfunction and cell membrane alterations

DOX has the ability to disrupt the lipid organization in the cell due to its lipophilic 391 nature, where the interaction will the cell and mitochondrial membrane is high. The local-392 ization of DOX in the mitochondria enables it to interact with the inner mitochondrial 393 membrane due to lipid peroxidation, and the resultant lipid aglycone is hard to diffuse 394 out of the membrane to the cytosol. Especially in cardiomyocytes, the mitochondrial dys-395 function leading to the proteotoxic burden is due to this DOX lipid interaction [104,105]. 396 Dox hinders the activity of the phosphatidylserine decarboxylase enzyme (catalytic en-397 zyme for phosphatidylserine to phosphatidylethanolamine), a crucial element of cell 398 membranes, thus leading to cellular membrane dysfunctioning in HeLa cells [106]. 399

#### 5.5. Immune modulation

Anthracycline can promote antitumour activity (ability to gain immunity against cancers) through immunogenic cell death (ICD) by increasing the production of interleukins (ILs), interferon (IFN) gamma protein, DAMs (danger-associated molecules) and Tcells [15,107]. The DAMs can recognise tumour-inducing cells, recruit immune cells and generate inflammatory responses. DOX treatment in mouse colon carcinoma model has resulted in increased tumour-specific CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell response [108].

#### 6. Self-Resistance in microbial factories/non-target species

The microbial cell factories of antibiotics, anthracyclines, and related cytotoxic compounds like filamentous *Actinobacteria* and *Streptomyces* are programmed to deal with the cytotoxic compounds made by them [109,110]. These resistance mechanisms include the expression of resistance genes, efflux systems to pump out anthracyclines, the inactivation of anthracyclines through enzymatic modifications and interaction with other metal elements.

#### 6.1. Resistance genes

The self-resistance developed by the bacteria through the expression of resistance 416 genes is a prerequisite to its survival against the produced toxic (DNA intercalating ma-417 jorly) compounds. Similar to the antibiotic pathway-synthesising genes on BGCs, the re-418 sistance genes are also encoded in the BGCs, which initiates the process of self-resistance 419 through time-space co-ordinated expression or intermediate-dependent (compound pro-420 duced) expression [111]The resistance mechanisms are variable according to BGCs or 421 product type and include target protection, compound inactivation, modification, seques-422 tration, and efflux. 423

In *Streptomyces peucetius,* the genes encoding resistance for DNR/DOX are *drrA, drrB,* 424 and *drrC* unravelled when expressed in *E. coli* and *S. lividans.* The drrA *and* drrB proteins 425 act as drug-efflux complexes produced during the idiophase, while the drrC is produced 426 earlier and facilitates the efflux through drug binding [55,56,112]. 427

#### 6.2. Efflux pumps

Efflux pumps play a pivotal role in conferring multidrug resistance in bacteria by 429 facilitating the expulsion of toxic compounds either produced by the organism or acquired 430 from the external environment [113]. Efflux pumps are the key components of the cell 431 membrane that regulate the internal cellular concentrations of toxic chemicals and ele-432 ments (metal ions) through extrusion and also inhibit the re-entry of compounds to evade 433 toxicity [114,115]. The efflux pumps utilize energy by hydrolysing the ATP and can use 434 the electrochemical or ionic gradient inside the bacterial cells to efflux the toxic com-435 pounds. The efflux systems found in bacterial cells are categorised into six families: ABC 436 (ATP-binding cassette), MATE (multidrug and toxic compound extrusion), PACE (proteo-437 bacterial antimicrobial compound efflux), MFS (major facilitator superfamily), SMR (small 438 multidrug resistance family) and RND (resistance nodulation cell division) [116]. These 439

400

407

408

415

efflux pumps comprise transmembrane protein helices facilitating the translocation of 440 produced secondary metabolites outside the producer organisms [117]. However, despite 441 their varied structural differences, substrate redundancy is prevalent across all the efflux 442 pump families. The DOX/DNR is extruded out by the AbeM efflux pump of the MATE family (using antiporters H<sup>+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup>) in *Acinetobacter baumannii*, whereas the ABC pumps 444 (generally hydrolyse ATP) perform the extrusion in *Streptomuces sp.* [118,119].

#### 6.2.1 ABC Efflux pumps

446

469

486

The ABC (ATP-binding cassette) pumps constitute the most prominent protein fam-447 ilies and are widely present in all living organisms, facilitating the import and export of 448 chemical substances based on their structural architecture and folding [120]. The ABC ef-449 flux pumps in bacteria use energy by hydrolysing ATP and translocating various chemical 450 compounds like sterols, secondary metabolites and lipids across the membrane through 451 12 transmembrane domains (TMDs) and two nucleotide-binding domains (NBDs) 452 [58,121]. The TBDs aid in substrate binding, whereas the NBDs carry the translocation of 453 compounds hydrolvsing ATP. The detailed mechanism and structural diversity of ABC 454 pumps and their activity depending on the arrangement of helices, loops and protein do-455 mains are reviewed by Thomas et al. (2024) [120]. The drrAB transporter system encodes 456 for the efflux of DNR/DOX in S. peucetius, where drrA (peripheral membrane protein) 457 binds to ATP and drrB (hydrophobic membrane protein) enables the translocation acting 458 as resistance mechanism. The subcloning of these drrAB genes in E. coli resulted in similar 459 expression [122]. Several follow-up studies conferred the resistance mechanism of drrAB 460 transporter system and the co-dependence of both proteins in efflux activity [123,124]. A 461 recent study by Dong et al. (2024) conducted on ABC transporter in Streptomyces ceoruleo-462 rubidus yielded significant findings, indicating that the drrAB genes of the DNR BGC fa-463 cilitate the efflux of excess DNR/DOX within the cell. Additionally, the two-component 464 ABC transporters, encoded by drrAB2 and drrAB3 and situated outside the cluster, regu-465 lated by the TetR family regulator DrrR1, were identified as playing a complementary role 466 in the efflux of daunorubicin in S. coeruleorubidus in response to the intracellular accumu-467 lation of daunorubicin [125]. 468

#### 6.3. Inactivation of drug by enzymatic reaction

Resistance mechanisms to evade autotoxicity in microorganisms also include inacti-470 vating or modifying the produced metabolites or antibiotics through enzyme activity. The 471 β-lactamases inhibit the production of Penicillin derivatives and cephalosporins as a re-472 sistance mechanism [126,127]. Likewise, chloramphenicol undergoes modification by 473 acetylation, O-phosphorylation of erythromycin, acetyl, and phosphor transferases mod-474 ify the amino-glycoside antibiotics (kanamycin, gentamycin, streptomycin) as a resistance 475 mechanism [128,129]. The activation of repressor gene dnrH in S.peucetius carries out the 476 glycosylation reaction of the daunosamine sugar to baumycin-like glycosides, thereby 477 preventing the formation of DNR/DOX [130]. Similarly, the doxA gene encoding the cyto-478 chrome P450 oxidase, crucial for three oxidation steps in DNR/DOX development, gets 479 downregulated by the excess concentration of produced daunorubicin inside the Strepto-480myces sp. [51,52]. A detoxification strategy of Streptomyces by reducing the DOX to 7-481 deoxydoxorubicinolone via deglycosylation using NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductases 482 483 was reported [131]. Thus, employing the activation of products through enzymes aids in the inhibition of the intercalation of DNA and evades autotoxicity in the producer organ-484 isms. 485

#### 6.4. Alteration of Drug Targets

Conferring to resistance towards self-toxicity in microorganisms also involves the alteration of the drug targets. Such modifications inhibit the interaction of produced me-488

\_\_\_\_

11 of 28

tabolites- cellular components like ribosomes, DNA and topoisomerases [53]. Upregula-489tion of genes responsible for methylation for DNA and Topo II alteration in response to490evade self-toxicity from produced DNR/DOX is a resistance mechanism exhibited by491Streptomyces sp. Thus, deciphering such systems and enhancing their activity can lead to492improved production by the strain in industrial settings [53,132].493

#### 7. Interaction of DNR/DOX with iron

Daunomycin is the chelator of iron, where ionic forms of iron (Fe2+ and Fe3+) bind to 495 specific functional groups of anthraquinone moiety and form stable complexes [133]. The 496 quinone group at position 5 and hydroxy group at position 6 on the aglycone part of DNR 497 act as the binding sites for iron by donating electrons. The DNR also has a side chain with 498 hydroxyl groups which can donate lone pair of electrons and bind to iron [133]. Both fer-499 rous (Fe2+) and ferric (Fe3+) forms of iron bind to daunomycin, where Fe2+ is highly reactive 500 and readily participate in redox cycling and alter between ionic states and Fe3+ is less re-501 active and form stable complexes [134,135]. This stabilization activity can be employed for 502 the therapeutic purposes. The first tri-ferric doxorubicin compound, named Ouelamycin, 503 a metallic derivative of the Adriamycin prepared was through chelation in the presence 504 of Fe (III) [136]. The compound has been reported to be highly stable in phase I clinical 505 trials and P 388 leukaemia cells, where the cytosolic components do not degrade the com-506 pound, and it also inhibits the free flow of electrons from NADH to oxygen molecules in 507 cells [94,95,135] The bond strength of the iron-DNR complex is high, and the chelation ac-508 tivity can be reversible or disassociated in high acidic pH (lower) conditions and in the 509 presence of iron-binding compounds like transferrin and ferritin. 510

#### 8. Interaction of DNR/DOX with oil

511 512

521

494

The anthracycline compounds daunorubicin and idarubicin are lipophilic and their 513 interaction mechanisms with the lipids are studied using various experiments [137-139]. 514 Oils and the oleic acid being non-polar, bind to the hydrophobic regions on the anthra-515 guinone mojety, which is often used in therapeutic formulation. The liposome-associated 516 doxorubicin was reported to have reduced systemic and cardiotoxicity in clinical trials for 517 humans and mice [140-142]. The daunorubicin is encapsulated by the liposomes (phos-518 pholipid vesicles) and exploited for drug delivery mechanism [143,144]. The interactions 519 and their practical implications are clearly reviewed here [145]. 520

#### 9. Culture Media for metabolites production in *Streptomyces* sp.

The production of antibiotics at a large scale is a combinatorial effect which relies 522 upon the strain efficiency, ability to utilise the available nutrients, physical conditions and 523 productivity of the metabolites. The primary nutrients like carbon, nitrogen and phospho-524 rus, along with minor mineral elements, remain the major constituents of the culturing 525 media responsible for the growth and production of necessary chemical compounds in 526 Streptomyces sp. Carbon serves as a prominent energy source, nitrogen is responsible for 527 cell growth and metabolism, and phosphates assist in the production of metabolites [146]. 528 To date, many investigations over the decades have concentrated on improving secondary 529 metabolites using strain engineering via genetic alterations. However, the culmination of 530 improved levels of metabolite production through extensive genetic research remains un-531 promising due to the intricate metabolic mechanisms involved, as reviewed in the biosyn-532 thesis and gene regulation sections. Additional investigations employing modifications in 533 media have the potential to result in more streamlined and economical techniques for 534 manufacturing daunomycin and other crucial antibiotics in Streptomyces. 535

The DNR/DOX compounds are produced in the late growth phase through a multitude of enzymatic reactions by the *Streptomyces* strains, utilizing nutrients [147]. The host cells synthesizing the secondary metabolites in nature ( $\mu$ g/L) are not sufficient to achieve 538

12 of 28

the harvest at the desired quantities (g/L) on an industrial fermentation scale [148]. So, the 539 efficient native strains are screened and improved through metabolic engineering (con-540 temporary), mutations (traditional) and selections. However, the highest yields are 541 achieved through the combination of several approaches in strain development, suitable 542 culture media composition and well-optimised fermentation conditions. The complete ge-543 nomic sequencing of the model actinomycete Streptomyces coelicolor revealed the presence 544 of multiple genes in the Streptomyces genome that can break down complex carbohydrates 545 and proteins [149]. This facilitates utilizing various carbon and nitrogen sources to opti-546 mise culture media. The production of metabolites is also linked to factors like nutrients 547 available in culture media and fermentation conditions (temperature, light, oxygen and 548 pH) [147,148]. The optimisation of media and the source of nutrients remained a major 549 variable factor in the growth of strains and the production of metabolites for several dec-550 ades. 551

552 553

581

#### 9.1. Carbon source

Glucose or sugars are the most often utilized carbon sources in industrial fermenta-554 tion due to their low cost and high availability, even though they inhibit secondary me-555 tabolite synthesis [32,146,150]. The carbon source serves as the vital controlling agent for 556 secondary metabolite production in Streptomyces, as transcriptional activation or carbon 557 catabolite repression (CCR) is dependent on the source and concentration of carbon 558 [146,150,151]. Carbon from sugars like glucose, maltose, glycerol, sucrose, mannose, and 559 xylose has been reported to interfere with the production of more than 30 types of second-560 ary metabolites (mostly antibiotics) in Streptomyces sp. [150,152]. The synthesis of Doxoru-561 bicin in S. peucetius has been impeded by the utilization of glucose and galactose as the 562 carbon source in the culture medium [153]. Sugar carbon in the media at an industrial 563 level leads to an increase in acidification and triggers feedback inhibition through pro-564 duced intermediates. 565

The erythromycin yield in Saccharopolyspora erythraea at the industrial level using oil 566 and soy flour has been improved to 3.5g/L compared to the dextrin control [154]. Clavu-567 lanic acid production in Streptomyces clavuligerus has been improved using Olive oil as a 568 sole carbon source [155]. Employing soybean oil as a source of carbon has enhanced the 569 production of FK506 (tacrolimus), an immunosuppressant polyketide by 88.8% in Strepto-570 myces tsukubaensis [156]. Enhanced production of DOX (1100mg/L) was achieved by mu-571 tation treatment (UV and ART-plasma) and soybean oil as a carbon source in Streptomyces 572 peucetius SIPI-11 [157]. Increased levels of salinomycin production and improved TAG 573 (triacylglycerol) metabolism were observed in Streptomyces albus ZD11 using soybean oil 574 as a carbon source in culture media [158]. Oil utilisation has also benefited from imparting 575 the activity as an antifoam at the industrial scale of fermentation. The breakdown of oils 576 supports the activity of malonyl Co-A and Acetyl Co-A, which are essential for the bio-577 synthesis of secondary metabolites. Thus, employing an oil-based carbon source instead 578 of sugar in combination with optimised fermentation conditions and selection would en-579 hance DNR/DOX production. 580

#### 9.2. Nitrogen source

The source and concentration of nitrogen in the media also remain a vital factor for 582 secondary metabolite production. Nitrogen in the form of ammonia is mostly preferred 583 by microorganisms, and the genera Streptomyces naturally possess a constant nitrogen ac-584 quisition and metabolism to ensure their survival [152,159]. Streptomyces assimilate am-585 monia through glutamate dehydrogenase in ammonia-rich conditions and glutamine syn-586 thetase pathways in ammonia-deficient conditions [146]. The influence of various regula-587 tory mechanisms of nitrogen in Streptomyces has been clearly reviewed in [160]. The forms 588 or sources of nitrogen, like ammonium, nitrate, amino acids, and polyamines, have an 589

impact on the production of secondary metabolites in *Streptomyces* [152,160]. Specific concentrations of various nitrogen sources can be used to quantify the yield of different actinobacterial compounds in *Streptomyces* according to their industrial relevance. 9.3. *Phosphorus source* 

Phosphorus, in the form of inorganic phosphate, is the crucial element acting as the 594 building blocks for nucleotides, proteins, and several regulatory signalling cascades [161]. 595 The concentration of phosphate in cells significantly impacts the production of secondary 596 metabolites in Streptomyces and related actinobacteria [162]. Increased concentrations of 597 phosphates in media (>10mM) have resulted in decreased yields of antibiotic production, 598 whereas the lower concentration (<0.1mM) has positively increased the secondary metab-599 600 olite production, implying the significance of phosphates on biosynthetic pathways [163,164]. The limited availability of phosphate results in nutritional stress and initiates 601 the secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways. In phosphate-rich conditions, the Strep-602 tomyces convert phosphate to polyphosphate and accumulate, which aids in cellular me-603 tabolism. The regulation of phosphate in Streptomyces is carried out through a two-com-604 ponent mechanism, PhoR-PhoP, clearly reviewed elsewhere [165,166]. 605

#### 9.4. Other elements

A well-established culture media including all these macro components together 607 with the essential microelements like Fe, Ca, Zn, S, etc, results in the enhancement of sec-608 ondary metabolites yield. The use of rare earth elements in the culture medium for Strep-609 tomyces sp. is reported to activate the BCG's cluster for secondary metabolite production 610 [167]. Tanaka et al. (2010) used scandium and lanthanum in medium for the cultivation of 611 Streptomyces coelicolor and reported an increase in activity by 2.5 to 12-fold [168]. Optimi-612 zation and standardization of culture media, considering pH, combinations of nutrients, 613 agitation, and temperature, have resulted in enhanced production of daunomycin in 614 Streptomyces sp. [36,157] 615

#### 10. Engineering culture media – in Prospect of improved DNR/DOX production

Over the past decades, genetic alterations have been frequently used to enhance the 617 production of metabolites in Streptomyces, improving regulatory gene expression, modi-618 fying resistance, developing efflux mechanisms, and possible combinations with strain 619 development. However, modifications to the culture media can also potentially improve 620 production yields. A considerable amount of research is lacking in this area, but strategies 621 employed for other polyketide synthesis in Streptomyces relevant to daunomycin can pro-622 vide promising insights into the enhancement of production devoid of complex and ex-623 pensive gene editing methods. 624

The prominent effect of DOX/DNR is its autotoxicity by intercalating with the DNA 625 in the producers when the concentration increases. The prospective idea of this article is 626 to prepare culture media for cultivating Streptomyces sp. based on binding DNR with Iron 627 or reduced forms of iron after effluxed from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex 628 is encapsulated by the oleic acid or lipid micelle layers present in the culture medium, 629 converting the produced DNR/DOX to inactive forms and settling with the DNR-iron-oil 630 complex, as shown in Figure 3. Therefore, this hypothesis can safeguard the producer 631 strain from toxicity and avoid the inhibition of metabolite production. 632

632 633

590

591

592

593

606



**Figure 3.** Schematic representation of enhancement of daunorubicin in *Streptomyces* based on strain alterations (boosting elicitors by triclosan) and tailor-made media composition (oil, iron salts and phytomaterials).

#### 10.1. Perturbation of metabolite biosynthesis in Streptomyces sp.

The overexpression of regulatory genes in BGCs and downregulation of repression genes and factors have always remained as prominent approaches in the metabolic engi-642 neering of Streptomyces for metabolite production [32,45,169]. On the contrary, the availa-643 bility of biosynthetic precursors also serves as a key factor that is generated primarily by 644 carbon catabolism in the organisms [170,171]. Perturbation is the supply of precursors for 645 modulating biosynthesis to improve cells' ability to enhance secondary metabolite pro-646 duction. The ARCs (antibiotic remodelling compounds) screened from Streptomyces coeli-647 color A3(2) are known to stimulate metabolite production by acting as precursors [172]. 648 The ARC2, similar to the antimicrobial compound triclosan, has been reported to partially 649 inhibit fatty acid synthesis, utilize the acetyl CoA for polyketide biosynthesis and improve 650 the actinorhodin yield in S. coelicolor [172,173]. Using triclosan as an elicitor of polyketide 651 biosynthesis in Streptomyces sp. has been reported to overproduce metabolites like oligo-652 mycin, salinomycin, erythromycin, and actinorhodin. [171,174,175]. 653

#### 10.2. Media construction for three-way interaction (DOX/DNR-iron-oligolipid).

The achievement of prospective three-way interaction from figure 3 can be achieved 655 from distinctive methods under a single hood with critical optimization of conditions like 656 pH, temperature, pressure, incubation time and initial components like natural chelators, 657 metal salts and nutrient sources. The biosynthesis of FeO and Fe ion particles from their 658 salts like FeCl3 using phytoextracts has been employed in nanoparticle synthesis over dec-659 ades [176,177]. The phytic acid present in plants, cereals, and legumes has a tremendous 660 metal chelation potential [178]. The phytate-metal complex is stable and cannot be liber-661 ated in wide pH ranges. Phytates from soybean or soy-derived products have high iron 662 binding ability, which is considered a major drawback in diet and nutrition [179,180]. 663 Thus, utilizing soybean phytates in the culture medium facilitates iron binding and che-664 lation 665

As discussed in the above carbon sources section, the oil source of carbon in the culture media for *Streptomyces* describes its prominence in the improved production in several instances, including erythromycin [154], clavulanic acid [155], doxorubicin [156], salinomycin [158] and josamycin [181]. Employing crude oils, including the raw plant parts with phytic acid contents, will deliver the nutrient carbon source and act as a reducing 670

15 of 28

654

 agent for iron in the media. Crude oils of soybean and pomace have enhanced clavulanic
 671

 acid production in *Streptomyces*, which is also a waste-to-value strategy [155,182]. The
 672

 crude plant oil substrate used for the cultivation media forms micelles due to elevated
 673

 temperature and pressure during autoclaving and encapsulation of Fe<sup>2+</sup>/Fe<sup>3+</sup> particles. Af 674

 ter inoculation of the perturbated *Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* culture to the cultivation
 675

 media, the production of daunorubicin takes place and is effluxed out into the cultivation
 676

Considering the lipophilic nature of daunorubicin, the produced, effluxed 678 DOX/DNR into the medium can interact with the oligolipid surface layer with Fe ion par-679 ticles from the oil-based medium [137]. The interaction between anthracycline and metal 680 ions, especially iron, has the potential to form complexes that demonstrate high stability 681 constants in the medium [183]. The produced and effluxed DOX/DNR by the Streptomy-682 ces strain interacts directly with the Fe-micelle to form a DOX-Fe-micelle complex 683 [90,95,184]. Thus, the catchment of the produced metabolite in an inactive form helps in 684 evasion of the toxicity to the producer organism. 685

Streptomycetes are also well-known for their metal resistance, which involves their 686 intricate intracellular iron homeostasis mechanisms [185]. As a defensive strategy, the re-687 duced iron entering the cells is segregated and secreted externally through ABC pumps. 688 The defensive strategy of Streptomyces in effluxing the excess DNR/DOX re-initiates the 689 production of new DNR/DOX molecules inside the cells, resulting in improved produc-690 tivity. Therefore, the enhancement of the daunomycin production in Streptomyces using 691 this media construction approach can be established with reduced costs and negligible 692 metabolic engineering of strains. 693

Our group intends to perform protoplast fusion with the wild strain of Streptomyces 694 coeruleorubidus followed by triclosan treatment to achieve high DNR-producing strain and 695 optimize efficient medium to reduce downstream processing and expenses. After consid-696 ering various C and N sources, a final combination of crude olive oil, defatted sova flour, 697 dried yeasts, yeast extract, calcium carbonate, basic salts, and iron sulfate was selected as 698 the production medium for enhancing the production of daunomycin. Iron, either in bi-699 valent or trivalent form, was identified as the crucial element influencing the production 700 and purification processes significantly. The use of an iron-based medium simplified the 701 whole process; no sequential feeding was required. Daunomycin is not present free in the 702 medium, just in particles (pellets) or adhered to mycelial structures. About 95% can be 703 removed by centrifugation of about 14,000 g or by filtration. Daunomycin is produced as 704 an intact dark violet sediment from which it can be extracted by acids. The outcome of the 705 study holds a significant future for therapeutic advancements and strategies in both on-706 cology and microbiology in terms of the production of various other secondary metabo-707 lites of similar or related characteristics as daunomycin (Unpublished data). 708

Moreover, the complex of iron and anthracyclines is known to be less cardiotoxic 709 than their original counterparts [94,134]. A similar interaction has been reported in Adri-710 amycin: iron complex with phosphatidylcholine in the presence of oxygen to form a com-711 pound similar to cardiolipin [186]. The liposome-associated doxorubicin was reported to 712 have reduced systemic and cardiotoxicity in clinical trials for humans and mice [140-142] 713 . Thus, the three-way compound can also be employed for a liposomal drug delivery ap-714 proach after extensive trials. Additional investigations in this field could result in more 715 streamlined and economically feasible techniques for manufacturing daunomycin and 716 other crucial secondary metabolites. 717

#### 11. Conclusion

The authors conclude that this review is fabricated with the aim to use a traditional 719 method of switching in cultivation media sugar to oil-based and develop the *Streptomyces* 720 *ceoruleorubidus* strain in a contemporary way to favour the active usage of lipids as a 500 concept of energy and also entrap the produced DNR/DOX with iron present in the medium. This approach would enhance the production of DNR/DOX by the strain, and the 723

produced metabolite does not interact with the producing strain and evades self-toxicity. 724 However, over the past decades, the efforts of various groups working with the enhance-725 ment of daunomycin, and doxorubicin production have involved the engineering of the 726 strain (gene regulation, resistance genes development, metabolic pathway regulation) and 727 using sugar-based media; our prospective approach sheds light on the topic in a different 728 approach which remains first report in the context of daunomycin production. Adapting 729 this strategy would improve yield and also benefit the extraction of the derived com-730 pound (DNR/DOX) by reducing the expenses at a large-scale fermentation. 731 732 Author Contributions: Conceptualization, V.M.; methodology, V.M., K.B., and B.P.; validation, V.M., K.B. and B.P.; resources, B.P., V.C; writing—original draft preparation, B.P.; writing—review and editing, B.P., V.M., A.B., J.L., R.V., and J.B.; visualization, B.P., K.B., and V.M.; supervision, V.M., 733 734 735 V.C.; funding acquisition, A.B., and J.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version 736 of the manuscript. 737 Funding: 738 Acknowledgements: The authors would like to express their gratitude to the University of South 739 Bohemia in the Czech Republic for its financial and infrastructural support. 740 741

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

18 of 28

	References	743
1.	Dinis, P.; Tirkkonen, H.; Wandi, B.N.; Siitonen, V.; Niemi, J.; Grocholski, T.; Metsä-Ketelä, M. Evolution-Inspired Engineering of	744
	Anthracycline Methyltransferases. PNAS Nexus 2023, 2, pgad009, https://doi.org/10.1093/pnasnexus/pgad009.	745
2.	Shapiro, C.L.; Recht, A. Side Effects of Adjuvant Treatment of Breast Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 2001, 344, 1997-2008,	746
	https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200106283442607.	747
3.	Weiss, R.B. The Anthracyclines: Will We Ever Find a Better Doxorubicin? Semin Oncol 1992, 19, 670-686.	748
4.	Murabito, A.; Russo, M.; Ghigo, A. Mitochondrial Intoxication by Anthracyclines. In Mitochondrial Intoxication; Elsevier, 2023; pp.	749
	299–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-88462-4.00025-0	750
5.	Minotti, G.; Menna, P.; Salvatorelli, E.; Cairo, G.; Gianni, L. Anthracyclines: Molecular Advances and Pharmacologie Developments	751
	in Antitumor Activity and Cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev 2004, 56, 185–229. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.56.2.6	752
6.	McGowan, J. v.; Chung, R.; Maulik, A.; Piotrowska, I.; Walker, J.M.; Yellon, D.M. Anthracycline Chemotherapy and Cardiotoxicity.	753
	Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 2017, 31, 63–75, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10557-016-6711-0.	754
7.	Brockmann, H.; Brockmann Jr., H. Rhodomycine, VIII; Antibiotica Aus Actinomyceten, L. &-Rhodomycinon. Chem Ber 1963, 96, 1771-	755
	1778, https://doi.org/10.1002/cber.19630960705.	756
8.	Metsä-Ketelä, M.; Niemi, J.; Mäntsälä, P.; Schneider, G. Anthracycline Biosynthesis: Genes, Enzymes and Mechanisms. In	757
	Anthracycline Chemistry and Biology I: Biological Occurence and Biosynthesis, Synthesis and Chemistry; Krohn, K., Ed.; Springer Berlin	758
	Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008; pp. 101–140 ISBN 978-3-540-75815-0.	759
9.	Fujiwara, A.; Hoshino, T.; Westley, J.W. Anthracycline Antibiotics. Crit Rev Biotechnol 1985, 3, 133-157,	760
	https://doi.org/10.3109/07388558509150782.	761
10.	Hortobágyi, G.N. Anthracyclines in the Treatment of Cancer. Drugs 1997, 54, 1–7, https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-199700544-00003.	762
11.	Arcamone, F.; Franceschi, G.; Orezzi, P.; Cassinelli, G.; Barbieri, Wanda.; Mondelli, Rosanna. Daunomycin. I. The Structure of	763
	Daunomycinone. J Am Chem Soc 1964, 86, 5334-5335, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01077a059.	764
12.	Bayles, C.E.; Hale, D.E.; Konieczny, A.; Anderson, V.D.; Richardson, C.R.; Brown, K. v; Nguyen, J.T.; Hecht, J.; Schwartz, N.; Kharel,	765
	M.K.; et al. Upcycling the Anthracyclines: New Mechanisms of Action, Toxicology, and Pharmacology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2023,	766
	459, 116362, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2022.116362.	767
13.	Drevin, G.; Briet, M.; Bazzoli, C.; Gyan, E.; Schmidt, A.; Dombret, H.; Orvain, C.; Giltat, A.; Recher, C.; Ifrah, N.; et al. Daunorubicin	768
	and Its Active Metabolite Pharmacokinetic Profiles in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia Patients: A Pharmacokinetic Ancillary Study of the	769
	BIG-1 Trial. Pharmaceutics 2022, 14, https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics14040792.	770
14.	Aubel-Sadron, G.; Londos-Gagliardi, D. Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin, Anthracycline Antibiotics, a Physicochemical and Biological	771
	Review. Biochimie 1984, 66, 333–352, https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9084(84)90018-X.	772
15.	van der Zanden, S.Y.; Qiao, X.; Neefjes, J. New Insights into the Activities and Toxicities of the Old Anticancer Drug Doxorubicin.	773
	FEBS J <b>2021</b> , 288, 6095–6111, https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15583.	774
16.	Arcamone, F. Antitumor Anthracyclines: Recent Developments. Med Res Rev 1984, 4, 153-188,	775
	https://doi.org/10.1002/med.2610040203.	776
17.	Ainger, L.E.; Bushore, J.; Johnson, W.W.; Children's Research Hospital, S.J.; Ito, J. Daunomycin: A Cardiotoxic Agent* Professor of	777
	Pediatrics, Meharry Medical College; Vol. 63;.	778
18.	Bossa, R.; Galatulas, I.; Mantovani, E. Cardio-Toxicity of Daunomycin and Adriamycin. Neoplasma 1977, 24, 405-409.	779
19.	Von Hoff, D.D.; Rozencweig, M.; Layard, M.; Slavik, M.; Muggia, F.M. Daunomycin-Induced Cardiotoxicity in Children and Adults:	780
	A Review of 110 Cases. Am J Med 1977, 62, 200–208, https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(77)90315-1.	781
20.	Hegazy, M.; Ghaleb, S.; Das, B.B. Diagnosis and Management of Cancer Treatment-Related Cardiac Dysfunction and Heart Failure	782
	in Children. Children 2023, 10, 149, https://doi.org/10.3390/children10010149.	783

21.	Swain, S.M.; Whaley, F.S.; Ewer, M.S. Congestive Heart Failure in Patients Treated with Doxorubicin. Cancer 2003, 97, 2869–2879,	784
	https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11407.	785
22.	Behranvand, N.; Nasri, F.; Zolfaghari Emameh, R.; Khani, P.; Hosseini, A.; Garssen, J.; Falak, R. Chemotherapy: A Double-Edged	786
	Sword in Cancer Treatment. Cancer Immunol, Immunother 2022, 71, 507-526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-021-03013-3	787
23.	Sui, X.; Chen, R.; Wang, Z.; Huang, Z.; Kong, N.; Zhang, M.; Han, W.; Lou, F.; Yang, J.; Zhang, Q.; et al. Autophagy and Chemotherapy	788
	Resistance: A Promising Therapeutic Target for Cancer Treatment. Cell Death Dis 2013, 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.350	789
24.	Xiao, M.; Cai, J.; Cai, L.; Jia, J.; Xie, L.; Zhu, Y.; Huang, B.; Jin, D.; Wang, Z. Let-7e Sensitizes Epithelial Ovarian Cancer to Cisplatin	790
	through Repressing DNA Double Strand Break Repair. J Ovarian Res 2017, 10, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13048-017-0321-8.	791
25.	Demaria, M.; O'Leary, M.N.; Chang, J.; Shao, L.; Liu, S.; Alimirah, F.; Koenig, K.; Le, C.; Mitin, N.; Deal, A.M.; et al. Cellular	792
	Senescence Promotes Adverse Effects of Chemotherapy and Cancer Relapse. Cancer Discov 2017, 7, 165-176,	793
	https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0241.	794
26.	Bagnyukova, T.; Serebriiskii, I.G.; Zhou, Y.; Hopper-Borge, E.A.; Golemis, E.A.; Astsaturov, I. Chemotherapy and Signaling: How	795
	Can Targeted Therapies Supercharge Cytotoxic Agents? Cancer Biol Ther 2010, 10, 839-853, https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.10.9.13738	796
27.	Ait, B.E.; Parul, V.; Lisa, S.; Nathalie, GV.; Cedric, J.; Hans-Peter, K.; Christophe, C.; Yder, O.; P, van W.G. Taxonomy, Physiology,	797
	and Natural Products of Actinobacteria. Microbiol Molecular Biol Rev 2015, 80, 1–43, https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00019-15.	798
28.	Sarkar, G.; Suthindhiran, K. Diversity and Biotechnological Potential of Marine Actinomycetes from India. Indian J Microbiol 2022, 62,	799
	475-493, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-022-01024-x.	800
29.	Fenical, W.; Jensen, P.R. Developing a New Resource for Drug Discovery: Marine Actinomycete Bacteria. Nat Chem Biol 2006, 2, 666-	801
	673, https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio841.	802
30.	Martín-Sánchez, L.; Singh, K.S.; Avalos, M.; van Wezel, G.P.; Dickschat, J.S.; Garbeva, P. Phylogenomic Analyses and Distribution of	803
	Terpene Synthases among Streptomyces. Beilstein Journal of Organic Chemistry 2019, 15, 1181–1193, https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc.15.115.	804
31.	Zhu, H.; Sandiford, S.K.; van Wezel, G.P. Triggers and Cues That Activate Antibiotic Production by Actinomycetes. J Ind Microbiol	805
	Biotechnol 2014, 41, 371–386, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-013-1309-z.	806
32.	Hulst, M.B.; Grocholski, T.; Neefjes, J.J.C.; van Wezel, G.P.; Metsä-Ketelä, M. Anthracyclines: Biosynthesis, Engineering and Clinical	807
	Applications. Nat Prod Rep 2022, 39, 814–841, https://doi.org/10.1039/D1NP00059D.	808
33.	Elshahawi, S.I.; Shaaban, K.A.; Kharel, M.K.; Thorson, J.S. A Comprehensive Review of Glycosylated Bacterial Natural Products.	809
	Chem Soc Rev 2015, 44, 7591–7697, https://doi.org/10.1039/C4CS00426D.	810
34.	Li, M.; Zhang, Z. The SnogI Gene Is Necessary for the Proper Functioning of the Nogalamycin Biosynthesis Pathway. Indian J Microbiol	811
	2021, 61, 467–474, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-021-00941-7.	812
35.	Kandula, S.K.; Terli, R. Production, Purification and Characterization of an Antimicrobial Compound from Marine Streptomyces	813
	Coeruleorubidus BTSS-301. J Pharm Res 2013, 7, 397-403, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopr.2013.04.047.	814
36.	Bundale, S.; Begde, D.; Nashikkar, N.; Kadam, T.; Upadhyay, A. Optimization of Culture Conditions for Production of Bioactive	815
	Metabolites by <i>Streptomyces</i> Spp. Isolated from Soil. Adv Microbiol 2015, 05, 441-451,	816
	https://doi.org/10.4236/aim.2015.56045.	817
37.	Oki, T.; Matsuzawa, Y.; Kiyoshima, K.; Yoshimoto, A.; Naganawa, H.; Takeuchi, T.; Umezawa, H. New Anthracyclines, Feudomycins,	818
	Produced by the Mutant from Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus ME130-A4; 1981, https://doi.org/10.7164/antibiotics.34.783	819
38.	Blumauerova, M.; Pokorny, V.; Vani, L.Z. Developmental Mutants of Streptomyces Coeruleorubidus, a Producer of Anthracyclines:	820
	Isolation and Preliminary Characterization; Folia Microbiol 1978, 23, 177–182, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02876576 .	821
39.	Zhang, H.; Lu, D.; Li, X.; Feng, Y.; Cui, Q.; Song, X. Heavy Ion Mutagenesis Combined with Triclosan Screening Provides a New	822
	Strategy for Improving the Arachidonic Acid Yield in Mortierella Alpina. BMC Biotechnol 2018, 18, 23, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-	823
	018-0437-y.	824

40.	Ohnuki, T.; Imanaka, T.; Aiba, S. Self-Cloning in Streptomyces Griseus of an Str Gene Cluster for Streptomycin Biosynthesis and	825
	Streptomycin Resistance. J Bacteriol 1985, 164, 85–94, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.164.1.85-94.1985.	826
41.	Grimm, A.; Madduri, K.; Ali, A.; Hutchinson, C.R. Characterization of the Streptomyces Peucetius ATCC 29050 Genes Encoding	827
	Doxorubicin Polyketide Synthase. Gene 1994, 151, 1-10, https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(94)90625-4.	828
42.	Dickens, M.L.; Ye, J.; Strohl, W.R. Analysis of Clustered Genes Encoding Both Early and Late Steps in Daunomycin Biosynthesis by	829
	Streptomyces Sp. Strain C5. J Bacteriol 1995, 177, 536–543, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.3.536-543.1995.	830
43.	Parajuli, N.; Basnet, D.B.; Chan Lee, H.; Sohng, J.K.; Liou, K. Genome Analyses of Streptomyces Peucetius ATCC 27952 for the	831
	Identification and Comparison of Cytochrome P450 Complement with Other Streptomyces. Arch Biochem Biophys 2004, 425, 233–241,	832
	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2004.03.011.	833
44.	Hutchinson, C.R. Biosynthetic Studies of Daunorubicin and Tetracenomycin C. Chem Rev 1997, 97, 2525-2536,	834
	https://doi.org/10.1021/cr960022x.	835
45.	Shrestha, B.; Pokhrel, A.R.; Darsandhari, S.; Parajuli, P.; Sohng, J.K.; Pandey, R.P. Engineering Streptomyces Peucetius for	836
	Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin Biosynthesis. In Pharmaceuticals from Microbes: The Bioengineering Perspective; Arora, D., Sharma, C.,	837
	Jaglan, S., Lichtfouse, E., Eds.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2019; pp. 191-209 ISBN 978-3-030-01881-8.	838
	https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01881-8_7	839
46.	Wohlert, SE.; Lomovskaya, N.; Kulowski, K.; Fonstein, L.; Occi, J.L.; Gewain, K.M.; MacNeil, D.J.; Hutchinson, C.R. Insights about	840
	the Biosynthesis of the Avermectin Deoxysugar <span class="small">L</span> -Oleandrose through Heterologous Expression of	841
	<pre><em>Streptomyces Avermitilis</em> Deoxysugar Genes in <em>Streptomyces Lividans</em>. Chem Biol 2001, 8, 681-700,</pre>	842
	https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-5521(01)00043-6.	843
47.	Madduri, K.; Hutchinson, C.R. Functional Characterization and Transcriptional Analysis of the DnrRI Locus, Which Controls	844
	Daunorubicin Biosynthesis in Streptomyces Peucetius. J Bacteriol 1995, 177, 1208–1215, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.5.1208-1215.1995.	845
48.	Gallo, M.A.; Wardlt, J.; Hutchinson'#, C.R. The DnrM Gene in Streptomyces Peucetius Contains a Naturally Occurring Frameshift Mutation	846
	That Is Suppressed by Another Locus Outside of the Daunorubicin-Production Gene Cluster; 1996; Vol. 142, https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-	847
	142-2-269.	848
49.	Otten, S.L.; Gallo, M.A.; Madduri, K.; Liu, X.; Hutchinson, C.R. Cloning and Characterization of the Streptomyces Peucetius	849
	DnmZUV Genes Encoding Three Enzymes Required for Biosynthesis of the Daunorubicin Precursor Thymidine Diphospho-L-	850
	Daunosamine. J Bacteriol 1997, 179, 4446–4450, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.13.4446-4450.1997.	851
50.	Furuya, K.; Richard Hutchinson, C. The DrrC Protein of Streptomyces Peucetius, a UvrA-like Protein, Is a DNA-Binding Protein	852
	Whose Gene Is Induced by Daunorubicin. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1998, 168, 243–249, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13280.x.	853
51.	Dickens, M.L.; Priestley, N.D.; Strohl, W.R. In Vivo and in Vitro Bioconversion of Epsilon-Rhodomycinone Glycoside to Doxorubicin:	854
	Functions of DauP, DauK, and DoxA. J Bacteriol 1997, 179, 2641-2650, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.8.2641-2650.1997.	855
52.	Walczak, R.J.; Dickens, M.L.; Priestley, N.D.; Strohl, W.R. Purification, Properties, and Characterization of Recombinant Streptomyces Sp.	856
	Strain C5 DoxA, a Cytochrome P-450 Catalyzing Multiple Steps in Doxorubicin Biosynthesis; <b>1999</b> ; Vol.	857
	181;https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.181.1.298-304.1999.	858
53.	Vasanthakumar, A.; Kattusamy, K.; Prasad, R. Regulation of Daunorubicin Biosynthesis in Streptomyces Peucetius - Feed Forward	859
	and Feedback Transcriptional Control. J Basic Microbiol 2013, 53, 636-644, https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200302.	860
54.	Yuan, T.; Yin, C.; Zhu, C.; Zhu, B.; Hu, Y. Improvement of Antibiotic Productivity by Knock-out of DauW in Streptomyces	861
	Coeruleobidus. Microbiol Res 2011, 166, 539-547, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.10.006.	862
55.	Guilfoile, P.G.; Hutchinson, C.R. A Bacterial Analog of the Mdr Gene of Mammalian Tumor Cells Is Present in Streptomyces	863
	Peucetius, the Producer of Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1991, 88, 8553-8557,	864
	https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.19.8553.	865

56.	Kaur, P. Expression and Characterization of DrrA and DrrB Proteins of Streptomyces Peucetius in Escherichia Coli: DrrA Is an ATP	866
	Binding Protein. J Bacteriol 1997, 179, 569–575, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.3.569-575.1997.	867
57.	Kaur, P.; Rao, D.K.; Gandlur, S.M. Biochemical Characterization of Domains in the Membrane Subunit DrrB That Interact with the	868
	ABC Subunit DrrA: Identification of a Conserved Motif. Biochemistry 2005, 44, 2661-2670, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi048959c.	869
58.	Li, W.; Sharma, M.; Kaur, P. The DrrAB Efflux System of Streptomyces Peucetius Is a Multidrug Transporter of Broad Substrate	870
	Specificity*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2014, 289, 12633–12646, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.536136.	871
59.	Srinivasan, P.; Palani, S.N.; Prasad, R. Daunorubicin Efflux in Streptomyces Peucetius Modulates Biosynthesis by Feedback	872
	Regulation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2010, 305, 18–27, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01905.x.	873
60.	Mattioli, R.; Ilari, A.; Colotti, B.; Mosca, L.; Fazi, F.; Colotti, G. Doxorubicin and Other Anthracyclines in Cancers: Activity,	874
	Chemoresistance and Its Overcoming. Mol Aspects Med 2023, 93, 101205, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2023.101205.	875
61.	Comings, D.E.; Drets, M.E. Mechanisms of Chromosome Banding. Chromosoma 1976, 56, 199–211, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00293185.	876
62.	Chaires, J.B.; Herrera, J.E.; Waring, M.J. Preferential Binding of Daunomycin to 5'TACG and 5'TAGC Sequences Revealed by	877
	Footprinting Titration Experiments. Biochemistry 1990, 29, 6145–6153, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00478a006.	878
63.	Nunn, C.M.; Van Meervelt, L.; Zhang, S.; Moore, M.H.; Kennard, O. DNA-Drug Interactions: The Crystal Structures of d(TGTACA)	879
	and d(TGATCA) Complexed with Daunomycin. J Mol Biol 1991, 222, 167–177, https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(91)90203-I.	880
64.	Ashley, N.; Poulton, J. Mitochondrial DNA Is a Direct Target of Anti-Cancer Anthracycline Drugs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009,	881
	378, 450–455, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.11.059.	882
65.	Gupta, P.; Zlatanova, J.; Tomschik, M. Nucleosome Assembly Depends on the Torsion in the DNA Molecule: A Magnetic Tweezers	883
	Study. Biophys J 2009, 97, 3150–3157, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2009.09.032.	884
66.	Martins-Teixeira, M.B.; Carvalho, I. Antitumour Anthracyclines: Progress and Perspectives. ChemMedChem 2020, 15, 933-948,	885
	https://doi.org/10.1002/cmdc.202000131.	886
67.	Pang, B.; de Jong, J.; Qiao, X.; Wessels, L.F.A.; Neefjes, J. Chemical Profiling of the Genome with Anti-Cancer Drugs Defines Target	887
	Specificities. Nat Chem Biol 2015, 11, 472-480, https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1811.	888
68.	Nitiss, J.L. DNA Topoisomerase II and Its Growing Repertoire of Biological Functions. Nat Rev Cancer 2009, 9, 327-337,	889
	https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2608.	890
69.	Zhang, S.; Liu, X.; Bawa-Khalfe, T.; Lu, LS.; Lyu, Y.L.; Liu, L.F.; Yeh, E.T.H. Identification of the Molecular Basis of Doxorubicin-	891
	Induced Cardiotoxicity. Nat Med 2012, 18, 1639-1642, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2919.	892
70.	Lyu, Y.L.; Kerrigan, J.E.; Lin, CP.; Azarova, A.M.; Tsai, YC.; Ban, Y.; Liu, L.F. Topoisomerase IIB–Mediated DNA Double-Strand	893
	Breaks: Implications in Doxorubicin Cardiotoxicity and Prevention by Dexrazoxane. Cancer Res 2007, 67, 8839-8846,	894
	https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1649.	895
71.	Kato, S.; Burke, P.J.; Koch, T.H.; Bierbaum, V.M. Formaldehyde in Human Cancer Cells: Detection by Preconcentration-Chemical	896
	Ionization Mass Spectrometry. Anal Chem 2001, 73, 2992–2997, https://doi.org/10.1021/ac001498q.	897
72.	Cullinane, C.; Phillips, D.R. In Vitro Transcription Analysis of DNA Adducts Induced by Cyanomorpholinoadriamycin. Biochemistry	898
	<b>1992</b> , <i>31</i> , 9513–9519, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00155a001.	899
73.	Forrest, R.A.; Swift, L.P.; Rephaeli, A.; Nudelman, A.; Kimura, KI.; Phillips, D.R.; Cutts, S.M. Activation of DNA Damage Response	900
	Pathways as a Consequence of Anthracycline-DNA Adduct Formation. Biochem Pharmacol 2012, 83, 1602–1612,	901
	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.02.026.	902
74.	Bilardi, R.A.; Kimura, KI.; Phillips, D.R.; Cutts, S.M. Processing of Anthracycline-DNA Adducts via DNA Replication and	903
	Interstrand Crosslink Repair Pathways. Biochem Pharmacol 2012, 83, 1241–1250, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.01.029.	904
75.	Spencer, D.M.S.; Bilardi, R.A.; Koch, T.H.; Post, G.C.; Nafie, J.W.; Kimura, KI.; Cutts, S.M.; Phillips, D.R. DNA Repair in Response	905
	to Anthracycline-DNA Adducts: A Role for Both Homologous Recombination and Nucleotide Excision Repair. Mutation	906
	Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 2008, 638, 110–121, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2007.09.005.	907
76.	Barthel, B.L.; Mooz, E.L.; Wiener, L.E.; Koch, G.G.; Koch, T.H. Correlation of in Situ Oxazolidine Formation with Highly Synergistic	908
-----	--	-----
	Cytotoxicity and DNA Cross-Linking in Cancer Cells from Combinations of Doxorubicin and Formaldehyde. J Med Chem 2016, 59,	909
	2205-2221, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01956.	910
77.	Swift, L.P.; Rephaeli, A.; Nudelman, A.; Phillips, D.R.; Cutts, S.M. Doxorubicin-DNA Adducts Induce a Non-Topoisomerase II-	911
	Mediated Form of Cell Death. Cancer Res 2006, 66, 4863-4871, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3410.	912
78.	Grenier, M.A.; Lipshultz, S.E. Epidemiology of Anthracycline Cardiotoxicity in Children and Adults. Semin Oncol 1998, 25, 72-85.	913
79.	Weingart, S.N.; Zhang, L.; Sweeney, M.; Hassett, M. Chemotherapy Medication Errors. Lancet Oncol 2018, 19, e191-e199,	914
	https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30094-9.	915
80.	Henriksen, P.A. Anthracycline Cardiotoxicity: An Update on Mechanisms, Monitoring and Prevention. Heart 2018, 104, 971,	916
	https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2017-312103.	917
81.	Su, É.; Villard, C.; Manneville, JB. Mitochondria: At the Crossroads between Mechanobiology and Cell Metabolism. Biol Cell 2023,	918
	115, e2300010, https://doi.org/10.1111/boc.202300010.	919
82.	Xie, S.; Sun, Y.; Zhao, X.; Xiao, Y.; Zhou, F.; Lin, L.; Wang, W.; Lin, B.; Wang, Z.; Fang, Z.; et al. An Update of the Molecular	920
	$Me chanisms \ Underlying \ Anthracycline \ Induced \ Cardiotoxicity. \ Front \ Pharmacol \ 2024, 15, \ https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2024.1406247.$	921
83.	Sala, V.; Della Sala, A.; Hirsch, E.; Ghigo, A. Signaling Pathways Underlying Anthracycline Cardiotoxicity. Antioxid Redox Signal 2020,	922
	32, 1098–1114, https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2020.8019.	923
84.	Henninger, C.; Fritz, G. Statins in Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity: Rac and Rho, and the Heartbreakers. Cell Death Dis 2018, 8,	924
	e2564–e2564, https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2016.418.	925
85.	Meng, L.; Lin, H.; Zhang, J.; Lin, N.; Sun, Z.; Gao, F.; Luo, H.; Ni, T.; Luo, W.; Chi, J.; et al. Doxorubicin Induces Cardiomyocyte	926
	Pyroptosis via the TINCR-Mediated Posttranscriptional Stabilization of NLR Family Pyrin Domain Containing 3. J Mol Cell Cardiol	927
	2019, 136, 15-26, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2019.08.009.	928
86.	Zhang, T.; Zhang, Y.; Cui, M.; Jin, L.; Wang, Y.; Lv, F.; Liu, Y.; Zheng, W.; Shang, H.; Zhang, J.; et al. CaMKII Is a RIP3 Substrate	929
	Mediating Ischemia- and Oxidative Stress-Induced Myocardial Necroptosis. Nat Med 2016, 22, 175-182,	930
	https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4017.	931
87.	Bansal, N.; Adams, M.J.; Ganatra, S.; Colan, S.D.; Aggarwal, S.; Steiner, R.; Amdani, S.; Lipshultz, E.R.; Lipshultz, S.E. Strategies to	932
	Prevent Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity in Cancer Survivors. Cardio-Oncology 2019, 5, 18, https://doi.org/10.1186/s40959-019-	933
	0054-5.	934
88.	de Wolf, F.A. Binding of Doxorubicin to Cardiolipin as Compared to Other Anionic Phospholipids-An Evaluation of Electrostatic	935
	Effects. Biosci Rep 1991, 11, 275–284, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01127503.	936
89.	Myers, C.E.; Gianni, L.; Simone, C.B.; Klecker, R.; Greene, R. Oxidative Destruction of Erythrocyte Ghost Membranes Catalyzed by	937
	the Doxorubicin-Iron Complex. Biochemistry 1982, 21, 1707–1713, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00537a001.	938
90.	Xu, X.; Persson, H.L.; Richardson, D.R. Molecular Pharmacology of the Interaction of Anthracyclines with Iron. Mol Pharmacol 2005,	939
	68, 261, https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.105.013383.	940
91.	Winterbourn, C.C. Toxicity of Iron and Hydrogen Peroxide: The Fenton Reaction. Toxicol Lett 1995, 82-83, 969-974,	941
	https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4274(95)03532-X.	942
92.	Bertorello, N.; Luksch, R.; Bisogno, G.; Haupt, R.; Spallarossa, P.; Cenna, R.; Fagioli, F. Cardiotoxicity in Children with Cancer Treated	943
	with Anthracyclines: A Position Statement on Dexrazoxane. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2023, 70, e30515, https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.30515.	944
93.	Szponar, J.; Niziński, P.; Dudka, J.; Kasprzak-Drozd, K.; Oniszczuk, A. Natural Products for Preventing and Managing Anthracycline-	945
	Induced Cardiotoxicity: A Comprehensive Review. Cells 2024, 13(13), 1151; https://doi.org/10.3390/cells13131151	946
94.	Beraldo, H.; Garnier-Suillerot, A.; Tosi, L.; Lavelle, F. Iron(III)-Adriamycin and Iron(III)-Daunorubicin Complexes: Physicochemical	947
	Characteristics, Interaction with DNA, and Antitumor Activity. Biochemistry 1985, 24, 284–289, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00323a007.	948

9	5.	Cortés-Funes, H.; Brugarolas, A.; Gosálvez, M. Quelamycin: A Summary of Phase I Clinical Trials. In Cancer Chemo- and	949
		Immunopharmacology: 1. Chemopharmacology; Mathé, G., Muggia, F.M., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1980; pp.	950
		200-206, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-81488-4_25.	951
9	6.	Fang, X.; Wang, H.; Han, D.; Xie, E.; Yang, X.; Wei, J.; Gu, S.; Gao, F.; Zhu, N.; Yin, X.; et al. Ferroptosis as a Target for Protection	952
		against Cardiomyopathy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2019, 116, 2672–2680, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821022116.	953
93	7.	Menon, A.V.; Kim, J. Iron Promotes Cardiac Doxorubicin Retention and Toxicity Through Downregulation of the Mitochondrial	954
		Exporter ABCB8. Front Pharmacol 2022, 13, https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.817951.	955
9	8.	Berthiaume, J.M.; Wallace, K.B. Adriamycin-Induced Oxidative Mitochondrial Cardiotoxicity. Cell Biol Toxicol 2007, 23, 15-25,	956
		https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-006-0140-y.	957
9	9.	Green, P.S.; Leeuwenburgh, C. Mitochondrial Dysfunction Is an Early Indicator of Doxorubicin-Induced Apoptosis. Biochimica et	958
		Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease 2002, 1588, 94–101, https://doi.org/10.1016/50925-4439(02)00144-8.	959
1	00.	Doroshow, J.H. Mechanisms of Anthracycline-Enhanced Reactive Oxygen Metabolism in Tumor Cells. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2019,	960
		2019, 9474823, https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/9474823.	961
1	01.	Ghigo, A.; Li, M.; Hirsch, E. New Signal Transduction Paradigms in Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity. Biochimica et Biophysica	962
		Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research 2016, 1863, 1916–1925, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2016.01.021.	963
1	02.	Pourahmad, J.; Salimi, A.; Seydi, E. Role of Oxygen Free Radicals in Cancer Development and Treatment. In Free Radicals and Diseases;	964
		Ahmad, R., Ed.; IntechOpen: Rijeka, 2016; p. Ch. 17 ISBN 978-953-51-2747-5.	965
1	03.	Goormaghtigh, E.; Huart, P.; Praet, M.; Brasseur, R.; Ruysschaert, JM. Structure of the Adriamycin-Cardiolipin Complex: Role in	966
		Mitochondrial Toxicity. Biophys Chem 1990, 35, 247-257, https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-4622(90)80012-V.	967
1	04.	Tacar, O.; Sriamornsak, P.; Dass, C.R. Doxorubicin: An Update on Anticancer Molecular Action, Toxicity and Novel Drug Delivery	968
		Systems. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 2013, 65, 157–170, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.2012.01567.x.	969
1	05.	Lv, X.; Yu, X.; Wang, Y.; Wang, F.; Li, H.; Wang, Y.; Lu, D.; Qi, R.; Wang, H. Berberine Inhibits Doxorubicin-Triggered Cardiomyocyte	970
		Apoptosis via Attenuating Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Increasing Bcl-2 Expression. PLoS One 2012, 7,	971
		e47351,https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047351 .	972
1	06.	Bellance, N.; Furt, F.; Melser, S.; Lalou, C.; Thoraval, D.; Maneta-Peyret, L.; Lacombe, D.; Moreau, P.; Rossignol, R. Doxorubicin	973
		Inhibits Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase and Modifies Mitochondrial Membrane Composition in Hela Cells. Int J Mol Sci 2020, 21,	974
		https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21041317.	975
1	07.	Ma, Y.; Aymeric, L.; Locher, C.; Mattarollo, S.R.; Delahaye, N.F.; Pereira, P.; Boucontet, L.; Apetoh, L.; Ghiringhelli, F.; Casares, N.; et	976
		al. Contribution of IL-17–Producing $\Gamma\delta$ T Cells to the Efficacy of Anticancer Chemotherapy. <i>Journal of Experimental Medicine</i> 2011, 208,	977
		491-503, https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20100269.	978
1	08.	Casares, N.; Pequignot, M.O.; Tesniere, A.; Ghiringhelli, F.; Roux, S.; Chaput, N.; Schmitt, E.; Hamai, A.; Hervas-Stubbs, S.; Obeid,	979
		M.; et al. Caspase-Dependent Immunogenicity of Doxorubicin-Induced Tumor Cell Death. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2005, 202,	980
		1691–1701, https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20050915.	981
1	09.	Hopwood, D.A. How Do Antibiotic-Producing Bacteria Ensure Their Self-Resistance before Antibiotic Biosynthesis Incapacitates	982
		Them? Mol Microbiol 2007, 63, 937–940, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05584.x.	983
1	10.	Julian, D.; Dorothy, D. Origins and Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 2010, 74, 417-433,	984
		https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00016-10.	985
1	11.	Mak, S.; Xu, Y.; Nodwell, J.R. The Expression of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Antibiotic-Producing Bacteria. Mol Microbiol 2014, 93,	986
		391–402, https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12689.	987
1	12.	Lomovskaya, N.; Hong, S.K.; Kim, S.U.; Fonstein, L.; Furuya, K.; Hutchinson, R.C. The Streptomyces Peucetius DrrC Gene Encodes	988
		a UvrA-like Protein Involved in Daunorubicin Resistance and Production. J Bacteriol 1996, 178, 3238-3245,	989
		https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.11.3238-3245.1996.	990

113.	Webber, M.A.; Piddock, L.J. V The Importance of Efflux Pumps in Bacterial Antibiotic Resistance. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy	991
	<b>2003</b> , <i>51</i> , 9–11, https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkg050.	992
114.	Bazzi, W.; Abou Fayad, A.G.; Nasser, A.; Haraoui, LP.; Dewachi, O.; Abou-Sitta, G.; Nguyen, VK.; Abara, A.; Karah, N.; Landecker,	993
	H.; et al. Heavy Metal Toxicity in Armed Conflicts Potentiates AMR in A. Baumannii by Selecting for Antibiotic and Heavy Metal	994
	Co-Resistance Mechanisms. Front Microbiol 2020, 11, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00068.	995
115.	V, P.L.J. Clinically Relevant Chromosomally Encoded Multidrug Resistance Efflux Pumps in Bacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev 2006, 19,	996
	382–402, https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.19.2.382-402.2006.	997
116.	Du, D.; Wang-Kan, X.; Neuberger, A.; van Veen, H.W.; Pos, K.M.; Piddock, L.J. V; Luisi, B.F. Multidrug Efflux Pumps: Structure,	998
	Function and Regulation. Nat Rev Microbiol 2018, 16, 523–539, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0048-6.	999
117.	Gaurav, A.; Bakht, P.; Saini, M.; Pandey, S.; Pathania, R. Role of Bacterial Efflux Pumps in Antibiotic Resistance, Virulence, and	1000
	Strategies to Discover Novel Efflux Pump Inhibitors. Microbiology (United Kingdom) 2023, 169, https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.001333.	1001
118.	Abdi, S.N.; Ghotaslou, R.; Ganbarov, K.; Mobed, A.; Tanomand, A.; Yousefi, M.; Asgharzadeh, M.; Kafil, H.S. Acinetobacter	1002
	Baumannii Efflux Pumps and Antibiotic Resistance. Infect Drug Resist 2020, 13, 423-434, https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.5228089.	1003
119.	Zack, K.M.; Sorenson, T.; Joshi, S.G. Types and Mechanisms of Efflux Pump Systems and the Potential of Efflux Pump Inhibitors in	1004
	the Restoration of Antimicrobial Susceptibility, with a Special Reference to Acinetobacter Baumannii. Pathogens 2024, 13(3), 197;	1005
	https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens13030197	1006
120.	Thomas, C.; Tampé, R. Annual Review of Biochemistry Structural and Mechanistic Principles of ABC Transporters. 2024, 22, 18,	1007
	https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-011520.	1008
121.	Jacek, L.; N, K.W.; M, D.A.J. Distribution and Physiology of ABC-Type Transporters Contributing to Multidrug Resistance in Bacteria.	1009
	Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 2007, 71, 463–476, https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00001-07.	1010
122.	Kaur, P.; Russell, J. Biochemical Coupling between the DrrA and DrrB Proteins of the Doxorubicin Efflux Pump of <em>Streptomyces</em>	1011
	Peucetius *. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1998, 273, 17933–17939, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.28.17933.	1012
123.	Méndez, C.; Salas, J.A. The Role of ABC Transporters in Antibiotic-Producing Organisms: Drug Secretion and Resistance	1013
	Mechanisms. Res Microbiol 2001, 152, 341-350, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0923-2508(01)01205-0.	1014
124.	Li, W.; Rao, D.K.; Kaur, P. Dual Role of the Metalloprotease FtsH in Biogenesis of the DrrAB Drug Transporter *. Journal of Biological	1015
	Chemistry 2013, 288, 11854–11864, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.441915.	1016
125.	Dong, J.; Ning, J.; Tian, Y.; Li, H.; Chen, H.; Guan, W. The Involvement of Multiple ABC Transporters in Daunorubicin Efflux in	1017
	Streptomyces Coeruleorubidus. Microb Biotechnol 2024, 17, e70023, https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.70023.	1018
126.	Essack, S.Y. The Development of β-Lactam Antibiotics in Response to the Evolution of β-Lactamases. Pharm Res 2001, 18, 1391–1399,	1019
	https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012272403776.	1020
127.	Bush, K. Proliferation and Significance of Clinically Relevant β-Lactamases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2013, 1277, 84–90,	1021
	https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12023.	1022
128.	Murray, I.A.; Shaw, W. V MiniReview: O-Acetyltransferases for Chloramphenicol and Other Natural Products; Antimicrobial Agents	1023
	Chemother, <b>1997</b> ; Vol. 41.	1024
129.	O'Hara, K.; Kanda, T.; Ohmiya, K.; Ebisu, T.; Kono, M. Purification and Characterization of Macrolide 2'-Phosphotransferase from a	1025
	Strain of Escherichia Coli That Is Highly Resistant to Erythromycin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1989, 33, 1354-1357,	1026
	https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.33.8.1354.	1027
130.	Scotti, C.; Hutchinson, C.R. Enhanced Antibiotic Production by Manipulation of the Streptomyces Peucetius DnrH and DnmT Genes	1028
	Involved in Doxorubicin (Adriamycin) Biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 1996, 178, 7316–7321, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.24.7316-7321.1996.	1029
131.	Westman, E.L.; Canova, M.J.; Radhi, I.J.; Koteva, K.; Kireeva, I.; Waglechner, N.; Wright, G.D. Bacterial Inactivation of the Anticancer	1030
	Drug Doxorubicin. Chem Biol 2012, 19, 1255–1264, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.08.011.	1031

- 132. Ma, Y.; North, B.J.; Shu, J. Regulation of Topoisomerase II Stability and Activity by Ubiquitination and SUMOylation: Clinical Implications for Cancer Chemotherapy. *Mol Biol Rep* **2021**, *48*, 6589–6601, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-021-06665-7.
- Zweier, J.L.; Gianni, L.; Muindi, J.; Myers, C.E. Differences in O2 Reduction by the Iron Complexes of Adriamycin and Daunomycin: 1034 The Importance of the Sidechain Hydroxyl Group. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects* 1986, 884, 326–336, 1035 https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4165(86)90181-9.
- Fiallo, M.; Laigle, A.; Garnier-Suillerot, A.; Amirand, C.; Ballini, J.-P.; Chinsky, L.; Duquesne, M.; Jolles, B.; Sureau, F.; Turpin, P.-Y.;
   et al. Interactions of Iron-Anthracycline Complexes with Living Cells: A Microspectrofluorometric Study. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA) Molecular Cell Res* 1993, 1177, 236–244, https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4889(93)90119-A.
- Fiallo, M.M.L.; Garnier-Suillerot, A. Metal Anthracycline Complexes as a New Class of Anthracycline Derivatives. Palladium(II) Adriamycin and Palladium(II)-Daunorubicin Complexes: Physicochemical Characteristics and Antitumor Activity. *Biochemistry* 1986, 1041
   25, 924–930, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00352a028.
- Gosálvez, M.; Blanco, M.F.; Vivero, C.; Vallés, F. Quelamycin, a New Derivative of Adriamycin with Several Possible Therapeutic
   Advantages. European Journal of Cancer (1965) 1978, 14, 1185–1190, https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2964(78)90224-4.
   1044
- 137. Alves, A.C.; Nunes, C.; Lima, J.; Reis, S. Daunorubicin and Doxorubicin Molecular Interplay with 2D Membrane Models. Colloids Surf
   1045
   B Biointerfaces 2017, 160, 610–618, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.09.058.
   1046
- Matyszewska, D. The Influence of Charge and Lipophilicity of Daunorubicin and Idarubicin on Their Penetration of Model Biological 1047
   Membranes Langmuir Monolayer and Electrochemical Studies. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Biomembranes* 2020, 1862, 183104, 1048
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2019.183104. 1049
- Ribeiro, J.A.; Silva, F.; Pereira, C.M. Electrochemical Study of the Anticancer Drug Daunorubicin at a Water/Oil Interface: Drug
   Lipophilicity and Quantification. Anal Chem 2013, 85, 1582–1590, https://doi.org/10.1021/ac3028245.
   1051
- Gabizon, A.; Peretz, T.; Sulkes, A.; Amselem, S.; Ben-Yosef, R.; Ben-Baruch, N.; Catane, R.; Biran, S.; Barenholz, Y. Systemic
   Administration of Doxorubicin-Containing Liposomes in Cancer Patients: A Phase I Study. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol* 1989, 25, 1795–
   1803, https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5379(89)90350-7.
- Amselem, S.; Cohen, R.; Druckmann, S.; Gabizon, A.; Goren, D.; Abra, R.M.; Huang, A.; New, R.; Barenholz, Y. Preparation and 1055 Characterization of Liposomal Doxorubicin for Human Use. J Liposome Res 1992, 2, 93–123, https://doi.org/10.3109/08982109209039903. 1056
- 142. Gabizon, A.; Meshorer, A.; Barenholz, Y. Comparative Long-Term Study of the Toxicities of Free and Liposome-Associated 1057 Doxorubicin in Mice After Intravenous Administration2. *JNCI: J Natl Cancer Ins* **1986**, *77*, 459–469. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/77.2.459. 1058
- Juliano, R.L.; Stamp, D. Pharmacokinetics of Liposome-Encapsulated Anti-Tumor Drugs: Studies with Vinblastine, Actinomycin D,
   Cytosine Arabinoside, and Daunomycin. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1978, 27, 21–27, https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(78)90252-6.
   1060
- 144.
   Mussi, S. V; Sawant, R.; Perche, F.; Oliveira, M.C.; Azevedo, R.B.; Ferreira, L.A.M.; Torchilin, V.P. Novel Nanostructured Lipid Carrier
   1061

   Co-Loaded with Doxorubicin and Docosahexaenoic Acid Demonstrates Enhanced in Vitro Activity and Overcomes Drug Resistance
   1062

   in MCF-7/Adr Cells. *Pharm Res* 2014, 31, 1882–1892, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-013-1290-2.
   1063
- 145.
   Rodrigues da Silva, G.H.; de Moura, L.D.; de Carvalho, F.V.; Geronimo, G.; Mendonça, T.C.; de Lima, F.F.; de Paula, E.
   1064

   Antineoplastics Encapsulated in Nanostructured Lipid Carriers. Molecules 2021, 26, https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26226929.
   1065
- Rokem, J.S.; Lantz, A.E.; Nielsen, J. Systems Biology of Antibiotic Production by Microorganisms. Nat Prod Rep 2007, 24, 1262–1287, 1066
   https://doi.org/10.1039/B617765B.
- Sánchez, S.; Chávez, A.; Forero, A.; García-Huante, Y.; Romero, A.; Sánchez, M.; Rocha, D.; Sánchez, B.; Ávalos, M.; Guzmán-Trampe,
   S.; et al. Carbon Source Regulation of Antibiotic Production. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 2010, 63, 442–459, https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2010.78.
- Bilyk, O.; Luzhetskyy, A. Metabolic Engineering of Natural Product Biosynthesis in Actinobacteria. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2016, 42, 98– 107, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2016.03.008.

- 149. Bentley, S.D.; Chater, K.F.; Cerdeño-Tárraga, A.-M.; Challis, G.L.; Thomson, N.R.; James, K.D.; Harris, D.E.; Quail, M.A.; Kieser, H.; 1072 Harper, D.; et al. Complete Genome Sequence of the Model Actinomycete Streptomyces Coelicolor A3(2). Nature 2002, 417, 141-147, 1073 https://doi.org/10.1038/417141a.
- 150. Ruiz, B.; Chávez, A.; Forero, A.; García-Huante, Y.; Romero, A.; Sánchez, M.; Rocha, D.; Sánchez, B.; Rodríguez-Sanoja, R.; Sánchez, 1075 S.; et al. Production of Microbial Secondary Metabolites: Regulation by the Carbon Source. Crit Rev Microbial 2010, 36, 146-167, 1076 https://doi.org/10.3109/10408410903489576 1077
- Hodgson, D.A. Primary Metabolism and Its Control in Streptomycetes: A Most Unusual Group of Bacteria. In Advances in Microbial 151. 1078 Physiology; Academic Press, 2000; Vol. 42, pp. 47-238 ISBN 0065-2911. 1079
- 152. Romero-Rodríguez, A.; Rocha, D.; Ruiz-Villafán, B.; Guzmán-Trampe, S.; Maldonado-Carmona, N.; Vázquez-Hernández, M.; 1080 Zelarayán, A.; Rodríguez-Sanoja, R.; Sánchez, S. Carbon Catabolite Regulation in Streptomyces: New Insights and Lessons Learned. 1081 World J Microbiol Biotechnol 2017, 33, 162, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-017-2328-0. 1082
- Escalante, L.; Ramos, I.; Imriskova, I.; Langley, E.; Sanchez, S. Glucose Repression of Anthracycline Formation in Streptomyces 153. 1083 Peucetius Var. Caesius. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1999, 52, 572-578, https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530051562. 1084
- Hamedi, J.; Malekzadeh, F.; Saghafi-nia, A.E. Enhancing of Erythromycin Production by Saccharopolyspora Erythraea with Common 154. 1085 and Uncommon Oils. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2004, 31, 447-456, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-004-0166-1. 1086
- Efthimiou, G.; Thumser, A.E.; Avignone-Rossa, C.A. A Novel Finding That Streptomyces Clavuligerus Can Produce the Antibiotic 155. 1087 Clavulanic Acid Using Olive Oil as a Sole Carbon Source. J Appl Microbiol 2008, 105, 2058–2064, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-1088 1089
- Wang, J.; Liu, H.; Huang, D.; Jin, L.; Wang, C.; Wen, J. Comparative Proteomic and Metabolomic Analysis of Streptomyces 156. 1090 Tsukubaensis Reveals the Metabolic Mechanism of FK506 Overproduction by Feeding Soybean Oil. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2017, 1091 101, 2447-2465, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8136-5. 1092
- 157. Wang, X.; Tian, X.; Wu, Y.; Shen, X.; Yang, S.; Chen, S. Enhanced Doxorubicin Production by Streptomyces Peucetius Using a 1093 Combination of Classical Strain Mutation and Medium Optimization. Prep Biochem Biotechnol 2018, 48, 514-521, 1094 https://doi.org/10.1080/10826068.2018.1466156. 1095
- Han, L.; Jiaxiu, W.; Jianxin, D.; Yudong, L.; Yongquan, L.; Yinghu, C.; Wenjun, G. Enhanced Triacylglycerol Metabolism Contributes 158. 1096 to Efficient Oil Utilization and High-Level Production of Salinomycin in Streptomyces Albus ZD11. Appl Environ Microbiol 2020, 86, 1097 e00763-20, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00763-20. 1098
- 159. Tiffert, Y.; Franz-Wachtel, M.; Fladerer, C.; Nordheim, A.; Reuther, J.; Wohlleben, W.; Mast, Y. Proteomic Analysis of the GlnR-1099 Mediated Response to Nitrogen Limitation in Streptomyces Coelicolor M145. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2011, 89, 1149-1159, 1100 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3086-9. 1101
- Krysenko, S. Impact of Nitrogen-Containing Compounds on Secondary Metabolism in Streptomyces Spp.-A Source of Metabolic 160. 1102 Engineering Strategies. SynBio 2023, 1, 204-225, https://doi.org/10.3390/synbio1030015. 1103
- van Wezel, G.P.: McDowall, K.J. The Regulation of the Secondary Metabolism of Streptomyces: New Links and Experimental 161. 1104 Advances. Nat Prod Rep 2011, 28, 1311-1333, https://doi.org/10.1039/C1NP00003A. 1105
- Barreiro, C.: Martínez-Castro, M. Regulation of the Phosphate Metabolism in Streptomyces Genus; Impact on the Secondary 162. 1106 Metabolites. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2019, 103, 1643-1658, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-09600-2. 1107
- 163. F. M.I. Phosphate Control of the Biosynthesis of Antibiotics and Other Secondary Metabolites Is Mediated by the PhoR-PhoP System: 1108 An Unfinished Storv. J Bacteriol 2004, 186, 5197-5201, https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.186.16.5197-5201.2004. 1109
- Romero-Rodríguez, A.; Maldonado-Carmona, N.; Ruiz-Villafán, B.; Koirala, N.; Rocha, D.; Sánchez, S. Interplay between Carbon, 164. 1110 Nitrogen and Phosphate Utilization in the Control of Secondary Metabolite Production in Streptomyces. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 1111 2018, 111, 761-781, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-018-1073-1. 1112

165.	Allenby, N.E.E.; Laing, E.; Bucca, G.; Kierzek, A.M.; Smith, C.P. Diverse Control of Metabolism and Other Cellular Processes in	1113
	Streptomyces Coelicolor by the PhoP Transcription Factor: Genome-Wide Identification of in Vivo Targets. Nucleic Acids Res 2012,	1114
	40, 9543–9556, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks766.	1115
166.	Martín, J.F.; Liras, P. The Balance Metabolism Safety Net: Integration of Stress Signals by Interacting Transcriptional Factors in	1116
	Streptomyces and Related Actinobacteria. Front Microbiol 2020, 10, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.03120.	1117
167.	Hosaka, T.; Ohnishi-Kameyama, M.; Muramatsu, H.; Murakami, K.; Tsurumi, Y.; Kodani, S.; Yoshida, M.; Fujie, A.; Ochi, K.	1118
	Antibacterial Discovery in Actinomycetes Strains with Mutations in RNA Polymerase or Ribosomal Protein S12. Nat Biotechnol 2009,	1119
	27, 462–464, https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1538.	1120
168.	Tanaka, Y.; Hosaka, T.; Ochi, K. Rare Earth Elements Activate the Secondary Metabolite-Biosynthetic Gene Clusters in Streptomyces	1121
	Coelicolor A3(2). J Antibiot (Tokyo) 2010, 63, 477-481, https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2010.53.	1122
169.	Méndez, C.; Salas, J.A. Engineering Glycosylation in Bioactive Compounds by Combinatorial Biosynthesis. In Proceedings of the	1123
	Biocombinatorial Approaches for Drug Finding; Wohlleben, W., Spellig, T., Müller-Tiemann, B., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg:	1124
	Berlin, Heidelberg, <b>2005</b> ; pp. 127–146, https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-27055-8_6	1125
170.	Nielsen, J. The Role of Metabolic Engineering in the Production of Secondary Metabolites. Curr Opin Microbiol 1998, 1, 330-336,	1126
	https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5274(98)80037-4.	1127
171.	Tanaka, Y.; Izawa, M.; Hiraga, Y.; Misaki, Y.; Watanabe, T.; Ochi, K. Metabolic Perturbation to Enhance Polyketide and Nonribosomal	1128
	Peptide Antibiotic Production Using Triclosan and Ribosome-Targeting Drugs. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2017, 101, 4417-4431,	1129
	https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8216-6.	1130
172.	Olano, C.; Lombó, F.; Méndez, C.; Salas, J.A. Improving Production of Bioactive Secondary Metabolites in Actinomycetes by	1131
	Metabolic Engineering. Metab Eng 2008, 10, 281–292, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2008.07.001.	1132
173.	Craney, A.; Ozimok, C.; Pimentel-Elardo, S.M.; Capretta, A.; Nodwell, J.R. Chemical Perturbation of Secondary Metabolism	1133
	Demonstrates Important Links to Primary Metabolism. Chem Biol 2012, 19, 1020–1027, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.06.013.	1134
174.	Yukinori, T.; Ken, K.; Yutaka, H.; Kiriko, M.; Rie, K.; Kozo, O. Activation and Products of the Cryptic Secondary Metabolite	1135
	Biosynthetic Gene Clusters by Rifampin Resistance (RpoB) Mutations in Actinomycetes. J Bacteriol 2013, 195, 2959-2970,	1136
	https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.00147-13.	1137
175.	Norimasa, T.; Takeshi, H.; Jun, X.; Haifeng, H.; Noboru, O.; Kozo, O. Innovative Approach for Improvement of an Antibiotic-	1138
	Overproducing Industrial Strain of Streptomyces Albus. Appl Environ Microbiol 2003, 69, 6412-6417,	1139
	https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.11.6412-6417.2003.	1140
176.	Singh, J.; Dutta, T.; Kim, KH.; Rawat, M.; Samddar, P.; Kumar, P. 'Green' Synthesis of Metals and Their Oxide Nanoparticles:	1141
	Applications for Environmental Remediation. J Nanobiotechnology 2018, 16, 84, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0408-4.	1142
177.	Pudhuvai, B.; Koul, B.; Das, R.; Shah, M.P. Nano-Fertilizers (NFs) for Resurgence in Nutrient Use Efficiency (NUE): A Sustainable	1143
	Agricultural Strategy. Curr Pollut Rep 2024, 11, 1, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-024-00331-9.	1144
178.	Graf, E.; Eaton, J.W. Antioxidant Functions of Phytic Acid. Free Radic Biol Med 1990, 8, 61-69, https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-	1145
	5849(90)90146-A.	1146
179.	Gupta, R.K.; Gangoliya, S.S.; Singh, N.K. Reduction of Phytic Acid and Enhancement of Bioavailable Micronutrients in Food Grains.	1147
	J Food Sci Technol <b>2015</b> , 52, 676–684, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-013-0978-y.	1148
180.	Hurrell, R.F.; Juillerat, M.A.; Reddy, M.B.; Lynch, S.R.; Dassenko, S.A.; Cook, J.D. Soy Protein, Phytate, and Iron Absorption in	1149
	Humans. Am J Clin Nutr 1992, 56, 573–578, https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/56.3.573.	1150
181.	Eiki, H.; Gushima, H.; Saito, T.; Ishida, H.; Oka, Y.; Osono, T. Product Inhibition and Its Removal on Josamycin Fermentation by	1151
	Streptomyces Narbonensis Var. Josamyceticus. Journal of Fermentation Technology 1988, 66, 559-565, https://doi.org/10.1016/0385-	1152
	6380(88)90089-1.	1153

Young, T.; Li, Y.; Efthimiou, G. Olive Pomace Oil Can Be Used as an Alternative Carbon Source for Clavulanic Acid Production by	1154
Streptomyces Clavuligerus. Waste Biomass Valorization 2020, 11, 3965-3970, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-019-00719-5.	1155
Seke, M.; Petrovic, D.; Labudovic Borovic, M.; Borisev, I.; Novakovic, M.; Rakocevic, Z.; Djordjevic, A. Fullerenol/Iron Nanocomposite Providence Provid	1156
Diminishes Doxorubicin-Induced Toxicity. Journal of Nanoparticle Research 2019, 21, 239, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-019-4681-4.	1157
Calendi, E.; Di Marco, A.; Reggiani, M.; Scarpinato, B.; Valentini, L. On Physico-Chemical Interactions between Daunomycin and	1158
Nucleic Acids. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis 1965, 103, 25–49, https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-	1159
2787(65)90539-3.	1160
Yaqing, C.; Renjun, Y.; Mengya, L.; Shiwei, W.; Xingchao, L.; Ying, W.; Yuan, S.; Jilun, L.; Zhi, C. IdeR, a DtxR Family Iron Response	1161
Regulator, Controls Iron Homeostasis, Morphological Differentiation, Secondary Metabolism, and the Oxidative Stress Response in	1162
Streptomyces Avermitilis. Appl Environ Microbiol 2018, 84, e01503-18, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01503-18.	1163
Samuni, A.; Chong, P.LG.; Barenholz, Y.; Thompson, T.E. Physical and Chemical Modifications of Adriamycin:Iron Complex by	1164
Phospholipid Bilayers1. Cancer Res 1986, 46, 594–599.	1165
	Young, T.; Li, Y.; Efthimiou, G. Olive Pomace Oil Can Be Used as an Alternative Carbon Source for Clavulanic Acid Production by Streptomyces Clavuligerus. <i>Waste Biomass Valorization</i> <b>2020</b> , <i>11</i> , 3965–3970, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-019-00719-5. Seke, M.; Petrovic, D.; Labudovic Borovic, M.; Borisev, I.; Novakovic, M.; Rakocevic, Z.; Djordjevic, A. Fullerenol/Iron Nanocomposite Diminishes Doxorubicin-Induced Toxicity. <i>Journal of Nanoparticle Research</i> <b>2019</b> , <i>21</i> , 239, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-019-4681-4. Calendi, E.; Di Marco, A.; Reggiani, M.; Scarpinato, B.; Valentini, L. On Physico-Chemical Interactions between Daunomycin and Nucleic Acids. <i>Biochimica et Biophysica Acta</i> ( <i>BBA</i> ) - <i>Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis</i> <b>1965</b> , <i>103</i> , 25–49, https://doi.org/10.1016/0005- 2787(65)90539-3. Yaqing, C.; Renjun, Y.; Mengya, L.; Shiwei, W.; Xingchao, L.; Ying, W.; Yuan, S.; Jilun, L.; Zhi, C. IdeR, a DtxR Family Iron Response Regulator, Controls Iron Homeostasis, Morphological Differentiation, Secondary Metabolism, and the Oxidative Stress Response in Streptomyces Avermitilis. <i>Appl Environ Microbiol</i> <b>2018</b> , <i>84</i> , e01503-18, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01503-18. Samuni, A.; Chong, P.LG.; Barenholz, Y.; Thompson, T.E. Physical and Chemical Modifications of Adriamycin:Iron Complex by Phospholipid Bilayers1. <i>Cancer Res</i> <b>1986</b> , <i>46</i> , 594–599.

Beneš K., Pudhuvai B., Čurn V., Motis J., Rost M., Michalcova Z., Vilcinskas A. and Mat'ha V.: Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation in Daunomycin Producing Streptomyces. Microorganisms (submitted to edition).





3

5

6 7 8

9

10

12

13

14

15

16 17

18 19

20 21

### Article Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation in Daunomycin Producing Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus.

Karel Beneš<sup>1</sup>, Baveesh Pudhuvai<sup>2,\*</sup>, Vladislav Čurn<sup>2</sup>, Michael Rost<sup>2</sup>, Zuzana Michalcová<sup>1</sup>, Jaroslav Motis<sup>1</sup>, Andreas Vilcinskas<sup>4,5</sup> and Vladimír Maťha<sup>1,3</sup>

1	VUAB Pharma A.S, Nemanicka 2722, 37001 České Budějovice, Czech Republic.
	have karalahatmail ann aladinir mathaarmaan ay maticaanaara ay

- <sup>2</sup> Department of Genetics and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Studentská 1668, 370 05, České Budějovice, Czech Republic. pudhuvaibaveesh@gmail.com; curn@fzt.jcu.cz; rost@fzt.jcu.cz
- Department of Plant Production, Facilty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Studentská 1668, 370 05, České Budějovice, Czech Republic
- Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology (IME), Branch for Bioresources, Ohleberg sweg 12, 35392 Giessen, Germany.
- <sup>5</sup> Institute for Insect Biotechnology, Justus-Liebig-University Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26–32, 35392 Gies sen, Germany

\* Correspondence: Baveesh Pudhuvai (BP), pudhuvaibaveesh@gmail.com; Tel.: +420-737973975

Abstract: This study focuses on the development of a cultivation medium specifically designed to 22 induce auto-resistance through Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation. 23 Utilizing a fermentation medium enriched with olive pomace oil and iron, this research aims to 24 explore the inherent affinity of daunomycin for both iron and oil. Our strategy leverages the com-25 bination of olive pomace oil and bacteria to facilitate the formation of iron nanoparticles (NPs). Fur-26 thermore, it seeks to bridge the existing knowledge gap by investigating the effects of daunomycin 27 on eukaryotic cells in conjunction with the underexplored data from prokaryotic organisms, espe-28 cially those involved in the production of daunomycin. This dual approach aims to enhance our 29 understanding of daunomycin's mechanisms of action and its potential applications in both eukar-30 yotic and prokaryotic systems. By systematically optimizing iron levels, we aim to facilitate the for-31 mation of daunomycin-iron complexes that can reduce the solubility and bioavailability of dauno-32 mycin. This transformation not only alleviates its cytotoxic effects on microbial production strains 33 but also has the added ecological benefit of producing daunomycin as an insoluble precipitate. This 34 precipitate can be easily separated from the cultivation medium by filtration or centrifugation, con-35 centrated into a smaller volume, and extracted using phosphoric acid, followed by a final extraction 36 of the dissolved daunomycin using significantly reduced volumes of organic solvents. Thus, this 37 approach targets the reduction of toxic impacts during fermentation while enhancing compound 38 yield and overall production efficiency, all while minimizing the environmental footprint of the 39 process. This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibiotic pro-40 duction but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the pro-41 duction of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation 42 medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mech-43 anisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes. 44

Keywords: daunomycin; streptomyces; redox potential; oil-based cultivation; triclosan

45 46

Submitted for possible open access

publication under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/license s/by/4.0/).

Copyright: © 2024 by the authors.

Citation: To be added by editorial

Academic Editor: Firstname Last-

staff during production.

name

Received: date

Revised: date

Accepted: date

Published: date

Microorganisms 2024, 12, x. https://doi.org/10.3390/xxxxx

www.mdpi.com/journal/microorganisms

#### 1. Introduction

The Daunomycin, an anthracycline antibiotic originally isolated from the bacterium 48 Streptomyces peucetius, plays a pivotal role in the treatment of various cancers, particularly 49 leukemia. Its therapeutic efficacy is primarily attributed to its ability to intercalate into 50 DNA, disrupting essential replication and transcription processes in rapidly dividing 51 cells. Additionally, daunomycin serves as a precursor for the synthesis of more advanced 52 anthracyclines [1]. However, its clinical utility is often compromised by inherent cytotoxic 53 effects [2], including toxicity to the microbial strains used for its production, posing sig-54 nificant challenges for industrial-scale synthesis [3,4]. .55

A critical aspect governing daunomycin's biological activity is its interaction with 56 iron, particularly through the Fenton reaction. This process illustrates how iron can cata-57 lyze the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from hydrogen peroxide, leading to 58 oxidative stress and cellular damage [5]. While iron is vital for numerous physiological 59 functions, excessive concentration can exacerbate oxidative effects [6]. The therapeutic use 60 of iron chelators to mitigate daunomycin toxicity underscores the need for a deeper un-61 derstanding of the interplay between these two elements, as it significantly influences the 62 compound's pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy in fermentation con-63 texts 64

While most research has traditionally focused on the toxicological effects of daunomycin in eukaryotic models, its implications for prokaryotic organisms remain only partially explored [7]. Investigations have primarily centred on the biosynthesis of daunomycin and altering the molecular mechanisms of resistance, particularly involving efflux pumps [8,9].

This study focuses on developing a cultivation medium specifically designed to induce auto-resistance through Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation (ADBN). Utilizing a fermentation medium enriched with olive pomace oil and iron, this research aims to explore the inherent affinity of daunomycin for both iron and oil. Our strategy leverages the combination of olive pomace oil and bacteria to facilitate the formation of iron nanoparticles (NPs) [10].

Furthermore, it seeks to bridge the existing knowledge gap by investigating the effects of daunomycin on eukaryotic cells in conjunction with the underexplored data from prokaryotic organisms, especially those involved in the production of daunomycin. This dual approach aims to enhance our understanding of daunomycin's mechanisms of action and its potential applications in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic systems. 80

Olive pomace oil is a valuable source of both lipids and polyphenols [11]. The unique amphiphilic nature of these lipids—characterized by hydrophilic heads and hydrophobic tails—enables them to form a protective shell around the NPs [12]. The hydrophilic heads interact with the aqueous environment, while the hydrophobic tails orient themselves towards the nanoparticle core. This self-assembly leads to the formation of a stable bilayer, which effectively prevents the uncontrolled aggregation of the NPs [13].

Moreover, the lipids in the reaction mixture promote controlled growth and mor-87 phology of the synthesized NPs [14]. Polyphenols further enhance the synthesis process 88 by initiating redox reactions when mixed with metal ions. Acting as electron donors, they 89 facilitate the reduction of metal ions to their metallic state, a crucial step in nanoparticle 90 formation [15]. The versatile nature of polyphenols also allows them to influence the size, 91 shape, and characteristics of the synthesized NPs [16,17]. Beyond their reducing capabili-92 ties, polyphenols stabilize nanoparticles by forming a protective layer that prevents ag-93 glomeration and ensures colloidal stability [18,19]. This dual functionality positions poly-94 phenols as key contributors to green synthesis. 95

Additionally, *Streptomyces* can efficiently serve as biofactories for nanoparticle production (Moslamy et al. 2023). Their enzymatic processes convert metal ions into NPs, offering precise control over size and shape while ensuring excellent stability, thus making this biological synthesis route a preferred choice for various applications [20,21].

2 of 20

By systematically optimizing iron levels, we aim to facilitate the formation of dauno-100 mycin-iron complexes that can reduce the solubility and bioavailability of daunomycin. 101 This transformation alleviates its cytotoxic effects on microbial production strains and has 102 the added ecological benefit of producing daunomycin as an insoluble precipitate. This 103 precipitate can be easily separated from the cultivation medium by filtration or centrifu-104gation, concentrated into a smaller volume, and extracted using phosphoric acid, followed 105 by a final extraction of the dissolved daunomycin using significantly reduced volumes of 106 organic solvents. Thus, this approach targets the reduction of toxic impacts during fer-107 mentation while enhancing compound yield and overall production efficiency, all while 108 minimizing the environmental footprint of the process. 109

Given the complexity of the problem and the interplay of various factors, we adopted 110 an empirical approach to optimization. Rather than sequentially addressing adjustments, 111 we approached optimization as a holistic challenge, accounting for interdependencies 112 among key variables to inform our adjustments and improve both performance and effi-113 ciency. Ultimately, the multifactorial nature of our optimization process-measured 114through daunomycin yield as a key indicator - highlights its intricacy and reinforces our 115 objective to maximize production. Our findings not only validate our initial hypotheses 116 but also offer valuable insights for future research efforts aimed at optimizing production 117 processes in this field. 118

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Chemicals

119

120

Defatted soy grits were supplied by MP Biochemicals. Potato starch, G-glucose, yeast 121 extract, NaCl, magnesium sulfate, iron sulfates (FeSO4 and Fe2(SO4)3), and glycerol were 122 sourced from VWR. Dried bakery yeasts from Lallemand (Spain) were provided by 123 Instaferm, while brewery yeast was obtained from a local brewery (Budvar, České 124 Budějovice). Organic solvents and buffer salts were also provided by VWR. Cannabis oil 125 was supplied by a local producer, rape oil by a local supplier, and extra virgin and pomace 126 olive oils by Ondoliva. 127

#### 2.2. Bacterial Strain and Isolation

128

The original bacterial strain, S. coeruleorubidus, was isolated and collected from the 129 Vltava River pool during the spring of 2019. The identified strain was confirmed through 130 morphological assessments, phenotypic characterization, and genomic sequencing. PCR 131 amplification revealed the presence of daunomycin resistance genes drrA, drrB, and drrC, 132 which are significant for potential applications in developing antimicrobial media. The 133 original strain showed high variability in mycelium and colony morphology, precisely as 134 described by [22]. 135

#### 2.3. Triclosan induced mutation

136

To enhance the production of daunomycin, triclosan was employed to induce 137 mutations in S. coeruleorubidus due to its known effect on lipid synthesis, especially on 138 enoyl-acyl carrier protein reductase a key enzyme involved in fatty acid synthesis [23]. 139 Solid Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA) medium was prepared, to which triclosan was added 140aseptically at final concentrations of 0.1, 0.5, 1, and 10 µM. Subcultures were maintained 141 for ten passages to stabilize the mutant strains, which were subsequently evaluated for 142 increased productivity on both standard and modified media. 143

#### 2.4. Olive Pomace Oil-Resistant Strain Development

To develop a strain capable of growth on olive pomace oil, ultraviolet (UV) 146 irradiation was employed, following methods described by [24,25]. The strains were 147 exposed to UV light at a dose rate of approximately 10 W/m<sup>2</sup> for about 30 minutes and 148 subsequently cultivated in solid and liquid media containing 10% olive pomace oil as the 149 sole carbon source. 150

#### 2.5 Protoplast Formation

151

145

4 of 20

The protoplasts of S. coeruleorubidus were prepared using a modified method 152 adapted from [26] and [27]. Briefly, spores were inoculated in Yeast Extract-Malt Extract 153 (YEME) medium supplemented with 0.5% glycine and 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O, followed by 154 incubation at 28°C and 220 RPM for 48 hours. Protoplasts were generated from two 155 distinct strains: one resistant to triclosan and another capable of growing on olive pomace 156 oil. The cultures were centrifuged at 4000 RPM for 10 minutes and washed with a 10.3% 157 sucrose solution. The cell pellet was treated with Medium P [27], for washing and then 158 resuspended in a lysozyme solution (2 mg/ml) to disrupt the cell wall. After lysis, 159 protoplasts were washed and resuspended in a 40% PEG 4000 solution to Darken the agar 160around colonies, which was used as a selective criterium. 161

The producing strain Ret2210 was developed through repeated protoplast fusion of 162 triclosan-resistant and olive pomace oil-utilizing strains, combined with an adaptive 163 laboratory evolution technique. Unlike the original strain, the resulting mutants from 164protoplast fusion exhibited highly homogeneous cultures characterized by prolific 165 sporulation and fully developed chains of spores. 166

#### 2.6. Working Bank Preparation

167

Five millilitres (5 ml) of a 25% aqueous solution of glycerol were placed on the 168 surface of a Petri dish. The surface mycelium was scrubbed to create a cell suspension. 169 This suspension was then transferred to a PTFE-glass homogenizer and homogenized for 170 15 to 20 minutes until achieving a homogeneous liquid. Six hundred microliters (600 µl) 171 of the suspension were transferred into Eppendorf tubes or cryotubes and stored at -20 172 °C. The potential contamination was checked after three days by inoculating Potato 173 Dextrose Agar (PDA) with 5  $\mu$ l of the cell suspension. 174

#### 2.7. Inoculum Preparation

175

184

The fermentation inoculum was prepared from the working bank. Inoculation of the 176 vegetative medium was carried out using 2,500 µl of the working bank solution, 177 introduced into 50 ml of cultivation medium contained within a 250 ml Erlenmever flask. 178 The cultivation process was maintained at a speed of 220 RPM (with a shaker arm length 179 of 25 mm) and a temperature of 28 °C. The culture was deemed ready for inoculation after 180 36 to 40 hours (±2 hours) in a basal medium composed of the following ingredients (g/l): 181 30 g of soy flour, 5 g of starch, 5 g of glucose, 5 g of yeast extract, 1 g of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, and 1 g 182 of NaCl. The pH was adjusted to 7.0 using either 2 M NaOH or 2 M HCl. 183

#### 2.8. Production Medium

The production medium was inoculated with 2.5 ml of the actively grown culture 185 from the vegetative medium (constituting a 5% inoculum) into 50 ml of the production 186 cultivation medium, also contained in a 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask. The culture was 187 incubated at 28 °C with agitation at 220 RPM. The composition of the production medium 188

5 of 20

193

202

208

was as follows (g/L): 10 g of bakery yeast, 20 g of soy flour, 100 g of pomace olive oil, 5 g 189 of yeast extract, 5 g of glycerol, 2 g of  $K_2$ HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1 g of magnesium sulfate heptahydrate, 3 190 g of calcium carbonate, and 3.6 g of ferrous sulfate heptahydrate. The pH of the medium 191 was adjusted to a range of 5.9 to 6.1 using 2 M NaOH or 2 M HCl. 192

#### 2.8.1. Effect of Carbon and Nitrogen Sources on Daunomycin Production

The influence of various carbon sources on daunomycin metabolite production was 194 evaluated by substituting starch in the production medium with alternatives such as 195 soybean oil, refined rapeseed oil, crude rapeseed oil, virgin olive oil, pomace olive oil, 196 mineral oil, and crude cannabis oil. Similarly, the impact of different nitrogen sources was 197 assessed by replacing soy flour in the production medium with casein, yeast extracts, 198 defatted soy flour, soy grits, peptones, ammonium sulfate, and potassium nitrate. 199 Following the incubation period, the impact of carbon and nitrogen sources on 200 daunomycin production was analyzed by HPLC. 201

#### 2.8.2. Effects of Iron on Daunomycin Production

To investigate the effects of minerals on daunomycin production, the medium 203

containing optimized carbon and nitrogen sources was supplemented with various iron 204 sources, including FeCl<sub>3</sub>, FeSO<sub>4</sub>, and Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>. These were added at final concentrations 205 of up to 1.44 g per litre of Fe<sup>2+</sup> and 2.79 g per litre of Fe<sup>3+</sup>, which corresponded to the 206 following additions: 2.1 g/L of FeCl<sub>3</sub>; 3.6 to 7.2 g/L of FeSO<sub>4</sub>; and 5.2 to 10 g/L of Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>. 207

#### 2.9. Method for Direct Detection of Iron Using SEM and EDS

The samples were mounted onto conductive stubs, and a thin conductive coating 209 was applied if necessary. The Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) was calibrated, and 210 the accelerating voltage was set, typically between 10-20 kV. Secondary electron imaging 211 was employed to visualize the samples and identify areas of interest. The Energy 212 Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy (EDS) detector was activated to capture X-ray emissions 213 from the samples when exposed to the electron beam. The resulting X-ray spectrum was 214analyzed for characteristic iron peaks, particularly the Fe K $\alpha$  peak around 6.4 keV, and 215 216 elemental mapping was conducted to assess spatial distribution. Finally, the detected iron was quantified using the SEM-EDS software, and the results were validated with standard 217 reference materials, providing insights into the iron dynamics in the microbial samples. 218

#### 2.10. Monitoring of daunomycin production

219

224

Samples were collected from the flasks at 120, 168, 216, and 264 hours, with the possibility of extending to 312 hours. For each sampling point, 1 ml of homogeneous 221 medium was extracted from each flask. The samples were processed according to a rapid 222 isolation protocol using oxalic acid and daunomycin concentration measured by HPLC. 223

#### 2.10.1. Changes in Media Color and Physical Parameters

225 Media colour and physical parameters were assessed at 24-hour intervals throughout the cultivation period, beginning at 24 hours and continuing up to 264 hours. 226 At each designated time point, a sample of the cultivated media was visually inspected to 227 determine its colour and observed physical parameters, such as precipitate formation. 228 This information was recorded using a subjective visual assessment. Specific colours 229 observed-such as yellow, green, grey, and black-were noted, along with any relevant 230 changes in intensity or hue. This consistent monitoring allowed for the documentation of 231 colour transitions and physical parameters of the culture over time. 232

#### 2.11. Sediment friability

To evaluate the friability of the sediment, samples were dispersed in water 234 containing 0.1% SDS as a surfactant at a temperature of 20°C. Control samples were left 235 untreated, while the examined samples were mixed using a mixer at 5-minute intervals. 236 The characterization of the samples included an analysis of particle size distribution, 237 which was determined using laser diffraction with a Mastersizer 2000 equipped with a 238 Hydro 2000G dispersion unit (Malvern Instruments, UK). The mean particle size relative 239 to volume was chosen as the primary criterion for particle size assessment. Two parallel 240measurements were conducted to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the results. 241

#### 2.12. Methods for Observing Morphological Changes During Fermentation

242

233

Optical Microscopy: To observe morphological changes in the fermentation medium,<br/>samples were taken at designated intervals throughout the fermentation period. Each<br/>sample was placed on a clean glass slide and covered with a coverslip. The slides were<br/>examined under an optical microscope Nikon Eclipse Ni-E at varying magnifications (e.g.,<br/>100x, 400x) to assess cell morphology, size, and aggregation. Digital images were captured<br/>for further analysis and comparison over time.243

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM): For surface morphology analysis, samples were 249 prepared for scanning electron microscopy. Initially, samples were fixed in an appropriate 250 fixative and then dehydrated through a series of graded alcohol solutions. The samples 251 were mounted onto conductive stubs and coated with a thin layer of gold-palladium to 252 enhance conductivity. The SEM ISM-7401F was calibrated, and samples were examined 253 under high vacuum conditions. Secondary electron imaging was used to visualize the 254 surface features of the cells, and images were captured for analysis of morphological 255 changes during fermentation. 256

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM): Samples were prepared for transmission 257 electron microscopy following standard fixation and embedding protocols for detailed 258 structural analysis. Initially, samples were fixed in a solution of 2.5% glutaraldehyde 259 260 buffered with phosphate buffer for 2 hours at 4°C. Following fixation, the samples were washed in phosphate buffer and post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 hour. Then, 261 samples were dehydrated through a graded ethanol series (30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, and 262 100%) and embedded in an epoxy resin. Thin sections (approximately 70 nm) were cut 263 using an ultramicrotome and placed on copper grids. The grids were stained with uranyl 264 acetate and lead citrate to enhance contrast. Finally, sections were examined using a 265 transmission electron microscope JEM-1400 Jeol at an appropriate accelerating voltage, 266 with images captured for analysis of cellular structures and morphological features. 267

#### 2.13. Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE):

PAGE was performed using SDS-PAGE (Laemmli) and native PAGE techniques, 269 following Davis's procedures. SDS-PAGE was utilized to determine protein molecular 270 weights and to cut out specific bands for subsequent analysis by TOF MALDI mass spectrometry. The SDS gel was stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue, while in the native 272 PAGE, proteins of interest were labeled with daunomycin. This approach allowed 273 proteins to maintain their native conformations, specifically for identifying daunomycin. 275

276

279

280

#### 2.14. Measurement of pH, O2, and Eh During Fermentation

# To monitor the fermentation process, pH, dissolved oxygen $(O_2)$ , and redox potential (Eh) were measured at regular intervals throughout the cultivation period.

pH Measurement: The pH of the fermentation media was measured using a calibrated pH281meter with a glass electrode. At each sampling interval (e.g., every 24 hours), a small282volume of the media was taken aseptically and transferred to a clean, appropriate283container. The pH probe was immersed in the sample, and the reading was recorded after284stabilization. To ensure accuracy, the pH meter was calibrated before measurements using285standard buffer solutions at pH 4.00 and 7.00.286

Dissolved Oxygen Measurement:Dissolved oxygen levels were assessed using a portable287dissolved oxygen meter equipped with an appropriate probe.Samples were taken at the288same intervals as pH measurements.The probe was inserted into the sample, allowing for289direct measurement of  $O_2$  concentration.The oxygen sensor was calibrated beforehand290according to the manufacturer's instructions, ensuring accurate readings throughout the291fermentation process.292

Redox Potential Measurement: The redox potential (Eh) was measured using a portable293redox meter with a suitable combination electrode. Similar to the previous measurements,294samples were taken at regular intervals. The redox electrode was placed in the sample,295and stabilization was allowed before recording the Eh value. The redox meter was296calibrated using standard reference solutions to ensure reliable measurements.297

All measurements were conducted under controlled conditions to minimize the impact of 298 external factors, and each parameter was recorded systematically to analyze the 299 fermentation dynamics over time. 300

#### 2.15. Extraction Procedures

301

Two primary methods can be employed for extraction: oxalic acid and phosphoric 302 acid. The oxalic acid method is suitable for monitoring the cultivation process due to its 303 low volume requirement, albeit it does not capture the full extent of daunomycin 304 production. In contrast, the phosphoric acid method is more reliable and reproducible, 305 effectively disrupting the iron-daunomycin complex. For oxalic acid extraction, transfer 306 400 µl of the sample to a 2 ml tube, acidify with 180 µl of 1M oxalic acid, and vortex 307 thoroughly. Add  $2\,x\,600\,\mu l$  of acetone, vortex again, and then add 300  $\mu l$  of distilled water. 308 Mix well and centrifuge at 14,000-15,000 RPM for 6 minutes, then take 400 µl of the 309 supernatant for HPLC analysis. For phosphoric acid extraction, shake the culture and take 310 10 ml, transferring it to a 50 ml Falcon tube. Add 40 ml of 0.1M H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (1:4 dilution) and 311 mix thoroughly. Measure the pH, which should be between 1.8 and 1.9, before heating the 312 313 sample in a 50°C water bath for 30 minutes, mixing periodically. After heating, check that the pH remains between 1.4 and 1.8; if it exceeds 2, yield may be compromised. Take a 314 400 µl sample and transfer it to a 2 ml tube, then centrifuge the Falcon tube for 6-7 minutes 315 at 4000-4700 RPM. Discard the supernatant and resuspend the sediment (approximately 316 5 ml) in 40 ml of 0.05M H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (changing the dilution ratio to 1:8), mixing until 317 homogeneous. Measure the pH again, ensuring it is  $\leq$  1.7, then heat the resuspended 318 sample for another 30 minutes at 50°C, mixing periodically. Following this step, the pH 319 should not fall below 1.3; take a final 400 µl sample for further analysis. 320

330

#### 2.16. HPLC Sample Preparation

The HPLC sample preparation procedure is identical for both oxalic and phosphoric 324 acid samples. Begin by transferring 400  $\mu$ l of the acidified sample into a 2 ml tube. Next, 325 add 180  $\mu$ l of 1M oxalic acid and vortex the mixture thoroughly. Subsequently, add 1200  $\mu$ l of acetone and vortex again, followed by the addition of 300  $\mu$ l of distilled water and 327 another vortex to ensure homogeneity. After mixing, spin the tube in a centrifuge at 15,000 RPM for 6 minutes. Finally, take 400  $\mu$ l of the supernatant to serve as the HPLC sample. 329

#### 2.17. Chromatography Conditions

The analysis utilizes a ProntoSIL C18AQ column (150 x 4.6 mm, 5  $\mu$ m) maintained at ambient temperature, with a flow rate of 1 ml/min and UV/Vis detection at a wavelength of 254 nm. The mobile phase consists of two components: Mobile Phase A (MPA) containing H<sub>2</sub>O at pH 2.7 (adjusted with H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) and 1 g/L of SDS, and Mobile Phase B (MPB) comprising acetonitrile, in an isocratic flow ratio of 50:50 (A:B). The retention time for daunorubicin is approximately 7 minutes, and the total analysis length is 25 minutes.

#### 3. Results and Discussions

338

337

### 3.1. Producing strain

339

The original strain showed considerable variability in mycelium, colony, and spore 340 morphology, with dwarfed spore chains formed by rudimentary spines or smooth spores, 341 as noted by Blumauerová et al. (1978) [22]. In contrast, the producing strain Ret2210, 342 developed through a process of repeated protoplast fusion involving triclosan-resistant 343 strains and those capable of utilizing olive pomace oil, supplemented by an adaptive 344 laboratory evolution technique, demonstrated significant morphological homogeneity. 345 The resulting cultures from this fusion were characterized by prolific sporulation and 346 347 well-formed chains of spiny spores, representing a marked contrast to the variability observed in the original strain. 348

#### 3.2. Optimization of the Production Medium

349

355

In the optimization process, the daunomycin production of the initial strain in a sugar-based medium was approximately 2.0 g/L. After establishing stable production, we replaced the strain with a new fusant specifically developed for oil-based media. Various ingredients were tested in the sugar medium to assess their influence on production and evaluated using High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC). 351

#### 3.2.1. Substitution of Glucose with Oils

The addition of pomace olive oil, rapeseed oil, and soybean oil to the sugar medium 356 resulted in a 20% decrease in production compared to the sugar-only medium. To optimize oil concentration, supplementation with yeast was necessary, with yeast quality significantly affecting the yield. The high-quality bakery yeast yielded the best results; 359 substituting it with brewery yeast resulted in reduced daunomycin production. 360

The source and quality of oil profoundly influenced both media parameters and daunomycin output. Notably, rapeseed oil led to significant declines in production, despite its fatty acid composition being similar to that of olive oil. In addition, cannabis oil produced under 5% of the yield compared to the pomace oil medium. The importance of oil quality became evident: expired oil did not support the process. Specifically, expired pomace oil failed to produce the desired green-grey medium and instead formed a rusty emulsion. It is essential for oils to be characterized by their peroxide value before use in cultivation media. 368

Recent observations regarding the ineffectiveness of expired pomace oil underscore 369 the critical role that phenolic compounds play in microbial growth and activity. Fresh 370 pomace oil, rich in these compounds, provides antioxidant benefits that mitigate oxidative 371 stress, particularly important for sensitive strains during cultivation. The degradation of 372 phenolic content in expired oils suggests that factors such as light exposure, temperature, 373 and air contribute to oxidation, emphasizing the need for proper storage conditions to 374 preserve these beneficial components. This experience highlights the necessity of careful 375 selection and monitoring of media components, especially oils, in cultivation protocols. 376 Overall, these insights stress the importance of using fresh and stable growth-promoting 377 agents to enhance the productivity and viability of sensitive microbial strains in future 378 experiments. 379

#### 3.2.2. Use of Olive Pomace Oil

380

391

Incorporating olive pomace oil as a carbon source is a novel approach, serving not only as an alternative carbon source but also offering potential antioxidant properties that mitigate oxidative stress from high iron concentrations. This dual functionality promotes nutrient supply and stress alleviation, a combination rarely observed in standard growth media.

The oil must be characterized at least by its peroxide value before being incorporated 386 into the cultivation medium. Our experiments indicated that chemical changes over time in the same oil sample, represented by specific measurements, can significantly influence 388 oil quality and media output. Media containing trivalent iron demonstrated increased 389 sensitivity to variations in oil source and quality. 390

#### 3.2.3. Influence of Soy Source on Daunomycin Production

Because soy grits are coarsely ground and undergo less processing than soy flour, they are likely to retain higher levels of naturally occurring phytic acid. The differences in physical structure and starch granule size between soy grits and soy flour may influence moisture retention, microbial accessibility, and the gradual release of nutrients over time, which could enhance performance in growth dynamics. Moreover, soy grits may preserve more intact proteins and fibres from whole soybeans compared to highly processed soy flour, significantly impacting metabolic pathways. 398

As a potential source of phytic acid, soy grits can chelate excess iron, reducing its bioavailability and minimizing toxicity. This characteristic is particularly beneficial for maintaining stable growth environments for sensitive strains, an aspect often overlooked in standard cultivation protocols. Additionally, glycinins—an important component of soy proteins—are known to play a role in iron metabolism. 403

In contrast, replacing soy grits with a high-fat soy source has been shown to result in significant decreases in both media parameters and daunomycin production. This further emphasizes the importance of soy source selection in cultivation protocols. The processing methods used to produce soy flour—especially heat treatment, such as roasting—can significantly reduce both phytic acid and soluble protein contents, further complicating their use as a cultivation medium. 400

3.3. Influence of Iron on Production

Adding iron to the sugar medium caused a pronounced rust coloration after 411 autoclaving, indicating the conversion of iron to its oxide form, which did not enhance 412 daunomycin production. However, supplementing the original medium with yeast led to 413 iron stabilization and increased production levels upon the addition of pomace olive oil, 414maintaining an olive-green-grey hue post-autoclaving. Incorporating both bivalent (Fe2+) 415 and trivalent (Fe3+) iron sulfates-spontaneously formed during autoclaving-was critical 416 for managing iron concentration. While many formulations typically use only one form 417 of iron, providing both allows for better control over iron bioavailability and uptake, 418 potentially enhancing metabolic processes without toxicity. 419

#### 3.4. Optimal Composition for Daunomycin Production

The optimal composition for sustained daunomycin production, identified through 421 empirical methods, was determined to be as follows (g/L): 100 g pomace oil, 5.6 g FeSO<sub>4</sub>, 422 10 g yeast, 20 g soy grits, 5 g yeast extract, 5 g glycerol, 2 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 3 g CaCO<sub>3</sub>, and 1 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>, with the pH adjusted to 6.0. Under these conditions, cultivation of the original strain achieved stable production levels of 3.0 to 3.5 g/L. 421

The newly developed fusion strain was subsequently tested in this optimized 426 medium, yielding daunomycin production levels of 5.5 to 6.0 g/L post-optimization. To 427 demonstrate the independent repeatability of production, 11 cultivations were conducted 428 by different team members, confirming consistent daunomycin production in the 429 developed medium (**Table 1**).

|--|

Time of cultivation [h]	N [samples]	Production [mg/L]		pН	
		Average	SD	Average	SD
120	11	1389.0	350.7	6.40	0.17
16.8	11	3070.2	724.6	6.62	0.13
216	11	4728.2	726.1	6.72	0.10
264	11	5466.4	681.4	7.24	0.41

### 3.5. Monitoring of Daunomycin Production

Different approaches were employed to monitor and characterize daunomycin production in the newly developed medium, including assessments of media physical parameters, process monitoring, and ultrastructural morphology of the daunomycin-containing particles and producing microorganisms. 436

#### 3.5.1. Changes in Media Color and Physical Parameters

The medium in the flasks exhibits distinct color changes throughout the cultivation 438 process. Prior to autoclaving, the color of the microbial growth medium undergoes signif-439 icant changes throughout the cultivation process, beginning with its initial appearance. A 440 non-sterile medium that starts off as a specific color-such as light brown-may experi-441 ence alterations upon autoclaving, owing to Maillard reactions or the breakdown of cer-442 tain compounds. This initial transformation sets the stage for how microbial metabolism 443 can further impact the visual characteristics of the medium. The autoclaved medium re-444 mains stable without any color changes for weeks when stored even at room temperature. 445

420

437

As the cultivation progresses, the medium transitions from a grey-olive green to a 446 dark grey hue, indicative of the accumulation of metabolic byproducts produced by Streptomyces species. 448

449 Twenty-four hours post-inoculation, it darkens to a deeper grey, continuing to evolve in color over time. By 48 hours post-inoculation, the color shifts further to dark 450 grey, with visible green oily droplets emerging. Black particles, remnants of soy grits 451 bound to iron, become apparent. The oil within the medium is not fully dispersed, creat-452 ing bubbles along the sides of the flask. At approximately 72 hours after inoculation, the 453 medium transforms into a dark grey-black color. A layer of oil forms on the surface, which 454 may take on a slight orange hue as microorganisms begin to produce daunomycin in sig-455 nificant amounts. 456

During the cultivation period (ranging from 72 to 264 hours), the medium undergoes notable changes in color: it transitions to a complete brown-red-black hue, and the number of visible particles at the bottom of the tilted flask increases. The oil becomes fully dispersed in the medium, exhibiting a significant orange color, indicative of daunomycin presence. When the flask is left undisturbed, a slight but discernible orange layer containing daunomycin may form at the top of the medium due to the oil. 457

The initial color of the medium post-autoclaving, characterized by an olive 463 grey/green hue, suggests the presence of oxidized compounds and iron in solution (Fe<sup>3+</sup>), 464 indicating that iron is in an oxidized state. This coloration is often indicative of specific 465 iron compounds and potentially other components within the complex medium. Additionally, the olive or grey tint may arise from supplementary elements such as phytates from soy flour or phenolic compounds found in olive pomace oil, which contribute to this initial hue.

As the substrate is utilized and the culture transitions into a more reduced state during cultivation, the medium darkens significantly. This color change correlates with increased anaerobic or reducing conditions, likely due to reduction processes facilitated by the metabolic activities of strain. The darkening indicates the formation of reduced iron species ( $Fe^{2*}$ ) as  $Fe^{3*}$  is reduced during microbial respiration and other metabolic processes. 475

Moreover, the accumulation of other metabolites or degradation products from microbial growth may further contribute to the overall darkening. At the peak of daunomycin production, the medium exhibits a complete black coloration, signifying a substantial shift in the chemical composition. 479

This extensive reduction of ferric iron to ferrous iron, along with the production of<br/>complex organic molecules such as daunomycin and possibly other metabolites, results<br/>in this dark appearance. The black color may also indicate the formation of complex com-<br/>pounds, either through the aggregation of iron with organic matter or through the precip-<br/>itation of iron complexes, particularly in systems where high concentrations of organic<br/>480acids and phenolic compounds are present.480

The changes in color of the culture medium correlate closely with the redox potential (Eh) and the microbiological activity of strain. The darkening indicates the reduction of oxidized iron species and possibly the production of additional organic compounds (e.g., daunomycin and other metabolites), which uniquely alter the optical properties of the medium. 486

\_\_\_\_\_

12 of 20

The presence of black, hard precipitates at the end of fermentation mixed with inactive daunomycin that can be liberated by strong acid calls for a deeper exploration of the chemical interactions occurring during the fermentation of Streptomyces coeruleorubidus. Here are some potential explanations for this phenomenon, implications for your process, and suggestions for further exploration.

#### 3.6. Chemical Nature of Precipitates

496

Formation of Precipitated Complexes: The black precipitate is likely composed of complexed iron (Fe<sup>2+</sup> or Fe<sup>3+</sup>) in conjunction with organic matter produced during the fermentation process, including metabolites such as daunomycin. Precipitation occurs when iron ions interact with specific organic compounds or when pH levels shift due to microbial metabolism. Often, phenolic compounds and other secondary metabolites can bind with iron, resulting in the formation of insoluble complexes that aggregate into larger precipitates. 503

Inactive Daunomycin: The inactivity of the daunomycin in the precipitate could be due to<br/>its binding to iron or other components. When daunomycin complexes with iron or other<br/>molecules, it may lose its bioactivity. This situation can arise due to structural changes in<br/>the drug or steric hindrance. The black precipitate likely represents a combination of iron-<br/>daunomycin complexes and other organic materials. The binding of daunomycin<br/>son504<br/>507<br/>507source it unavailable in its active form.509

#### 3.7. Measurement of pH, DO, and Eh During Fermentation

510

To confirm the hypothesis that color changes in the culture medium result from 511 alterations in redox potential (Eh) and iron reduction during fermentation, we conducted 512 precise measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), and Eh throughout the fermentation 513 process. The results presented aim to elucidate how these parameters interact and 514 influence one another, thus providing insights into the biochemical processes during 515 microbial growth. By systematically correlating the data from these measurements with 516 the observed color variations, we sought to identify the most effective indicators for 517 monitoring the cultivation process. 518

However, our results indicated that pH and DO were inadequate metrics for this purpose. While pH experienced minimal fluctuations, DO levels significantly declined within the first 24 hours, ultimately dropping to near-zero values. This decline was further exacerbated by calibration limitations of the oxygen electrode and only became evident at the point of process collapse. 523

In contrast, the measurement of redox potential emerged as a highly informative 524 parameter. Our findings revealed a marked increase in Eh immediately after autoclaving, 525 likely due to the oxidation of organic compounds and trivalent iron (Fe3+) present in the 526 medium. This observation suggests that redox potential is a more reliable indicator for 527 monitoring fermentation processes and understanding the biochemical changes linked to 528 color variations in the culture medium. Notably, we found an inverse relationship 529 between Eh values and daunomycin production: as Eh decreased during fermentation, 530 daunomycin production correspondingly increased. This correlation underscores the 531 potential for utilizing redox potential as a tool to optimize conditions for enhanced 532 secondary metabolite production. 533

Based on the obtained data, the changes related to Eh during cultivation can be 534 generally divided into three phases: 535

- 1. Eh Measurement Before and After Autoclaving: Measurements of redox potential (Eh) 536 provide critical insights into the state of the culture medium before and after 537 autoclaving. Prior to autoclaving, Eh reflects the initial conditions of the medium, 538 which may contain a mix of organic substrates, dissolved oxygen, and potentially 539 microbial metabolites or contaminants that influence redox potential. Following 540 autoclaving, a marked increase in Eh is observed, attributable to several key factors. 541 First, the breakdown of organic compounds during autoclaving releases oxidizing 542 agents, such as hydrogen peroxide, and modifies the solubility of metal ions, 543 collectively enhancing the overall redox potential. Additionally, autoclaving 544 effectively sterilizes the medium, allowing any residual dissolved oxygen to remain, 545 further contributing to the elevation of Eh values. These changes underscore the 546 significance of monitoring redox potential, illustrating how autoclaving not only 547 sterilizes but also transforms the oxidation-reduction environment of the culture 548 medium. 549
- During Microbial Growth: As the growth of Streptomyces coeruleorubidus progresses, 2. 550 we observe a notable decline in redox potential (Eh), driven by intrinsic biological 551 processes. This decrease is primarily attributed to microbial metabolism, where the 552 breakdown of carbon sources generates reducing equivalents, such as NADH. These 553 reducing equivalents are utilized in various biochemical pathways, resulting in a 554 reduced oxidation state of the medium. Moreover, the aerobic growth of the bacteria 555 consumes dissolved oxygen, further promoting reducing conditions. The 556 accumulation of reductive metabolites, including organic acids and other reducing 557 agents, exacerbates the decline in redox potential. Collectively, these factors highlight 558 the dynamic interplay between microbial activity and redox potential, emphasizing 559 how the metabolic processes of Streptomyces coeruleorubidus significantly alter the 560 redox environment as the culture develops. 561
- The Irreversible End of Cultivation: At the irreversible end of microbial cultivation, we 3. 562 observe a significant increase in redox potential (Eh), signalling critical phenomena 563 within the culture medium. One major contributor to this rise in Eh is nutrient 564 depletion; as available substrates become scarce, the metabolic processes of 565 microorganisms may shift, potentially halting or reversing reduction processes due to 566 resource lack. This transition can create oxidative conditions as the medium recovers 567 from previous reduced states. Additionally, cell lysis releases various intracellular 568 compounds that can be complex with metal ions, such as iron, which may lead to 569 cytotoxic effects that inhibit bacterial growth, further influencing the redox state. 570 Moreover, as the culture nears the end of its viability, remaining cells may begin to 571 oxidize any residual substrates, contributing to the increase in Eh. Together, these 572 factors illustrate how the microbial community's dynamics evolve toward the 573 conclusion of cultivation, culminating in a notable shift in the redox potential of the 574 medium as resources dwindle and cellular structures break down. 575

#### 3.8. Sediment friability

576 577

As previously described, we propose that the sediment may consist of aggregates 578 formed from smaller particles containing daunomycin and iron. To validate this 579 hypothesis, we assessed the friability of the sediment using a Malvern 2000 particle size 580 analyzer. When the sediment was mixed with 0.1% SDS in water, the aggregates initiated 581

a time-dependent disaggregation process characterized by an increase in the number of 582 smaller, free particles. 583

These particles seem to undergo spontaneous aggregation throughout the 584 fermentation process. This phenomenon may be partially explained by changes in the 585 consistency of the growth medium, as well as a potential increase in precipitate formation 586 during fermentation. The interaction between these factors likely facilitates the 587 aggregation process, leading to the formation of the observed sediment. The data obtained 588 significantly enhance our understanding of the nature of the sediments. To further clarify 589 the formation and morphology of the sediment-forming particles, it was crucial to observe 590 their morphology during the aggregation process. 591

#### 3.9. Observation of Morphological Changes During Fermentation

The morphological diversity observed during the fermentation process highlights 593 various particle sizes and structures formed throughout synthesis. As illustrated in the accompanying photographs, the medium contains a multitude of particles exhibiting different shapes and sizes, ranging from nanoparticles to more organized structures, which likely correspond to different stages of fermentation and detoxification. 597

The presence of nanoparticles indicates successful iron reduction and the formation 598 of stable iron-containing particles. These nanoparticles are characterized by their small 599 size, which contributes to unique properties, including increased surface area and potential bio-reactivity. 601

Micro-sized particles, ranging from approximately 3 to 5 microns, likely represent intermediate structures developed during fermentation. These particles are composed of membrane-bound, optically dense materials, which may indicate the aggregation of nanoparticles (see Figures 3b and 3c), and are covered by a shell formed by dark oval structures. 600

Moreover, the identification of larger sediment pieces, greater than 100 microns, suggests the aggregation of smaller particles, potentially facilitated by interactions with extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) produced during microbial growth or the settling of heavier complexes that form throughout the fermentation process. 610

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) analysis of the native samples reveals that these large particles are covered by a layer of inorganic material, identified by X-ray Diffraction (XRD) analysis as gypsum (see Figures 5d and 5e). This inorganic surface layer may stabilize the particles and prevent the release of daunomycin into the medium. 611

The photographs also indicate the presence of highly variable particles or aggregates, which might interact with or store daunomycin. Most particles consist of iron-organic water-insoluble precipitates covered by a mineral gypsum layer. To ascertain the presence of daunomycin within these particles, it was necessary to remove the protective layers using hydrogen peroxide.

Exposure to hydrogen peroxide resulted in the bleaching of darker pigmentation, liberating reddish vesicles. Extended exposure led to an increase in the number of vesicles formed. High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis of the collected vesicles confirmed the presence of daunomycin. 623

The release of pigmented vesicles or vacuoles suggests that daunomycin is likely 624 localized within membrane-bound structures inside the larger particles rather than 625

existing in a freely accessible form. This finding implies that the optically dense structures identified by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) may serve as reservoirs for daunomycin, effectively isolating it from the surrounding environment. 628

The presence of iron in the particles was proven by a combination of SEM and EDS. 629 The results from the energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDS) analysis reveal the 630 presence of iron (Fe) in the analyzed sample. The Fe L emission lines were not detected, 631 indicating that the EDS system did not identify any significant contributions from the L 632 shell transitions for iron. In contrast, the Fe K emission lines exhibited a measurable 633 intensity of 5.27 counts, with an uncertainty of ±0.79, suggesting a notable presence of iron 634 in the sample. This intensity implies that iron is a significant component within the 635 analyzed material. 636

#### 3.10. Detection and identification of proteins in the daunomycin-iron-organic matter complex 637

To determine the daunomycin binding or transporting protein homogenate from the washed sediment was prepared in a sample buffer and analyzed on 10% gel. The proteins involved in daunomycin interaction were stained directly by a metabolite and control visually. 641

Samples for SDS-PAGE were prepared in a reducing buffer, boiled, and separated on a 10% gel, followed by staining with Coomassie Blue. After destaining, the visible proteins were excised and analyzed by TOF MALDI to determine the proteins present in the complex. Only results with more than three matches and greater than 20% sequence coverage were considered positive. 646

Under conditions characterized by high iron content and chemical stress, two distinct groups of proteins exhibit critical functional similarities in managing oxidative stress and enhancing cellular resilience. 649

Group One	Group Two
<ul> <li>Bacterioferritin</li> <li>Catalase</li> <li>Oxidoreductase</li> <li>Glycinin G1</li> <li>Glycinin G4</li> <li>β-Conglycinin</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Chemical-damaging agent resistance protein C</li> <li>Major outer membrane lipoprotein</li> <li>Xanthine dehydrogenase</li> <li>Molybdopterin dehydrogenase</li> <li>Aklanon acid methyl ester cyclase (Dau D)</li> <li>Superoxide dismutase</li> <li>Nickel-containing superoxide dismutase</li> <li>Glutamate-binding protein</li> </ul>

650

In a high iron content medium, proteins such as bacterioferritin [28], catalase, [29,30], 651

oxidoreductase [31-33], glycinin G1, glycinin G4, and β-conglycinin exhibit functional 652

similarities that are crucial for managing iron homeostasis and mitigating oxidative stress related to elevated iron levels [34–36]). Bacterioferritin plays a vital role in sequestering excess iron to prevent toxicity by storing it in a biologically accessible form while

16 of 20

facilitating its release when needed for cellular processes [28]. Catalase is essential in 656 protecting cells from oxidative damage that can arise from increased iron, particularly by 657 catalyzing the formation of reactive oxygen species, including hydrogen peroxide. 658 Oxidoreductases contribute to redox balance in the presence of high iron by facilitating 659 necessary metabolic reactions and detoxifying harmful compounds. Additionally, storage 660 proteins like glycinin G1, G4, and β-conglycinin provide essential amino acids and may 661 participate in cellular stress responses, modulating protein synthesis and repair processes 662 in response to elevated iron levels. Together, these proteins work synergistically to 663 maintain iron homeostasis, protect against oxidative stress, and support overall metabolic 664 functions, reinforcing resilience in high-iron environments. 665

Although not quantified, phytic acid, which is present in soy grits, serves as a multifunctional component in high-iron content systems. It supports iron chelation, acts as an antioxidant, regulates mineral absorption, and may influence cellular signaling and gene expression. Its presence can synergize with the aforementioned proteins, bolstering iron homeostasis and enhancing the organism's overall resilience under stress conditions.

The second group of proteins-including chemical-damaging agent resistance 671 protein C, major outer membrane lipoprotein, xanthine dehydrogenase (YagS FAD-672 binding subunit), molybdopterin dehydrogenase, alkanoic acid methyl ester cyclase (Dau 673 D), putative flavoprotein, superoxide dismutase, nickel-containing superoxide dismutase, 674 and glutamate-binding protein-exhibits notable functional similarities related to stress 675 response. Specifically, these proteins contribute to the organism's ability to withstand 676 chemical toxicity and oxidative stress. The chemical-damaging agent resistance protein C 677 provides protection against harmful compounds, while the major outer membrane 678 lipoprotein helps maintain membrane integrity under stress [37]. Xanthine 679 dehydrogenase [38] and molybdopterin dehydrogenase [39] are critical for redox balance 680 and managing reactive oxygen species. Although the alkanoic acid methyl ester cyclase is 681 primarily associated with secondary metabolite biosynthesis of anthracyclines [40], it also 682 participates in metabolic pathways essential for stress resilience. Additionally, superoxide 683 dismutase and nickel-containing superoxide dismutase directly combat oxidative 684 damage, converting harmful superoxide radicals into less toxic molecules [41]. Finally, 685 glutamate-binding protein belongs to ABC transporters and may support cellular 686 homeostasis indirectly under stress conditions [42]. Collectively, these proteins enhance 687 the strain's survival and adaptability amidst chemical stresses, underscoring their 688 importance in the strain's metabolic and stress response networks. 689

690 It is of the utmost importance to highlight the unique origin of the Streptomyces strain employed in this study, which was isolated from mosquito larvae. This research not 691 only delineates a novel cultivation process for the production of daunomycin but also 692 illuminates the significant potential of insect-derived microorganisms as valuable assets 693 in pharmaceutical research. Insects, representing one of the most diverse taxa on the 694 planet, are hosts to a vast array of microorganisms, which may yield a wealth of bioactive 695 compounds relevant to drug development. Recent studies have increasingly recognized 696 these insect-associated bacteria as promising sources for pharmaceutically active 697 substances [43-45]. 698

The metabolic diversity inherent in these insect-associated microbes, cultivated over millions of years of co-evolution with their hosts, presents a significant opportunity for advancing drug discovery, particularly in the context of rising antimicrobial resistance and the emergence of novel diseases [46,47]. It is, therefore, evident that the exploration of this hitherto underutilized microbial reservoir has the potential to pave the way for the identification of innovative therapeutic agents, thereby making a significant contribution to the ongoing efforts in pharmaceutical research and development. 705

#### 5. Conclusions

In conclusion, this study presents significant advancements in understanding the bi-707 ogenic nanoparticle formation mechanism, particularly in the context of daunomycin pro-708 duction, an anthracycline antibiotic pivotal for the treatment of cancers such as leukemia. 709 The inherent cytotoxicity of daunomycin and the challenges associated with its industrial-710 scale synthesis due to microbial toxicity have limited its therapeutic applicability. By de-711 veloping a specialized cultivation medium that integrates olive pomace oil and iron, this 712 research successfully induces an autonomous resistance mechanism through biogenic na-713 noparticle formation (ADBN). The amphiphilic properties of olive pomace oil not only 714 serve as a carbon source but also facilitate the stabilization of nanoparticles, thereby en-715 hancing the efficacy of the synthesis process due to its rich phenolic content, which pro-716 motes crucial redox reactions. 717

The optimization of the medium composition through empirical methods resulted 718 in a marked increase in daunomycin production, achieving yields between 5.5 and 6.0 g/L, 719 which demonstrates a significant advancement relative to prior methodologies. Charac-720 terization of the nanoparticles confirmed the successful incorporation of iron and dauno-721 mycin, underscoring the potential of this approach to mitigate cytotoxicity while improv-722 ing yield. The presence of specific proteins associated with iron homeostasis and oxidative 723 stress response further illustrates the organism's ability to adapt to high iron concentra-724 tions, highlighting the intricate biochemical pathways at play. Moreover, the observed 725 inverse correlation between redox potential (Eh) and daunomycin production suggests 726 that monitoring Eh could serve as a valuable indicator for optimizing fermentation con-727 ditions. 728

This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibi-729 otic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts 730 through the production of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently re-731 covered from the cultivation medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues 732 for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation 733 and the optimization of cultivation processes. Such explorations may not only refine mi-734 crobial production systems for daunomycin but also broaden the potential application of 735 similar strategies for the synthesis of other therapeutically essential compounds. 736

Author Contributions: For research articles with several authors, a short paragraph specifying their 738 individual contributions must be provided. The following statements should be used "Conceptual-739 ization, V.M. and K.B.; methodology, V.M.; software, M.R.; validation, B.P., A.V., V.C., and J.M.; 74N formal analysis, J.M.; investigation, K.B.; resources, V.M.; data curation, B.P.; writing-original draft 741 preparation, V.M., V.C., and B.P.; writing-review and editing, V.M., B.P., V.C., A.V.,; visualization, K.B., B.P.; supervision, V.M and V.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of 742 743 the manuscript. 744

Funding: The study was funded by the Grant Agency of University of South Bohemia, project GAJU 745 080/2022/Z. 746

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to express their gratitude to the University of South 747 Bohemia in the Czech Republic for its financial and infrastructural support. 748 749

Conflicts of Interest: "The authors declare no conflicts of interest."

750

Refe	rences	751
1.	Thomas, G.J. Synthesis of Anthracyclines Related to Daunomycin. In Recent Progress in the Chemical Synthesis of Antibiotics; Lukacs, G., Ohno, M., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1990; pp. 467–496 ISBN	752 753
	978-3-642-75617-7.	754
2.	Thirumaran, R.; Prendergast, G.C.; Gilman, P.B. Chapter 7 - Cytotoxic Chemotherapy in Clinical Treatment of	755
	Cancer. In Cancer Immunotherapy; Prendergast, G.C., Jaffee, E.M., Eds.; Academic Press: Burlington, 2007; pp.	756
	101–116 ISBN 978-0-12-372551-6.	757
3.	Vasanthakumar, A.; Kattusamy, K.; Prasad, R. Regulation of Daunorubicin Biosynthesis in Streptomyces	758
	Peucetius - Feed Forward and Feedback Transcriptional Control. J Basic Microbiol 2013, 53, 636-644,	759
	doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200302.	760
4.	Srinivasan, P.; Palani, S.N.; Prasad, R. Daunorubicin Efflux in Streptomyces Peucetius Modulates Biosynthesis	761
	by Feedback Regulation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2010, 305, 18–27, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01905.x.	762
5.	Taatjes, D.J.; Gaudiano, G.; Resing, K.; Koch, T.H. Redox Pathway Leading to the Alkylation of DNA by the	763
	Anthracycline, Antitumor Drugs Adriamycin and Daunomycin. J Med Chem 1997, 40, 1276-1286,	764
	doi:10.1021/jm960835d.	765
6.	Kaiserová, H.; Šimůnek, T.; Štěrba, M.; den Hartog, G.J.M.; Schröterová, L.; Popelová, O.; Geršl, V.; Kvasničková,	766
	E.; Bast, A. New Iron Chelators in Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Toxicol 2007, 7, 145–150,	767
	doi:10.1007/s12012-007-0020-6.	768
7.	Cai, J.; Deng, T.; Shi, J.; Chen, C.; Wang, Z.; Liu, Y. Daunorubicin Resensitizes Gram-Negative Superbugs to the	769
	Last-Line Antibiotics and Prevents the Transmission of Antibiotic Resistance. iScience 2023, 26,	770
	doi:10.1016/j.isci.2023.106809.	771
8.	Malla, S.; Niraula, N.P.; Liou, K.; Sohng, J.K. Improvement in Doxorubicin Productivity by Overexpression of	772
	Regulatory Genes in Streptomyces Peucetius. Res Microbiol 2010, 161, 109-117,	773
	doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.12.003.	774
9.	Yuan, T.; Yin, C.; Zhu, C.; Zhu, B.; Hu, Y. Improvement of Antibiotic Productivity by Knock-out of DauW in	775
	Streptomyces Coeruleobidus. Microbiol Res 2011, 166, 539-547, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.10.006.	776
10.	Afonso, I.S.; Cardoso, B.; Nobrega, G.; Minas, G.; Ribeiro, J.E.; Lima, R.A. Green Synthesis of Nanoparticles from	777
	Olive Oil Waste for Environmental and Health Applications: A Review. J Environ Chem Eng 2024, 12, 114022,	778
	doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2024.114022.	779
11.	Antónia Nunes, M.; Costa, A.S.G.; Bessada, S.; Santos, J.; Puga, H.; Alves, R.C.; Freitas, V.; Oliveira, M.B.P.P.	780
	Olive Pomace as a Valuable Source of Bioactive Compounds: A Study Regarding Its Lipid- and Water-Soluble	781
	Components. Science of The Total Environment 2018, 644, 229–236,	782
	doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.350.	783
12.	Mashaghi, S.; Jadidi, T.; Koenderink, G.; Mashaghi, A. Lipid Nanotechnology. Int J Mol Sci 2013, 14, 4242–4282.	784
13.	Lombardo, D.; Calandra, P.; Pasqua, L.; Magazù, S. Self-Assembly of Organic Nanomaterials and Biomaterials:	785
	The Bottom-up Approach for Functional Nanostructures Formation and Advanced Applications. Materials 2020,	786
	13, doi:10.3390/ma13051048.	787
14.	Kargari Aghmiouni, D.; Khoee, S. Dual-Drug Delivery by Anisotropic and Uniform Hybrid Nanostructures: A	788
	Comparative Study of the Function and Substrate-Drug Interaction Properties. Pharmaceutics 2023, 15.	789
15.	Perron, N.R.; Brumaghim, J.L. A Review of the Antioxidant Mechanisms of Polyphenol Compounds Related to	790
	Iron Binding. Cell Biochem Biophys 2009, 53, 75–100, doi:10.1007/s12013-009-9043-x.	791

16.	Amini, S.M.; Akbari, A. Metal Nanoparticles Synthesis through Natural Phenolic Acids. <i>IET Nanobiotechnol</i> <b>2019</b> ,	792
	13, 771–777, doi:https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-nbt.2018.5386.	793
17.	Hsueh, CC.; Wu, CC.; Chen, BY. Polyphenolic Compounds as Electron Shuttles for Sustainable Energy	794
	Utilization. Biotechnol Biofuels 2019, 12, 271, doi:10.1186/s13068-019-1602-9.	795
18.	Anand, S.; Sowbhagya, R.; Ansari, M.A.; Alzohairy, M.A.; Alomary, M.N.; Almalik, A.I.; Ahmad, W.; Tripathi,	796
	T.; Elderdery, A.Y. Polyphenols and Their Nanoformulations: Protective Effects against Human Diseases. Life	797
	2022, 12.	798
19.	Studart, A.R.; Amstad, E.; Gauckler, L.J. Colloidal Stabilization of Nanoparticles in Concentrated Suspensions.	799
	Langmuir 2007, 23, 1081–1090, doi:10.1021/la062042s.	800
20.	Anani, O.A.; Inobeme, A.; Osarenotor, O.; Olisaka, F.N.; Aidonojie, P.A.; Olatunji, E.O.; Habib, A.I. Application	801
	of Microorganisms as Biofactories to Produce Biogenic Nanoparticles for Environmental Cleanup: Currents	802
	Advances and Challenges. Curr Nanosci 2023, 19, 770–782.	803
21.	Kulkarni, D.; Sherkar, R.; Shirsathe, C.; Sonwane, R.; Varpe, N.; Shelke, S.; More, M.P.; Pardeshi, S.R.;	804
	Dhaneshwar, G.; Junnuthula, V.; et al. Biofabrication of Nanoparticles: Sources, Synthesis, and Biomedical	805
	Applications. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2023, 11.	806
22.	Blumauerová, M.; Pokorný, V.; Šťastná, J.; HoŠťálek, Z.; Vaněk, Z. Developmental Mutants OfStreptomyces	807
	Coeruleorubidus, a Producer of Anthracyclines: Isolation and Preliminary Characterization. Folia Microbiol	808
	(Praha) 1978, 23, 177–182, doi:10.1007/BF02876576.	809
23.	McMurry, L.M.; Oethinger, M.; Levy, S.B. Triclosan Targets Lipid Synthesis. Nature 1998, 394, 531-532,	810
	doi:10.1038/28970.	811
24.	Hopwood, D.A.; Wright, H.M. Factors Affecting Recombinant Frequency in Protoplast Fusions of Streptomyces	812
	Coelicolor. J Gen Microbiol 1979, 111, 137–143, doi:10.1099/00221287-111-1-137.	813
25.	HOPWOOD, D.A.; WRIGHT, H.M. Protoplast Fusion in Streptomyces: Fusions Involving Ultraviolet-Irradiated	814
	Protoplasts. Microbiology (N Y) 1981, 126, 21-27, doi:10.1099/00221287-126-1-21.	815
26.	Okanishi, M.; Suzuki, K.; Umezawa, H. Formation and Reversion of Streptomycete Protoplasts: Cultural	816
	Condition and Morphological Study. J Gen Microbiol 1974, 80, 389-400, doi:10.1099/00221287-80-2-389.	817
27.	Hopwood, D.A.; Wright, H.M. Bacterial Protoplast Fusion: Recombination in Fused Protoplasts of Streptomyces	818
	Coelicolor. Mol Gen Genet 1978, 162, 307-317, doi:10.1007/BF00268856.	819
28.	Rivera, M. Bacterioferritin: Structure, Dynamics, and Protein-Protein Interactions at Play in Iron Storage and	820
	Mobilization. Acc Chem Res 2017, 50, 331–340, doi:10.1021/acs.accounts.6b00514.	821
29.	Mahaseth, T.; Kuzminov, A. Potentiation of Hydrogen Peroxide Toxicity: From Catalase Inhibition to Stable	822
	DNA-Iron Complexes. Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research 2017, 773, 274-281,	823
	doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2016.08.006.	824
30.	Kim, Y.; Roe, JH.; Park, JH.; Cho, YJ.; Lee, KL. Regulation of Iron Homeostasis by Peroxide-Sensitive CatR,	825
	a Fur-Family Regulator in Streptomyces Coelicolor. Journal of Microbiology 2021, 59, 1083-1091,	826
	doi:10.1007/s12275-021-1457-1.	827
31.	Toone, E.J. Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology, Volume 75: Protein Evolution; John Wiley	828
	& Sons, 2010; Vol. 75; ISBN 0470891327.	829
32.	Martelin, E.; Lapatto, R.; Raivio, K.O. Regulation of Xanthine Oxidoreductase by Intracellular Iron. American	830
	Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology <b>2002</b> , 283, C1722–C1728, doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00280.2002.	831
33.	Sirivech, S.; Driskell, J.; Frieden, E. NADH-FMN Oxidoreductase Activity and Iron Content of Organs from	832
	Riboflavin- and Iron-Deficient Rats. J Nutr 1977, 107, 739–745, doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/107.5.739.	833

34.	Lynch, S.R.; Dassenko, S.A.; Cook, J.D.; Juillerat, M.A.; Hurrell, R.F. Inhibitory Effect of a Soybean-Protein-	834
	Related Moiety on Iron Absorption in Humans. Am J Clin Nutr 1994, 60, 567-572,	835
	doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/60.4.567.	836
35.	Schnepf, M.I. A Study of Iron Binding by Soy Protein; The University of Nebraska-Lincoln, 1984; ISBN	837
	9798205894081.	838
36.	Yang, R.; Zhu, L.; Meng, D.; Wang, Q.; Zhou, K.; Wang, Z.; Zhou, Z. Proteins from Leguminous Plants: From	839
	Structure, Property to the Function in Encapsulation/Binding and Delivery of Bioactive Compounds. Crit Rev	840
	Food Sci Nutr 2022, 62, 5203–5223, doi:10.1080/10408398.2021.1883545.	841
37.	Eric, C.; Alain, B.; Marthe, G.; Jean-Claude, L.; Roland, L. Pal Lipoprotein of Escherichia Coli Plays a Major Role	842
	in Outer Membrane Integrity. J Bacteriol 2002, 184, 754-759, doi:10.1128/jb.184.3.754-759.2002.	843
38.	OHE, T.; WATANABE, Y. Purification and Properties of Xanthine Dehydrogenase from Streptomyces	844
	Cyanogenus1. The Journal of Biochemistry 1979, 86, 45–53, doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a132518.	845
39.	Leimkühler, S.; Iobbi-Nivol, C. Bacterial Molybdoenzymes: Old Enzymes for New Purposes. FEMS Microbiol Rev	846
	<b>2016</b> , 40, 1–18, doi:10.1093/femsre/fuv043.	847
40.	Kantola, J.; Kunnari, T.; Hautala, A.; Hakala, J.; Ylihonko, K.; Ma\$ Ntsa\$ La\$, P. Elucidation of Anthracyclinone	848
	Biosynthesis by Stepwise Cloning of Genes for Anthracyclines from Three Different Streptomyces Spp; 2000; Vol. 146;.	849
41.	YOUN, HD.; KIM, EJ.; ROE, JH.; HAH, Y.C.; KANG, SO. A Novel Nickel-Containing Superoxide	850
	Dismutase from Streptomyces Spp. Biochemical Journal 1996, 318, 889-896, doi:10.1042/bj3180889.	851
42.	Pierre, L.M.; Paulette, D.; H, M.C.; Jeril, D.; Danièle, J.; Thierry, D.; Marine, F.; Aleksey, S.; Violaine, C.; Marie-	852
	Joelle, V. Comparative Proteomic Analysis of Streptomyces Lividans Wild-Type and Ppk Mutant Strains Reveals	853
	the Importance of Storage Lipids for Antibiotic Biosynthesis. Appl Environ Microbiol 2013, 79, 5907-5917,	854
	doi:10.1128/AEM.02280-13.	855
43.	Chevrette, M.G.; Carlson, C.M.; Ortega, H.E.; Thomas, C.; Ananiev, G.E.; Barns, K.J.; Book, A.J.; Cagnazzo, J.;	856
	Carlos, C.; Flanigan, W.; et al. The Antimicrobial Potential of Streptomyces from Insect Microbiomes. Nat	857
	Commun 2019, 10, 516, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-08438-0.	858
44.	Van Moll, L.; De Smet, J.; Cos, P.; Van Campenhout, L. Microbial Symbionts of Insects as a Source of New	859
	Antimicrobials: A Review. Crit Rev Microbiol 2021, 47, 562-579, doi:10.1080/1040841X.2021.1907302.	860
45.	Diarra, U.; Osborne-Naikatini, T.; Subramani, R. Actinomycetes Associated with Hymenopteran Insects: A	861
	Promising Source of Bioactive Natural Products. Front Microbiol 2024, 15.	862
46.	Dettner, K. Potential Pharmaceuticals from Insects and Their Co-Occurring Microorganisms. In Insect	863
	Biotechnology; Vilcinskas, A., Ed.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2011; pp. 95–119 ISBN 978-90-481-9641-8.	864
47.	Bode, H.B. Insect-Associated Microorganisms as a Source for Novel Secondary Metabolites with Therapeutic	865
	Potential. In Insect Biotechnology; Vilcinskas, A., Ed.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2011; pp. 77-93 ISBN 978-	866
	90-481-9641-8.	867
		868
Discl	aimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual au-	869
thor(s	s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to	870
peopl	e or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.	871

### 7. Conclusion

In conclusion, this study presents significant advancements in understanding the biogenic nanoparticle formation mechanism, particularly in the context of daunomycin production, an anthracycline antibiotic pivotal for the treatment of cancers such as leukemia. The inherent cytotoxicity of daunomycin and the challenges associated with its industrial-scale synthesis due to microbial toxicity have limited its therapeutic applicability. By developing a specialized cultivation medium that integrates olive pomace oil and iron, this research successfully induces an autonomous resistance mechanism through biogenic nanoparticle formation (ADBN). The amphiphilic properties of olive pomace oil not only serve as a carbon source but also facilitate the stabilization of nanoparticles, thereby enhancing the efficacy of the synthesis process due to its rich phenolic content, which promotes crucial redox reactions.

The optimization of the medium composition through empirical methods resulted in a marked increase in daunomycin production, achieving yields between 5.5 and 6.0 g/L, which demonstrates a significant advancement relative to prior methodologies. Characterization of the nanoparticles confirmed the successful incorporation of iron and daunomycin, underscoring the potential of this approach to mitigate cytotoxicity while improving yield. The presence of specific proteins associated with iron homeostasis and oxidative stress response further illustrates the organism's ability to adapt to high iron concentrations, highlighting the intricate biochemical pathways at play. Moreover, the observed inverse correlation between redox potential (Eh) and daunomycin production suggests that monitoring Eh could serve as a valuable indicator for optimizing fermentation conditions.

This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibiotic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the production of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes. Such explorations may not only refine microbial production systems for daunomycin but also broaden the potential application of similar strategies for the synthesis of other therapeutically important compounds. In conclusion, it is of the utmost importance to highlight the unique origin of the Streptomyces strain employed in this study, which was isolated from mosquito larvae. This research not only delineates a novel cultivation process for the production of daunomycin but also illuminates the significant potential of insect-derived microorganisms as valuable assets in pharmaceutical research. Insects, representing one of the most diverse taxa on the planet, are hosts to a vast array of microorganisms, which may yield a wealth of bioactive compounds relevant to drug development. Recent studies have increasingly recognized these insect-associated bacteria as promising sources for pharmaceutically active substances (Piel 2006; Chevrette et al. 2019; Van Moll et al. 2021; Diarra et al. 2024).

The metabolic diversity inherent in these insect-associated microbes, cultivated over millions of years of co-evolution with their hosts, presents a significant opportunity for advancing drug discovery, particularly in the context of rising antimicrobial resistance and the emergence of novel diseases (Bode 2011; Dettner 2011). It is therefore evident that the exploration of this hitherto underutilized microbial reservoir has the potential to pave the way for the identification of innovative therapeutic agents, thereby making a significant contribution to the ongoing efforts in pharmaceutical research and development.

## 8. References

- Abdella BR, Fisher J. A (1985) A chemical perspective on the anthracycline antitumor antibiotics. Environ Health Perspect 64:4-18.
- Abdi SN, Ghotaslou R, Ganbarov K, et al (2020) Acinetobacter baumannii Efflux Pumps and Antibiotic Resistance. Infect Drug Resist 13:423–434. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S228089
- Afonso IS, Cardoso B, Nobrega G, Minas G, Ribeiro JE, Lima RA (2024) Green synthesis of nanoparticles from olive oil waste for environmental and health applications: A review. J. Env. Chem. Eng. 12:114022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2024.114022.
- Aguree S, Guo L, Reddy MB. (2020) Phytic Acid Protects from Oxidative Stress Induced by Iron-Overload and High-Fat Diets in ß2-Microglobulin Knockout Mice. Molecules 25:5331. doi: 10.3390/molecules25225331
- Ainger LE, Bushore J, Johnson WW, et al Daunomycin: A Cardiotoxic Agent\* Professor of Pediatrics, Meharry Medical College
- Ait BE, Parul V, Lisa S, et al (2015) Taxonomy, Physiology, and Natural Products of Actinobacteria. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 80:1–43. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00019-15
- Allenby NEE, Laing E, Bucca G, et al (2012) Diverse control of metabolism and other cellular processes in Streptomyces coelicolor by the PhoP transcription factor: genome-wide identification of in vivo targets. Nucleic Acids Res 40:9543–9556. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks766
- Alves AC, Nunes C, Lima J, Reis S (2017) Daunorubicin and doxorubicin molecular interplay with 2D membrane models. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 160:610–618. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.09.058
- Amselem S, Cohen R, Druckmann S, et al (1992) Preparation and Characterization of Liposomal Doxorubicin for Human Use. J Liposome Res 2:93–123. https://doi.org/10.3109/08982109209039903
- Arcamone F, Franceschi G, Orezzi P, et al (1964) Daunomycin. I. The Structure of Daunomycinone. J Am Chem Soc 86:5334–5335. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01077a059

- Ashley N, Poulton J (2009) Mitochondrial DNA is a direct target of anti-cancer anthracycline drugs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 378:450–455. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.11.059
- Bagnyukova T, Serebriiskii IG, Zhou Y, et al (2010) Chemotherapy and signaling: How can targeted therapies supercharge cytotoxic agents? Cancer Biol Ther 10:839–853
- Barreiro C, Martínez-Castro M (2019) Regulation of the phosphate metabolism in Streptomyces genus: impact on the secondary metabolites. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:1643–1658. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-09600-2
- Barthel BL, Mooz EL, Wiener LE, et al (2016) Correlation of in Situ Oxazolidine Formation with Highly Synergistic Cytotoxicity and DNA Cross-Linking in Cancer Cells from Combinations of Doxorubicin and Formaldehyde. J Med Chem 59:2205– 2221. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01956
- Bayles CE, Hale DE, Konieczny A, et al (2023) Upcycling the anthracyclines: New mechanisms of action, toxicology, and pharmacology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 459:116362. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2022.116362
- Bazzi W, Abou Fayad AG, Nasser A, et al (2020) Heavy Metal Toxicity in Armed Conflicts Potentiates AMR in A. baumannii by Selecting for Antibiotic and Heavy Metal Coresistance Mechanisms. Front Microbiol 11:
- Behranvand N, Nasri F, Zolfaghari Emameh R, et al (2022) Chemotherapy: a double-edged sword in cancer treatment. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy 71:507–526
- Bentley SD, Chater KF, Cerdeño-Tárraga A-M, et al (2002) Complete genome sequence of the model actinomycete Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2). Nature 417:141–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/417141a
- Beraldo H, Garnier-Suillerot A, Tosi L, Lavelle F (1985) Iron(III)-adriamycin and iron(III)daunorubicin complexes: physicochemical characteristics, interaction with DNA, and antitumor activity. Biochemistry 24:284–289. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00323a007
- Bilardi RA, Kimura K-I, Phillips DR, Cutts SM (2012) Processing of anthracycline-DNA adducts via DNA replication and interstrand crosslink repair pathways. Biochem Pharmacol 83:1241–1250. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.01.029
- Bilyk O, Luzhetskyy A (2016) Metabolic engineering of natural product biosynthesis in actinobacteria. Curr Opin Biotechnol 42:98–107. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2016.03.008
- Blumauerová M, Pokorný V, Šťastná J, et al (1978) Developmental mutants ofStreptomyces coeruleorubidus, a producer of anthracyclines: Isolation and

preliminary characterization. Folia Microbiol (Praha) 23:177–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02876576

- Bode HB (2011) Insect-Associated Microorganisms as a Source for Novel Secondary Metabolites with Therapeutic Potential. In: Vilcinskas, A. (eds) Insect Biotechnology.
   Biologically-Inspired Systems, vol 2. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Bossa R, Galatulas I, Mantovani E (1977) Cardio-toxicity of Daunomycin and Adriamycin. Neoplasma 24:405–409
- Brockmann H, Brockmann Jr. H (1963) Rhodomycine, VIII; Antibiotica aus Actinomyceten, L. δ-Rhodomycinon. Chem Ber 96:1771–1778. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cber.19630960705
- Bundale S, Begde D, Nashikkar N, et al (2015) Optimization of Culture Conditions for Production of Bioactive Metabolites by <i&gt;Streptomyces&lt;/i&gt; spp. Isolated from Soil. Adv Microbiol 05:441–451. https://doi.org/10.4236/aim.2015.56045
- Bush K (2013) Proliferation and significance of clinically relevant β-lactamases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1277:84–90. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12023
- Cai J, Deng T, Shi J, et al (2023) Daunorubicin resensitizes Gram-negative superbugs to the last-line antibiotics and prevents the transmission of antibiotic resistance. iScience 26:. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2023.106809
- Calendi E, Di Marco A, Reggiani M, et al (1965) On physico-chemical interactions between daunomycin and nucleic acids. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis 103:25–49. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2787(65)90539-3
- Cascales E, Bernadac A, Gavioli M, Lazzaroni JC, Lloubes R. (2002) Pal lipoprotein of *Escherichia coli* plays a major role in outer membrane integrity. J Bacteriol. 4:754-9. doi: 10.1128/JB.184.3.754-759.2002.
- Čepo VD, Radić K, Jurmanović S, Jug M, Grdić Rajković M, Pedisić S, Moslavac T, Albahari P. (2018) Valorization of Olive Pomace-Based Nutraceuticals as Antioxidants in Chemical, Food, and Biological Models. Molecules 23:2070.
- Chaires JB, Herrera JE, Waring MJ (1990) Preferential binding of daunomycin to 5'TACG and 5'TAGC sequences revealed by footprinting titration experiments. Biochemistry 29:6145–6153. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00478a006
- Chevrette MG, Carlson CM, Ortega HE, Thomas C, Ananiev GE, Barns KJ, Book AJ, Cagnazzo J, Carlos C, Flanigan W, Grubbs KJ, Horn HA, Hoffmann FM, Klassen JL, Knack JJ, Lewin GR, McDonald BR, Muller L, Melo WGP, Pinto-Tomás AA, Schmitz

A, Wendt-Pienkowski E, Wildman S, Zhao M, Zhang F, Bugni TS, Andes DR, Pupo MT, Currie CR. (2019) The antimicrobial potential of Streptomyces from insect microbiomes. Nat Commun. 10:516. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08438-0.

- Comings DE, Drets ME (1976) Mechanisms of chromosome banding. Chromosoma 56:199–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00293185
- Cortés-Funes H, Brugarolas A, Gosálvez M (1980) Quelamycin: A Summary of Phase I Clinical Trials. In: Mathé G, Muggia FM (eds) Cancer Chemo- and Immunopharmacology: 1. Chemopharmacology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 200–206
- Craney A, Ozimok C, Pimentel-Elardo SM, et al (2012) Chemical Perturbation of Secondary Metabolism Demonstrates Important Links to Primary Metabolism. Chem Biol 19:1020–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.06.013
- Cruz C., Santos J., Santos F., Silva G., Cruz E., Ramos G., Nascimento J. (2020). Texturized soy protein as an alternative low-cost media for bacteria cultivation. Bacterial Empire 3:74-76. 10.36547/be.2020.3.4.74-76
- Cullinane C, Phillips DR (1992) In vitro transcription analysis of DNA adducts induced by cyanomorpholinoadriamycin. Biochemistry 31:9513–9519. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00155a001
- De Smet J., Cos P., Van Campenhout L. (2021) Microbial symbionts of insects as a source of new antimicrobials: a review. Critical Reviews in Microbiology 47:562–579. doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2021.1907302
- Deak N., Johnson L. (2007). Fate of Phytic Acid in Producing Soy Protein Ingredients. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society 84:369-376. 10.1007/s11746-007-1050-8.
- Demaria M, O'Leary MN, Chang J, et al (2017) Cellular senescence promotes adverse effects of chemotherapy and cancer relapse. Cancer Discov 7:165–176. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0241
- Dettner K. (2011) Potential Pharmaceuticals from Insects and Their Co-Occurring Microorganisms. In A. Vilcinskas (ed.), Insect Biotechnology, Biologically-Inspired Systems 2. Springer Science+Business Media B.V., pp 95–119.
- Diarra U, Osborne-Naikatini T and Subramani R (2024) Actinomycetes associated with hymenopteran insects: a promising source of bioactive natural products. Front. Microbiol. 15:1303010. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2024.1303010
- Dickens ML, Priestley ND, Strohl WR (1997) In vivo and in vitro bioconversion of epsilonrhodomycinone glycoside to doxorubicin: functions of DauP, DauK, and DoxA. J Bacteriol 179:2641–2650. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.8.2641-2650.1997
- Dickens ML, Ye J, Strohl WR (1995) Analysis of clustered genes encoding both early and late steps in daunomycin biosynthesis by Streptomyces sp. strain C5. J Bacteriol 177:536–543. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.3.536-543.1995
- Dinis P, Tirkkonen H, Wandi BN, et al (2023) Evolution-inspired engineering of anthracycline methyltransferases. PNAS Nexus 2:pgad009. https://doi.org/10.1093/pnasnexus/pgad009
- Dong J, Ning J, Tian Y, et al (2024) The involvement of multiple ABC transporters in daunorubicin efflux in Streptomyces coeruleorubidus. Microb Biotechnol 17:e70023. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.70023
- Drevin G, Briet M, Bazzoli C, et al (2022) Daunorubicin and Its Active Metabolite Pharmacokinetic Profiles in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia Patients: A Pharmacokinetic Ancillary Study of the BIG-1 Trial. Pharmaceutics 14:. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics14040792
- Du D, Wang-Kan X, Neuberger A, et al (2018) Multidrug efflux pumps: structure, function and regulation. Nat Rev Microbiol 16:523–539. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0048-6
- Efthimiou G, Thumser AE, Avignone-Rossa CA (2008) A novel finding that Streptomyces clavuligerus can produce the antibiotic clavulanic acid using olive oil as a sole carbon source. J Appl Microbiol 105:2058–2064. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03975.x
- Eiki H, Gushima H, Saito T, et al (1988) Product inhibition and its removal on josamycin fermentation by Streptomyces narbonensis var. josamyceticus. Journal of Fermentation Technology 66:559–565. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0385-6380(88)90089-1
- Elshahawi SI, Shaaban KA, Kharel MK, Thorson JS (2015) A comprehensive review of glycosylated bacterial natural products. Chem Soc Rev 44:7591–7697. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4CS00426D
- Escalante L, Ramos I, Imriskova I, et al (1999) Glucose repression of anthracycline formation in Streptomyces peucetius var. caesius. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:572– 578. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530051562

- Essack SY (2001) The Development of  $\beta$ -Lactam Antibiotics in Response to the Evolution of  $\beta$ -Lactamases. Pharm Res 18:1391–1399. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012272403776
- Fenical W, Jensen PR (2006) Developing a new resource for drug discovery: marine actinomycete bacteria. Nat Chem Biol 2:666–673. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio841
- Fiallo M, Laigle A, Garnier-Suillerot A, et al (1993) Interactions of iron-anthracycline complexes with living cells: A microspectrofluorometric study. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research 1177:236–244. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4889(93)90119-A
- Fiallo MML, Garnier-Suillerot A (1986) Metal anthracycline complexes as a new class of anthracycline derivatives. Palladium(II)-adriamycin and palladium(II)-daunorubicin complexes: physicochemical characteristics and antitumor activity. Biochemistry 25:924–930. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00352a028
- Fischer EG (2020) Nuclear Morphology and the Biology of Cancer Cells. Acta Cytol 64:511–519
- Forrest RA, Swift LP, Rephaeli A, et al (2012) Activation of DNA damage response pathways as a consequence of anthracycline-DNA adduct formation. Biochem Pharmacol 83:1602–1612. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.02.026
- Fujiwara A, Hoshino T, Westley JW (1985) Anthracycline Antibiotics. Crit Rev Biotechnol 3:133–157. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388558509150782
- Furuya K, Richard Hutchinson C (1998) The DrrC protein of Streptomyces peucetius, a UvrA-like protein, is a DNA-binding protein whose gene is induced by daunorubicin.
  FEMS Microbiol Lett 168:243–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13280.x
- Gabizon A, Meshorer A, Barenholz Y (1986) Comparative Long-Term Study of the Toxicities of Free and Liposome-Associated Doxorubicin in Mice After Intravenous Administration2. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute 77:459–469. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/77.2.459
- Gabizon A, Peretz T, Sulkes A, et al (1989) Systemic administration of doxorubicincontaining liposomes in cancer patients: a phase I study. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 25:1795–1803. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5379(89)90350-7

- Gallo MA, Wardlt J, Hutchinson'# CR (1996) The dnrM gene in Streptomyces peucetius contains a naturally occurring frameshift mutation that is suppressed by another locus outside of the daunorubicin-production gene cluster
- Gaurav A, Bakht P, Saini M, et al (2023) Role of bacterial efflux pumps in antibiotic resistance, virulence, and strategies to discover novel efflux pump inhibitors. Microbiology (United Kingdom) 169
- Gosálvez M, Blanco MF, Vivero C, Vallés F (1978) Quelamycin, a new derivative of adriamycin with several possible therapeutic advantages. European Journal of Cancer (1965) 14:1185–1190. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2964(78)90224-4
- Graf E, Eaton JW (1990) Antioxidant functions of phytic acid. Free Radic Biol Med 8:61– 69. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(90)90146-A
- Grimm A, Madduri K, Ali A, Hutchinson CR (1994) Characterization of the Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 29050 genes encoding doxorubicin polyketide synthase. Gene 151:1– 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(94)90625-4
- Guilfoile PG, Hutchinson CR (1991) A bacterial analog of the mdr gene of mammalian tumor cells is present in Streptomyces peucetius, the producer of daunorubicin and doxorubicin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 88:8553–8557. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.19.8553
- Gupta P, Zlatanova J, Tomschik M (2009) Nucleosome Assembly Depends on the Torsion in the DNA Molecule: A Magnetic Tweezers Study. Biophys J 97:3150–3157. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2009.09.032
- Gupta RK, Gangoliya SS, Singh NK (2015) Reduction of phytic acid and enhancement of bioavailable micronutrients in food grains. J Food Sci Technol 52:676–684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-013-0978-y
- Hamedi J, Malekzadeh F, Saghafi-nia AE (2004) Enhancing of erythromycin production by Saccharopolyspora erythraea with common and uncommon oils. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 31:447–456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-004-0166-1
- Han L, Jiaxiu W, Jianxin D, et al (2020) Enhanced Triacylglycerol Metabolism Contributes to Efficient Oil Utilization and High-Level Production of Salinomycin in Streptomyces albus ZD11. Appl Environ Microbiol 86:e00763-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00763-20
- Hegazy M, Ghaleb S, Das BB (2023) Diagnosis and Management of Cancer Treatment-Related Cardiac Dysfunction and Heart Failure in Children. Children 10:149. https://doi.org/10.3390/children10010149

- Hodgson DA (2000) Primary metabolism and its control in streptomycetes: A most unusual group of bacteria. In: Advances in Microbial Physiology. Academic Press, pp 47–238
- Hopwood DA (2007) How do antibiotic-producing bacteria ensure their self-resistance before antibiotic biosynthesis incapacitates them? Mol Microbiol 63:937–940. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05584.x
- Hopwood DA, Wright HM (1979) Factors Affecting Recombinant Frequency in Protoplast Fusions of Streptomyces coelicolor. J Gen Microbiol 111:137–143. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-137
- Hopwood DA, Wright HM (1981) Protoplast Fusion in Streptomyces: Fusions Involving Ultraviolet-irradiated Protoplasts. Microbiology (N Y) 126:21–27. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-126-1-21
- Hortobágyi GN (1997) Anthracyclines in the Treatment of Cancer. Drugs 54:1–7. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-199700544-00003
- Hosaka T, Ohnishi-Kameyama M, Muramatsu H, et al (2009) Antibacterial discovery in actinomycetes strains with mutations in RNA polymerase or ribosomal protein S12. Nat Biotechnol 27:462–464. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1538
- Hulst MB, Grocholski T, Neefjes JJC, et al (2022) Anthracyclines: biosynthesis, engineering and clinical applications. Nat Prod Rep 39:814–841. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1NP00059D
- Hurrell RF, Juillerat MA, Reddy MB, et al (1992) Soy protein, phytate, and iron absorption in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 56:573–578. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/56.3.573
- Hutchinson CR (1997) Biosynthetic Studies of Daunorubicin and Tetracenomycin C. Chem Rev 97:2525–2536. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr960022x
- Jacek L, N KW, M DAJ (2007) Distribution and Physiology of ABC-Type Transporters Contributing to Multidrug Resistance in Bacteria. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 71:463–476. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00001-07
- Julian D, Dorothy D (2010) Origins and Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 74:417–433. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00016-10
- Juliano RL, Stamp D (1978) Pharmacokinetics of liposome-encapsulated anti-tumor drugs: Studies with vinblastine, actinomycin D, cytosine arabinoside, and daunomycin. Biochem Pharmacol 27:21–27. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(78)90252-6

- Kaiserová H, Šimůnek T, Štěrba M, et al (2007) New iron chelators in anthracyclineinduced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Toxicol 7:145–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12012-007-0020-6
- Kandula SK, Terli R (2013) Production, purification and characterization of an antimicrobial compound from marine Streptomyces coeruleorubidus BTSS-301. J Pharm Res 7:397–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopr.2013.04.047
- Kantola J, Kunnari T, Hautala A, Hakala J, Ylihonko K, Mäntsälä P. (2000) Elucidation of anthracyclinone biosynthesis by stepwise cloning of genes for anthracyclines from three different Streptomyces spp. Microbiology (Reading) 146:155-163. doi: 10.1099/00221287-146-1-155
- Kato S, Burke PJ, Koch TH, Bierbaum VM (2001) Formaldehyde in Human Cancer Cells: Detection by Preconcentration-Chemical Ionization Mass Spectrometry. Anal Chem 73:2992–2997. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac001498q
- Kaur B, Kumar S, Kaushik BK (2022) Recent advancements in optical biosensors for cancer detection. Biosens Bioelectron 197
- Kaur P (1997) Expression and characterization of DrrA and DrrB proteins of Streptomyces peucetius in Escherichia coli: DrrA is an ATP binding protein. J Bacteriol 179:569– 575. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.3.569-575.1997
- Kaur P, Rao DK, Gandlur SM (2005) Biochemical Characterization of Domains in the Membrane Subunit DrrB That Interact with the ABC Subunit DrrA: Identification of a Conserved Motif. Biochemistry 44:2661–2670. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi048959c
- Kaur P, Russell J (1998) Biochemical Coupling between the DrrA and DrrB Proteins of the Doxorubicin Efflux Pump of <em>Streptomyces peucetius</em> \*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273:17933–17939. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.28.17933
- Kim HT, Choi UK, Ryu HS, Lee SJ, Kwon OS. (2011) Mobilization of storage proteins in soybean seed (Glycine max L.) during germination and seedling growth. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1814:1178-87.
- Kim Y, Roe JH, Park JH, Cho YJ, Lee KL. (2021) Regulation of iron homeostasis by peroxide-sensitive CatR, a Fur-family regulator in Streptomyces coelicolor. J Microbiol. 59:1083-1091. doi: 10.1007/s12275-021-1457-1.
- Krysenko S (2023) Impact of Nitrogen-Containing Compounds on Secondary Metabolism in Streptomyces spp.—A Source of Metabolic Engineering Strategies. SynBio 1:204– 225. https://doi.org/10.3390/synbio1030015

- Leimkühler S, Iobbi-Nivol Ch, (2016) Bacterial molybdoenzymes: old enzymes for new purposes, FEMS Microbiology Reviews 40:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuv043
- LeMaréchal P, Decottignies P, Marchand CH, Degrouard J, Jaillard D, Dulermo T, Froissard M, Smirnov A, Chapuis V, Virolle M. (2013) Comparative Proteomic Analysis of Streptomyces lividans Wild-Type and ppk Mutant Strains Reveals the Importance of Storage Lipids for Antibiotic Biosynthesis. Appl Environ Microbiol 79: 5907-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02280-13
- Li M, Zhang Z (2021) The snogI Gene is Necessary for the Proper Functioning of the Nogalamycin Biosynthesis Pathway. Indian J Microbiol 61:467–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-021-00941-7
- Li W, Rao DK, Kaur P (2013) Dual Role of the Metalloprotease FtsH in Biogenesis of the DrrAB Drug Transporter \*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 288:11854–11864. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.441915
- Li W, Sharma M, Kaur P (2014) The DrrAB Efflux System of Streptomyces peucetius Is a Multidrug Transporter of Broad Substrate Specificity\*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 289:12633–12646. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.536136
- Lomovskaya N, Hong SK, Kim SU, et al (1996) The Streptomyces peucetius drrC gene encodes a UvrA-like protein involved in daunorubicin resistance and production. J Bacteriol 178:3238–3245. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.11.3238-3245.1996
- Lynch SR, Dassenko SA, Cook JD, Juillerat MA, Hurrell RF (1994) Inhibitory Effect of a Soybean-Protein-Related Moiety on Iron Absorption in Humans. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 60:567–572. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/60.4.567 105
- Lyu YL, Kerrigan JE, Lin C-P, et al (2007) Topoisomerase IIβ–Mediated DNA Double-Strand Breaks: Implications in Doxorubicin Cardiotoxicity and Prevention by Dexrazoxane. Cancer Res 67:8839–8846. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1649
- Madduri K, Hutchinson CR (1995) Functional characterization and transcriptional analysis of the dnrR1 locus, which controls daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius. J Bacteriol 177:1208–1215. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.5.1208-1215.1995

- Mahaseth T, Kuzminov A. (2017) Potentiation of hydrogen peroxide toxicity: From catalase inhibition to stable DNA-iron complexes. Mutat Res Rev Mutat Res. 773:274-281. doi: 10.1016/j.mrrev.2016.08.006. Epub 2016 Aug 30.
- Mak S, Xu Y, Nodwell JR (2014) The expression of antibiotic resistance genes in antibioticproducing bacteria. Mol Microbiol 93:391–402. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12689
- Malik N, Simarani K, Aziz MA. (2022). Soybean as an alternative nutrient medium for Bacillus subtilis growth. Malaysian Applied Biology 51:67-74. 10.55230/mabjournal.v51i4.12.
- Malla S, Niraula NP, Liou K, Sohng JK (2010) Improvement in doxorubicin productivity by overexpression of regulatory genes in Streptomyces peucetius. Res Microbiol 161:109–117. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.12.003
- Mancy D., Florent J., Preud'homme J. (1975) Process for the preparation of daunorubicin.US Pat. 3875010.
- Martelin E, Lapatto R, Raivio KO. (2002) Regulation of xanthine oxidoreductase by intracellular iron. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 283:C1722-8. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00280.2002
- Martín JF (2004) Phosphate Control of the Biosynthesis of Antibiotics and Other Secondary Metabolites Is Mediated by the PhoR-PhoP System: an Unfinished Story. J Bacteriol 186:5197–5201. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.186.16.5197-5201.2004
- Martín JF, Liras P (2020) The Balance Metabolism Safety Net: Integration of Stress Signals by Interacting Transcriptional Factors in Streptomyces and Related Actinobacteria. Front Microbiol 10:
- Martín-Sánchez L, Singh KS, Avalos M, et al (2019) Phylogenomic analyses and distribution of terpene synthases among Streptomyces. Beilstein Journal of Organic Chemistry 15:1181–1193. https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc.15.115
- Martins-Teixeira MB, Carvalho I (2020) Antitumour Anthracyclines: Progress and Perspectives. ChemMedChem 15:933–948. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cmdc.202000131
- Mattioli R, Ilari A, Colotti B, et al (2023) Doxorubicin and other anthracyclines in cancers: Activity, chemoresistance and its overcoming. Mol Aspects Med 93:101205. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2023.101205
- Matyszewska D (2020) The influence of charge and lipophilicity of daunorubicin and idarubicin on their penetration of model biological membranes Langmuir monolayer

and electrochemical studies. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes 1862:183104. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2019.183104

- Matzanke BF, Bill E, Butzlaff C, (1992) Evidence for polynuclear aggregates of ferric duanomycin. Eur J Biochem 207:747–755.
- McGowan J v., Chung R, Maulik A, et al (2017) Anthracycline Chemotherapy and Cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 31:63–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10557-016-6711-0
- McMurry LM, Oethinger M, Levy SB (1998) Triclosan targets lipid synthesis. Nature 394:531–532. https://doi.org/10.1038/28970
- Méndez C, Salas JA (2001) The role of ABC transporters in antibiotic-producing organisms: drug secretion and resistance mechanisms. Res Microbiol 152:341–350. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0923-2508(01)01205-0
- Méndez C, Salas JA (2005) Engineering Glycosylation in Bioactive Compounds by Combinatorial Biosynthesis. In: Wohlleben W, Spellig T, Müller-Tiemann B (eds) Biocombinatorial Approaches for Drug Finding. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 127–146
- Metsä-Ketelä M, Niemi J, Mäntsälä P, Schneider G (2008) Anthracycline Biosynthesis: Genes, Enzymes and Mechanisms. In: Krohn K (ed) Anthracycline Chemistry and Biology I: Biological Occurence and Biosynthesis, Synthesis and Chemistry. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 101–140
- Minihane A., Rimbach G. (2002) Iron absorption and the iron binding and anti-oxidant properties of phytic acid. International Journal of Food Science & Technology 37: 741
   748. 10.1046/j.1365-2621.2002.00619.x
- Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, et al (2004) Anthracyclines: Molecular advances and pharmacologie developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev 56:185–229
- Murabito A, Russo M, Ghigo A (2023) Mitochondrial intoxication by anthracyclines. In: Mitochondrial Intoxication. Elsevier, pp 299–321
- Murray IA, Shaw W V (1997) MINIREVIEW O-Acetyltransferases for Chloramphenicol and Other Natural Products
- Mussi S V, Sawant R, Perche F, et al (2014) Novel Nanostructured Lipid Carrier Co-Loaded with Doxorubicin and Docosahexaenoic Acid Demonstrates Enhanced in Vitro Activity and Overcomes Drug Resistance in MCF-7/Adr Cells. Pharm Res 31:1882– 1892. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-013-1290-2

- Nielsen J (1998) The role of metabolic engineering in the production of secondary metabolites. Curr Opin Microbiol 1:330–336. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5274(98)80037-4
- Nitiss JL (2009) DNA topoisomerase II and its growing repertoire of biological functions. Nat Rev Cancer 9:327–337. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2608
- Norimasa T, Takeshi H, Jun X, et al (2003) Innovative Approach for Improvement of an Antibiotic-Overproducing Industrial Strain of Streptomyces albus. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:6412–6417. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.11.6412-6417.2003
- Nunn CM, Van Meervelt L, Zhang S, et al (1991) DNA-drug interactions: The crystal structures of d(TGTACA) and d(TGATCA) complexed with daunomycin. J Mol Biol 222:167–177. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(91)90203-I
- O'Hara K, Kanda T, Ohmiya K, et al (1989) Purification and characterization of macrolide 2'-phosphotransferase from a strain of Escherichia coli that is highly resistant to erythromycin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 33:1354–1357. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.33.8.1354
- Ohe T., Watanabe Y. (1979) Purification and Properties of Xanthine Dehydrogenase from Streptomyces cyanogenus. The Journal of Biochemistry 86:45-53.
- Ohnuki T, Imanaka T, Aiba S (1985) Self-cloning in Streptomyces griseus of an str gene cluster for streptomycin biosynthesis and streptomycin resistance. J Bacteriol 164:85– 94. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.164.1.85-94.1985
- Oki T, Matsuzawa Y, Kiyoshima K, et al NEW ANTHRACYCLINES, FEUDOMYCINS, PRODUCED BY THE MUTANT FROM STREPTOMYCES COERULEORUBIDUS ME130-A4
- Olano C, Lombó F, Méndez C, Salas JA (2008) Improving production of bioactive secondary metabolites in actinomycetes by metabolic engineering. Metab Eng 10:281– 292. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2008.07.001
- Otten SL, Gallo MA, Madduri K, et al (1997) Cloning and characterization of the Streptomyces peucetius dnmZUV genes encoding three enzymes required for biosynthesis of the daunorubicin precursor thymidine diphospho-L-daunosamine. J Bacteriol 179:4446–4450. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.13.4446-4450.1997
- Pang B, de Jong J, Qiao X, et al (2015) Chemical profiling of the genome with anti-cancer drugs defines target specificities. Nat Chem Biol 11:472–480. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1811

- Parajuli N, Basnet DB, Chan Lee H, et al (2004) Genome analyses of Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 27952 for the identification and comparison of cytochrome P450 complement with other Streptomyces. Arch Biochem Biophys 425:233–241. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2004.03.011
- Perlman D, Wagman GH. (1952) Studies on the utilization of lipids by Streptomyces griseus. J Bacteriol. 63:253-62.
- Piddock LJV (2006) Clinically Relevant Chromosomally Encoded Multidrug Resistance Efflux Pumps in Bacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev 19:382–402. https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.19.2.382-402.2006
- Piel J. (2006) Bacterial Symbionts: Prospects for the Sustainable Production of Invertebrate-Derived Pharmaceuticals. Current Medicinal Chemistry 13:39-50. doi: 10.2174/092986706775197944
- Pudhuvai B, Koul B, Das R, Shah MP (2024) Nano-Fertilizers (NFs) for Resurgence in Nutrient Use Efficiency (NUE): a Sustainable Agricultural Strategy. Curr Pollut Rep 11:1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-024-00331-9
- Ribeiro JA, Silva F, Pereira CM (2013) Electrochemical Study of the Anticancer Drug Daunorubicin at a Water/Oil Interface: Drug Lipophilicity and Quantification. Anal Chem 85:1582–1590. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac3028245
- Rivera M. (2017) Bacterioferritin: Structure, Dynamics, and Protein-Protein Interactions at Play in Iron Storage and Mobilization. Acc Chem Res. 50:331-340. doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.6b00514. Epub 2017 Feb 8.
- Rodrigues da Silva GH, de Moura LD, de Carvalho FV, et al (2021) Antineoplastics encapsulated in nanostructured lipid carriers. Molecules 26
- Rokem JS, Lantz AE, Nielsen J (2007) Systems biology of antibiotic production by microorganisms. Nat Prod Rep 24:1262–1287. https://doi.org/10.1039/B617765B
- Romero-Rodríguez A, Maldonado-Carmona N, Ruiz-Villafán B, et al (2018) Interplay between carbon, nitrogen and phosphate utilization in the control of secondary metabolite production in Streptomyces. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 111:761–781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-018-1073-1
- Romero-Rodríguez A, Rocha D, Ruiz-Villafán B, et al (2017) Carbon catabolite regulation in Streptomyces: new insights and lessons learned. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 33:162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-017-2328-0

- Ruiz B, Chávez A, Forero A, et al (2010) Production of microbial secondary metabolites:
  Regulation by the carbon source. Crit Rev Microbiol 36:146–167. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408410903489576
- Sánchez S, Chávez A, Forero A, et al (2010) Carbon source regulation of antibiotic production. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 63:442–459. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2010.78
- Sarkar G, Suthindhiran K (2022) Diversity and Biotechnological Potential of Marine Actinomycetes from India. Indian J Microbiol 62:475–493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-022-01024-x
- Schnepf MI. (1984) A Study of Iron Binding by Soy Protein. ETD collection for University of Nebraska-Lincoln. AAI8423827.
- Scotti C, Hutchinson CR (1996) Enhanced antibiotic production by manipulation of the Streptomyces peucetius dnrH and dnmT genes involved in doxorubicin (adriamycin) biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 178:7316–7321. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.24.7316-7321.1996
- Seke M, Petrovic D, Labudovic Borovic M, et al (2019) Fullerenol/iron nanocomposite diminishes doxorubicin-induced toxicity. Journal of Nanoparticle Research 21:239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-019-4681-4
- Shapiro CL, Recht A (2001) Side Effects of Adjuvant Treatment of Breast Cancer. NewEnglandJournalofMedicine344:1997–2008.https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200106283442607
- Shrestha B, Pokhrel AR, Darsandhari S, et al (2019) Engineering Streptomyces peucetius for Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin Biosynthesis. In: Arora D, Sharma C, Jaglan S, Lichtfouse E (eds) Pharmaceuticals from Microbes: The Bioengineering Perspective. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 191–209
- Singh J, Dutta T, Kim K-H, et al (2018) 'Green' synthesis of metals and their oxide nanoparticles: applications for environmental remediation. J Nanobiotechnology 16:84. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0408-4
- Sirivech S, Driskell J, Frieden E. (1977) NADH-FMN oxidoreductase activity and iron content of organs from riboflavin and iron-deficient rats. J Nutr. 107:739-45. doi: 10.1093/jn/107.5.739
- Spencer DMS, Bilardi RA, Koch TH, et al (2008) DNA repair in response to anthracycline– DNA adducts: A role for both homologous recombination and nucleotide excision repair. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 638:110–121. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2007.09.005

- Srinivasan P, Palani SN, Prasad R (2010) Daunorubicin efflux in Streptomyces peucetius modulates biosynthesis by feedback regulation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 305:18–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01905.x
- Sui X, Chen R, Wang Z, et al (2013) Autophagy and chemotherapy resistance: A promising therapeutic target for cancer treatment. Cell Death Dis 4
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al (2021) Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 71:209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- Swain SM, Whaley FS, Ewer MS (2003) Congestive heart failure in patients treated with doxorubicin. Cancer 97:2869–2879. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11407
- Swift LP, Rephaeli A, Nudelman A, et al (2006) Doxorubicin-DNA Adducts Induce a Non-Topoisomerase II–Mediated Form of Cell Death. Cancer Res 66:4863–4871. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3410
- Taatjes DJ, Gaudiano G, Resing K, Koch TH (1997) Redox Pathway Leading to the Alkylation of DNA by the Anthracycline, Antitumor Drugs Adriamycin and Daunomycin. J Med Chem 40:1276–1286. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm960835d
- Tanaka Y, Hosaka T, Ochi K (2010) Rare earth elements activate the secondary metabolite– biosynthetic gene clusters in Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2). J Antibiot (Tokyo) 63:477–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2010.53
- Tanaka Y, Izawa M, Hiraga Y, et al (2017) Metabolic perturbation to enhance polyketide and nonribosomal peptide antibiotic production using triclosan and ribosome-targeting drugs. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101:4417–4431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8216-6
- Thirumaran R, Prendergast GC, Gilman PB (2007) Chapter 7 Cytotoxic Chemotherapy in Clinical Treatment of Cancer. In: Prendergast GC, Jaffee EM (eds) Cancer Immunotherapy. Academic Press, Burlington, pp 101–116
- Thomas C, Tampé R (2024) Annual Review of Biochemistry Structural and Mechanistic Principles of ABC Transporters. 22:18. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-011520
- Thomas GJ (1990) Synthesis of Anthracyclines Related to Daunomycin. In: Lukacs G, Ohno M (eds) Recent Progress in the Chemical Synthesis of Antibiotics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 467–496

- Tiffert Y, Franz-Wachtel M, Fladerer C, et al (2011) Proteomic analysis of the GlnRmediated response to nitrogen limitation in Streptomyces coelicolor M145. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89:1149–1159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3086-9
- Toone EJ (2006) Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology, Protein Evolution (Volume 75 ed.). Wiley-Interscience. ISBN 0471205036.
- Tsylents U, Burmistrz M, Wojciechowska M, Stępień J, Maj P and Trylska J (2024) Iron uptake pathway of Escherichia coli as an entry route for peptide nucleic acids conjugated with a siderophore mimic. Front. Microbiol. 15:1331021.
- van der Zanden SY, Qiao X, Neefjes J (2021) New insights into the activities and toxicities of the old anticancer drug doxorubicin. FEBS J 288:6095–6111. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15583
- Van Moll L, De Smet J, Cos P, Van Campenhout L (2021) Microbial symbionts of insects as a source of new antimicrobials: a review. Crit Rev Microbiol 47:562–579. https://doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2021.1907302
- van Wezel GP, McDowall KJ (2011) The regulation of the secondary metabolism of Streptomyces: new links and experimental advances. Nat Prod Rep 28:1311–1333. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1NP00003A
- Vasanthakumar A, Kattusamy K, Prasad R (2013) Regulation of daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius – feed forward and feedback transcriptional control. J Basic Microbiol 53:636–644. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200302
- Von Hoff DD, Rozencweig M, Layard M, et al (1977) Daunomycin-induced cardiotoxicity in children and adults: A review of 110 cases. Am J Med 62:200–208. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(77)90315-1
- Walczak RJ, Dickens ML, Priestley ND, Strohl WR (1999) Purification, Properties, and Characterization of Recombinant Streptomyces sp. Strain C5 DoxA, a Cytochrome P-450 Catalyzing Multiple Steps in Doxorubicin Biosynthesis
- Wang J, Liu H, Huang D, et al (2017) Comparative proteomic and metabolomic analysis of Streptomyces tsukubaensis reveals the metabolic mechanism of FK506 overproduction by feeding soybean oil. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101:2447–2465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8136-5
- Wang X, Tian X, Wu Y, et al (2018) Enhanced doxorubicin production by Streptomyces peucetius using a combination of classical strain mutation and medium optimization.
   Prep Biochem Biotechnol 48:514–521. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826068.2018.1466156

- Webber MA, Piddock LJ V (2003) The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 51:9–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkg050
- Weiss RB (1992) The anthracyclines: will we ever find a better doxorubicin? Semin Oncol 19:670–686
- Westman EL, Canova MJ, Radhi IJ, et al (2012) Bacterial Inactivation of the Anticancer Drug Doxorubicin. Chem Biol 19:1255–1264. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.08.011
- Wohlert S-E, Lomovskaya N, Kulowski K, et al (2001) Insights about the biosynthesis of the avermectin deoxysugar <span class="small">L</span>-oleandrose through heterologous expression of <em>Streptomyces avermitilis</em> deoxysugar genes in <em>Streptomyces lividans</em>. Chem Biol 8:681–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-5521(01)00043-6
- Wu S, Luo Y, Viswanathan U, et al (2018) CpAMs induce assembly of HBV capsids with altered electrophoresis mobility: Implications for mechanism of inhibiting pgRNA packaging. Antiviral Res 159:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.09.001
- Xiao M, Cai J, Cai L, et al (2017) Let-7e sensitizes epithelial ovarian cancer to cisplatin through repressing DNA double strand break repair. J Ovarian Res 10:. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13048-017-0321-8
- Xu X, Persson HL, Richardson DR (2005) Molecular Pharmacology of the Interaction of Anthracyclines with Iron. Mol Pharmacol 68:261. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.105.013383
- Yang, R., Zhu, L., Meng, D., Wang, Q., Zhou, K., Wang, Z., Zhou, Z. (2021) Proteins from leguminous plants: from structure, property to the function in encapsulation/binding and delivery of bioactive compounds. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 62:5203–5223. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2021.1883545.
- Yaqing C, Renjun Y, Mengya L, et al (2018) IdeR, a DtxR Family Iron Response Regulator, Controls Iron Homeostasis, Morphological Differentiation, Secondary Metabolism, and the Oxidative Stress Response in Streptomyces avermitilis. Appl Environ Microbiol 84:e01503-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01503-18
- Youn HD, Kim EJ, Roe JH, Hah YC, Kang SO. (1996) A novel nickel-containing superoxide dismutase from Streptomyces spp. Biochem J. 318:889-96. doi: 10.1042/bj3180889

- Young T, Li Y, Efthimiou G (2020) Olive Pomace Oil can be Used as an Alternative Carbon Source for Clavulanic Acid Production by Streptomyces clavuligerus. Waste Biomass Valorization 11:3965–3970. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-019-00719-5
- Yuan T, Yin C, Zhu C, et al (2011) Improvement of antibiotic productivity by knock-out of dauW in Streptomyces coeruleobidus. Microbiol Res 166:539–547. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.10.006
- Yukinori T, Ken K, Yutaka H, et al (2013) Activation and Products of the Cryptic Secondary Metabolite Biosynthetic Gene Clusters by Rifampin Resistance (rpoB) Mutations in Actinomycetes. J Bacteriol 195:2959–2970. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.00147-13
- Zack KM, Sorenson T, Joshi SG (2024) Types and Mechanisms of Efflux Pump Systems and the Potential of Efflux Pump Inhibitors in the Restoration of Antimicrobial Susceptibility, with a Special Reference to Acinetobacter baumannii. Pathogens 13
- Zhang H, Lu D, Li X, et al (2018) Heavy ion mutagenesis combined with triclosan screening provides a new strategy for improving the arachidonic acid yield in Mortierella alpina. BMC Biotechnol 18:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-018-0437-y
- Zhang MN, Huang GR, Jiang JX. (2014) Iron binding capacity of dephytinised soy protein isolate hydrolysate as influenced by the degree of hydrolysis and enzyme type. J Food Sci Technol. 51:994-9.
- Zhang S, Liu X, Bawa-Khalfe T, et al (2012) Identification of the molecular basis of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Nat Med 18:1639–1642. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2919
- Zhu H, Sandiford SK, van Wezel GP (2014) Triggers and cues that activate antibiotic production by actinomycetes. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 41:371–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-013-1309-z
- Zweier JL, Gianni L, Muindi J, Myers CE (1986) Differences in O2 reduction by the iron complexes of adriamycin and daunomycin: the importance of the sidechain hydroxyl group. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects 884:326–336. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4165(86)90181-9